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In re Honda American Motor Co., Inz. Dealership 
Relations Litigation 
D.Md..1996. 

United States District Court,D. Maryland. 
In re HONDA AMERICAN MOTOR CO., INC. 

DEALERSHIP RELATIONS LITIGATION. 
MDL 95-1069. 

Aug. 30, 1996 

In action involving automobile dealership relations. 
Japanese automobile manufacturer moved to quash 
notices of deposition naming Japanese nationals as 
deponents and requested protective order. The Dis- 
trict Court. Mot!, Chief Judge, held that: ( I )  com- 
pelling depositions of Japanese nationals in United 
States did not violate Japanese sovereignty; (2) 
general manager of public relations of manufacturer 
was managing agent of corporation; but (3) former 
president of American division of foreign manufac- 
turer was not managing agent of corporation. 

Motion panted in part and denied in part 

West Headnotes 

[I] International Law 221 -10.1 

22 1 International Law 
221kl0.1 k. Public Policv and Comitv in Gener- 

al. Most Cited Cases 
"International comity" in legal sense, is neither 
matter of absolute obligation. on the one hand, nor 
of mere courtesy and good will, upon the other. but 
it is recognition which one nation allows within its 
territory to legislative, executive, or judicial acts of 
another nation, having due regard both to interna- 
tional duty and convenience, and to rights of its 
own citizens or of other persons who are under pro- 
tection of its laws. 

121 International Law 221 -10.1 

22 1 International Law 
221k10.1 k. Public Policy and Comity in Gener- 

al. Most Cited Cases 
If foreign sovereignty is in fact implicated in given 
case, comity analysis requires balancing of compet- 
ing interests between sovereigns and parties in- 
volved. 

131 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1323.1 

170.4 Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1323.1 k. In General. Most 

Cited Cases 

International Law 221 -10.1 

221 International Law 
221k10.1 k. Public Policy and Comity in Gener- 

al. Most Cited Cases 
Compelling depositions of Japanese auromohile 
manuftdcturer's managing agents, who were Japan- 
ese nationals, in United States did not infringe on 
Japanese judicial sovereignty, as would invoke bal- 
ancing of competing interests between sovereigns 
and parties involved. 

141 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1269.1 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(A) In General 
1704k1269 Grounds and Ohjections 

170Akl269.1 k. In General. Most 
Cited Cases 

Inteniationaf Law 221 -10.1 

221 lnternational Law 
221 k10.1 k. Public Policy and Comity in Gener- 
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al. Most Cited Cases 
Comity concerns arise when discovery request re- 
quires foreign national to violate his or her coun- 
try's own lawb. 

[5] Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1269.1 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(A) In General 
170Ak1269 Grounds and Objections 

170Ak1269.1 k. In General. Most 
Cited Cases 

International Law 221 -10.1 

221 International Law 
221k10.1 k. Public Policy and Comity in Genei- 

al. Most Cited Cases 
an na- While "blocking statutes" prohibiting forei, 

tionals from complying with American discovery 
requests may implicate foreign sovereignty con- 
cerns, these laws are insufficient in and of them- 
selves for district court to restrain its power to com- 
pel discovery under comity analysis. 

f61 Federal Civil Procedure 170.4 -1323.1 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AXiC) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170.4X(C) 1 In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1323.1 k, In General. Most 

Cited Cases 

International Law 221 -10.1 

221 International Law 
221k10.1 k. Public Policy and Comity in Gener- 

al. Most Cited Cases 
Fact that named deponents whose depositions were 
sought in United States were Japanese nationals did 
not raise, without more. Japanese sovereignty con- 
cerns requiring full comity analysis. 

[7] Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1383 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C)3 Examination in General 
170Ak1383 k. Time and Place of Ex- 

amination. Most Cited Cases 
Even if compelling depositions of Japanese auto- 
mobile manufacturer's managing agents. who were 
Japanese nationals, raised Jiapanese sovereignty 
concerns requiring full comity analysis, depositions 
could be conducted in United States, where depon- 
ents had conducted extensive business in United 
States for number of years, and sovereignty con- 
cerns of United States were clearly implicated in 
litigation and would be severely infringed if Japan- 
ese officials were allowed to conduct pretrial ques- 
tioning of named deponents under Japanese proced- 
ure. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Ruie 30(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A. 

181 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1324 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C)1 In General 
170Akl323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1324 k. Parties. Most Cited 

Cases 
Only party to litigation may be compelled to give 
testimony pursuant to notice of deposition. 

[91 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil hocedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

L70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C)l In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. ORicers and Em- 
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ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Determining whether individual qualifies as man- 
aging agent who may speak on behalf of corpora- 
tion at deposition must be made at time of depos- 
ition. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 30(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[I01 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170h Federal Civil Procedure 
I70AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
While burden of proving that individual qualifies as 
managing agent who may speak on behalf of cor- 
poration at deposition rests on party seeking dis- 
covery, doubt about individual's status as managing 
agent, at pretrial discovery stage, is resolved in fa- 
vor of examining party. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 
30(h)(6), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[ll] Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
If examining party fails to meet burden of proving 
that individual it has designated to speak on behalf 
of corporation qualifies as managing agent of cor- 
poration, it must subpoena individual. FedRules 
Civ.Proc.Rules 30(b)(6), 45.28 U.S.C.A. 

1121 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1323 

17014 Federal Civil Procedure 

170AX Depositions and Discovery 
170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 

Pending Action 
170AX(C) 1 In General 

170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 
itions May Be Taken 

170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 
ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Test for determining whether individual qualifies as 
managing agent who may speak on behalf of cor- 
poration at deposition is functional one, made on 
case-by-case basis. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 
30(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[I31 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
I70AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Factors to consider in deciding whether individual 
is managing agent who may speak on behalf of cor- 
poration at deposition include: whether corporation 
has invested person with discretion to exercise his 
judgment, whether employee can be depended upon 
to carry out employer's directions. whether indi- 
vidual can be expected to identify him or herself 
with interests of corporation as opposed to interests 
of adverse party, degree of supervisory authority 
which person is subject to in given area, and gener- 
al responsibilities of individual regarding matters at 
issue in litigation. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 
30(b)(6), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[I41 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C) I In General 
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170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 
itions May Be Taken 

170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 
ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
General manager of public relations of Japanese 
corporation was "managing agent" who could be 
designated to speak on behalf of corporation at de- 
position; manager continued to maintain identity of 
interest with corporation, he had previously held 
senior management positions at corporation, he 
could be depended upon to carry out his employer's 
direction to give testimony, and he had been im- 
bued with trust. Fed.Rnles Civ.Proc.Rule 30(b)(6), 
28 U.S.C.A. 

[I51 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

l70A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

l70AX(C)I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Generally, former employees cannot be managing 
agents who may speak on behalf of corporation at 
deposition. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 30(b)(6), 28 
U.S.C.A. 

[I61 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) 1 In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Examining party may designate former employee of 
corporation as managing agent who may speak on 
behalf of corporation at deposition when corpora- 
tion terminates managing agent in attempt to avoid 

disclosure in pending or potential litigation. when 
there is evidence that managing agent has been or 
might be reappointed to another position in corpor- 
ation, or when former employee still has ultimate 
control with ability to utilize entity's organs of 
communication. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 30(h)i6). 
28 U.S.C.A. 

1171 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AXiC) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) I In General 
l70Ak 1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Akl325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations, Most Cited Cases 
Former president of American division of Japanese 
corporation was not "managing agent" of corpora- 
tion and could not be designated to speak on behalf 
of corporation at deposition. where former presid- 
ent had retired and no longer played any role in the 
corporation. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 30(b)(6), 28 
U.S.C.A. 

5 3 7  Richard B. McNamara, Wiggin & Nourie, 
Manchester, NH, William A. Kershaw, Kronick, 
Moskovitz, Tiedemann & Gerard. Sacramento, CA, 
Robert B. Green, Baltimore. MD. James Ulwick, 
Kramon & Graham, Baltimore, MD. 
Robert A. Van Nest, Keker & Van Nest, San Fran- 
cisco, CA. 
Jeremiah T. O'Sullivan, Choate, Hall & Stewart. 
Boston, MA. 
Harvey G. Sanders and Tammy McKnew; Leaiher- 
wood, Walker, Todd & Mann, P.C., Greenville, SC. 
Michael M. Baylson, Duane, Morris & Heckscher, 
Philadelphia, PA. 
Norman C. Hile, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe. 
Sacramento, CA. 
Christopher J. Hunt, Bartko. Zankel. Tarrant & 
Miller. San Francisco. CA. 
Lawrence Silver, Lawrence Silver & Associates. 
Long Beach, CA 
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Andrew W. Stroud, Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe; 
Sacramento, CA. 
Mark P. Rapazzini, Rapazzini & Graham. San Fran- 
cisco, CA. 
Daniel G. Clodfelter, Moore & Van Allen. Char- 
lotte. KC. 
Price 0. Gielen, Neuberger, Quinn, Gielen, Rubin 
& Gibber, P.A., Baltimore. MD. 
Thomas X. Glancy. Jr., Gordon, Feinblatt, Roth- 
man, Hoftoerger & Hollander. LLC, Baltimore, MD. 

OPINION 

MOTZ, Chief Judge. 
Plaintiffs have served notices of deposition on 
Honda Motor Co.. Ltd. ("Honda Japan"), pursuant 
to Fed.R.Civ.P. 30(b)(6), naming four individuals. 
Tetsuo Chino, Takeo Okusa, Yoshide Munekuni 
and Michiaki Shinkai, as deponents. Honda Japan 
has moved to quash these notices and requests a 
protective order pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(c). It 
makes essentially two arguments in support of its 
motion. First, assuming that the named individuals 
are "directors, officers or managing agents" of 
Honda Japan (thus resulting in Honda Motor's de- 
position "through them), principles of internation- 
al comity require this Court, in its discretion, to rule 
that any depositions of the named deponents should 
be conducted in Japan pursuant to Japanese proced- 
ural rules. Second, two of the named deponents, 
Okusa and Chino, are not "managing agents" of 
Honda. For the following reasons, the motion will 
be granted in part and denied in part. 

The notices state that the depositions are to take 
place in Baltimore, Maryland. Honda Japan argues 
that the depositions of the four named individuals 
should be taken, if at all, in Japan pursuant to Ja- 
panese discovery rules and procedures. The basis 
for this conclusion rests on notions of international 
comity; according to Honda, subjecting Japanese 
nationals who reside in Japan to American-style 

discovery procedures, and requiring them to travel 
to the United States in order to give depositions, 
would be an affront to Japanese sovereignty .sN' 

FNI. Honda Japan has argued that I should 
at least stay the depositions until I have 
ruled on Honda's motion to dismiss. This 
argument is mooted in light of the fact that 
today I am issuing a separate opinion in 
which I hold that Honda Japan is a proper 
defendant (although requiring plaintiffs Lo 
replead their allegations against Honda Ja- 
pan on technical grounds). 

[1][2] International comity refers to the spirit of co- 
operation in which a domestic tribunal decides 
cases touching on the interests of other sovereign 
states. Societe Nationale Industrielle Aero.spatirile 
v. U.S. Dist. Court. 482 U.S. 522; 543 n. 27. 107 
S.Ct. 2542, 2555 n. 27, 96 L.Ed.2d 461 (1987). " 

'Comity,' in the legal sense, is neither a matter of 
absolute obligation, on the one hand, nor of mere 
courtesy and good will, upon the other. But it is the 
recognition which one nation allows within its ter- 
ritory to the legislative, executive or judicial acts of 
another nation, having due regard both to iinerna- 
tional duty and convenience, and to the rights of its 
own citizens or of other persons who are under the 
protection of its laws." Hilton v Guyot, 159 U.S. 
113, 163-64, 16 S.Ct. 139. 143, 40 L.Ed. 95 (1895). 
If foreign sovereignty is in fact implicated in a giv- 
en case, comity analysis requires the balancing of 
competing interests between the sovereigns and the 
parties involved. First Not7 Bank of Cicero v. Rein- 
hart VerrriebS AG, 116 F.R.D. 8. 9 (N.D.Il1.1986). 

[3] In contending that substantial Japanese sover- 
eignty issues are raised, Honda Japan points out 
that Japan generally disdains the United States' sys- 
tem of open discovery*538 and compulsory depos- 
itions. As evidence, Honda refers to the Japanese 
system which requires judicial officers to conduct 
pre-trial questioning of witnesses. Id. It also notes 
that Japan has refused to sign the Hague Conven- 
tion on the Taking of Evidence Abroad in Civil or 
Commercial Matters. 23 U.S.T. 2555, and has re- 
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stricted discovery within its territory pursuant to the 
Consular Convention and Protocol, 15 T.I.A.S. 768, 
795, to volirntary depositions only. Second, Honda 
asserts that Japanese nationals would consider a 
compulsory deposition in the United States deeply 
offensive and embarrassing, and a violation of their 
cultural and social norms. See Konaka Decl. 'j 7. 

[4][5l While these allegations might demonstrate 
Japan's animosity towards common law discovery. 
they are insufficient for me to conclude that com- 
pulsory depositions of Japanese nationals; taking 
place in the United States, violates Japanese sover- 
eignty. Discovery requests implicate foreign sover- 
eignty only in certain contexts. For instance, if a 
federal court compels discovery on foreign soil, 
foreign judicial sovereigxy may be infringed. but 
when depositions of foreign nationals are taken on 
American or neutral soil, courts have concluded 
that comity concerns are not implicated. See In re 
Anschuetz & Co., 754 F.2d 602, 608 n. 13 (5th 
Cir.1985) (court had personal jurisdiction over Ger- 
man corporation and its managing agents; "where 
the district court's order is an order that 
[depositions\ will be compelled only in the United 
States, there can be no invasion of German sover- 
eignty"), vacared.483 U.S. 1002, 107 S.Ct. 3223. 
97 L.Ed.2d 730 (1987): Work 1,. Bier, 106 F.R.D. 
35. 51 (D.D.C.1985) ("If [foreign nationals] are 
subject to the court's jurisdiction, ... then the court 
may order that they be produced for deposition: vi- 
olation of the other country's judicial sovereignty is 
avoided by ordering that the deposition take place 
outside the country.") (internal quotations omitted); 
Sluuenivhite ir Bekunl Maschinenfabriken. GnibH, 
C., 104 F.R.D. 616, 618 (D.Mass.1985) ("The 
[taking of depositions in New York City of foreign 
nationalsj does not involve any ... intrusion on 
French sovereignty or judicial custom. No adverse 
party will enter on French soil to gather evidence.") 
(internal quotations omitted), vacated,4X3 U.S. 
1002, 107 S.Ct. 3223, 97 L.Ed.2d 730 (1987); First 
Natl Bank of' Cicero, 116 F.R.D. at 9 ("[Allthough 
defendant would presumably compile the docu- 
ments in Switzerland, the actual discovery process 

could be performed outside Swiss territory. Any in- 
trusion on Swiss sovereignty will thereby be re- 
stricted."). Cornpelling the depositions of Honda 
Japan managing agents and Japanese nationals in 
Baltimore, Maryland, does not. in itself, infrin, ~e on 
Japanese judicial sovereignty .'"' 

FN2. Comity concerns also arise when a 
discovery request requires a foreign na- 
tional to violate his or her country's own 
laws. See ger~erally Societe Nationale. 482 
U.S. at 544.45 n. 29, 107 S.Ct. at 2555-57 
n. 29. Many countries have passed so 
called "blocking statutes" in an attempt to 
prohibit its nationals from complying with 
American discovery requests, particularly 
in antitrust litigation. I see also An- 
schuetz, 754 F.2d at 613 n. 29. While such 
blocking statutes may implicate foreign 
sovereignty concerns. these laws are insuf- 
ficient in and of themselves for a district 
court to restrain its power to compel dis- 
covery under a comity analysis. See Soci- 
ete Nationale, 482 U.S. at 544-45 n. 29, 
107 S.Ct. at 2555-57 n. 29. Here, Honda 
makes no argument that any Japanese 
blocking statute exists prohibiting the 
named individuals from giving depositions 
in the United States. Japanese sovereignty 
is therefore not implicated in this way. 

16) Honda's proffer of Mr. Konaka's Declaration is 
likewise insufficient to demonstrate that the Japan- 
ese government would consider the taking of these 
depositions an affront to its sovereignty. While Mr. 
Konaka may have been a respected Japanese judge 
for the past 12 years, he does not speak on behalf of 
the Japanese government aq whole, or even the Ja- 
panese court system. The failure of the Japanese 
government to weigh in as arnicus curie on this 
matter is further evidence that its sovereignty is not 
implicated by taking depositions of the named indi- 
viduals who have done business in the United 
States for a number of years. See Slauen~vhiie, 104 
F.R.D. at 619. The fact that the named deponents 
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are Japanese nationals simply does not raise. 
without more. Japanese sovereignty concerns re- 
quiring a full comity analysis. See In re Messer- 
schrniti Bolko~, Blohm. 757 F.2d 729, 733 (5th 
Cir.1985) ("\A] district court order that [Japanese] 
nationals be produced for deposition in the United 
States might concern [Japan], but *539 it does not 
involve alien procedures on [Japanese] soil. is dir- 
ected to the party-defendant and not the foreign 
witnesses, and is enforceable only by procedures 
and sanctions directed to a party to the litigation in 
the forum court."), vacaied,483 U.S. 1002, 107 
S.Ct. 3223,97 L.Ed.2d 730 (1987). 

[7] Even if 1 were to conclude that Japanese sover- 
eignty interests were sufficiently strong to require 
me to apply a balancing test, I would find that the 
depositions of Honda Japan's managing agents 
should be conducted in the United States. To the 
extent Japanese sovereignty is implicated by the 
compulsory deposition of its nationals in the United 
States, it is limited due to the lack of intrusiveness 
of the discovery requested. Again, plaintiffs' re- 
quest does not call for the inspection of buildings, 
the collecting of documents. the interviewing of 
non-party witnesses, or the taking of depositions on 
Japanese soil. See Anschuetz, 754 F.2d at 608-09. 
Moreover. the named Japanese nationals are not oc- 
casional visitors to the United States. They have 
conducted extensive business in the United States 
for a number of years, availing themselves of the 
laws and protections afforded American citizens.FW3 

FX3. While certainly not dispositive, the 
record indicates that the named deponents, 
or at least some of them, have given depos- 
itions in the United States on prior occa- 
sions. The argumeni that giving a depos- 
ition now would be offensive and embar- 
rassing, and would violate their cultural 
norms, is thus mitigated to some extent. 

On the other hand, the sovereignty concelms of the 
United States are clearly implicated in this litiga- 
tion. and would be severely infringed if, pursuant to 

Honda Japan's request. Japanese officials were to 
conduct the pre-trial questioning of the named de- 
ponents under Japanese procedure. The United 
States has a clear interest in maintaining the integ- 
rity of its judicial system and the power of its juris- 
diction over persons doing business in the United 
States. First Nar'l Bank of Cicero, 116 F.R.D. at 9: 
see Work. 106 F.R.D. at 55-56. .4n open discovery 
process helps maintain this integrity by ensuring 
that facts necessary for a proper and just adjudica- 
tion are disclosed. First Nar'l Bank of Cicero, 116 
F.R.D. at 9. "Thus, solicitude for foreign proced- 
ures here would be a particularly significant intru- 
sion upon American sovereignty." Id. Furthermore, 
this litigation does not simply involve issues of 
common lam, contract and fraud. It involves ques- 
tions arising under the antitrust laws and central 
U.S. policy concerning economic regulation and 
free-market competition. In In re Uruniilnr Anti tr~~st  
Litig., 480 F.Supp. 1138. 1154 (N.D.111.1979). the 
court noted: 

[The antitrust laws] have long been considered 
cornerstones of this nation's economic policies, 
have been vigorously enforced and the subject of 
frequent interpretation by our Supreme Court. They 
are as important to the preservation of economic 
freedom and our free-enterprise system as the Bill 
of Rights is to the protection of our fundamental 
personal freedom. 

Id (quoting United States 11. Topco Associates, Iflc,, 
405 U.S. 596, 610, 92 S.Ct. 1126, 1334.35. 31 
L.Ed.2d 515 (1972)): see also Laker Airways Lid. v 
Pan American World Airways, 103 F.R.D. 42, 50  
(D.D.C.1984) ("The subject matter of this lawsuit is 
the American anti-trust laws. This implicates both 
United States' p ~ ~ h l i c  policy interests of a special 
significance and well-established foreign antagon- 
isms to those laws:'). Accordingly, United States' 
concerns with its own judicial sovereignty out- 
weighs Japan's under the circumstances presented 
here. 

As to the litigants themselves, it would be patently 
unfair to constrain plaintiffs' ability to discover 
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facts necessary to make their case by allowing 
Honda Japan's managing agents to be deposed in 
Japan pursuant to Japanese rules. While the scope 
of plaintiffs' discovery would necessarily be limited 
under Japanese law, Honda Japan would have free 
reign to discover all relevant facts pursuant to the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. See An.~chuerr, 
754 F.2d at 606; First Nat'l. Bank of Cicero, 116 
F.R.D. at 10: Mrsserschnlin. 757 F.2d at 732. 
Moreover, the plaintiffs persuasively argue that the 
tnavel costs of deposing Honda's four managing 
agents in Baltimore would be far less than if all 
plaintiffs and their attorneys (as well as other de- 
fendants and their counsel) were required to travel 
to Japan. Furthermore, most of the relevant docu- 
ments in this case, which the parties may need to 
refer to at 5 4 0  deposition, are being held at a de- 
pository in Baltimore. Finally. the interest in 
resolving this litigation in a reasonably expeditious 
fashion, see, e.g., Civil Justice Reform Act of 1990, 
28 V.S.C. 5 47let seq., is best served by compel- 
ling Baltimore as the situs for these depositions. 
The added delay in having depositions taken in the 
Japanese language, of having subsequent English 
translations made. and in the additional procedural 
steps necessary for having depositions taken in Ja- 
pan could unduly prolong this litigation. See Work, 
106 F.R.D. at 55. Both comity and judicial eco- 
nomy require the deposition of Honda Japan's man- 
aging agents in Baltimore, Maryland. 

j81[91[l0][ll] Only a party to the litigation may, of 
course, be compelled to give testimony pursuant to 
a notice of deposition. United Srates ii Afram Lines 
(U.S.A.), Ltd,  159 F.R.D. 408, 413 
(S.D.N.Y.1994). When a party is a corporation, 
such notice of deposition must be given to it pursu- 
ant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 30(h)(6). If the examining party 
notices the corporation alone, the corporation must 
designate who will speak on its behalf. 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 30(b)(6). The examining party has the 
power itself. however, to designate deponents who 
will speak for the corporation, but only if the 

named individuals are "directors. officers, or man- 
aging agents." See id.(Advisory Committee Note to 
1970 amendments); Fourding Church of Scienro- 
logy of Washington, D.C. i. Websier. 802 F.2d 
1448, 145 1 (D.C.Cir. 1986) (Advisory Committee 
Note makes clear that new procedure does not sup- 
plant but " 'supplements existing practice whereby 
the examining party designates the corporate offi- 
cial to be deposed' "), cert. dmieh484 U.S. 871, 
108 S.Ct. 199, 98 L.Ed.2d 150 (1987). Determining 
whether an individual qualifies as a "managing 
agent" of a corporation must be made at the time of 
the deposition. See, e.g., C u r y  v. Stures !Marine 
Corp. of Del., 16 F.R.D. 376, 377 (S.D.N.Y.1954). 
While the burden of proof rests on the parry seeking 
discovery, doubt about an individual's status as a 
"managing agent," at the pre-trial discovery stage, 
are resolved in favor of the examining party. See, 
eg. ,  Websfer, 802 F.2d at 1452 n. 4. If an examin- 
ing party fails to meet its burden. it must resort to 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 45 for subpoenas on non-party wit- 
nesses. Afrrrm Lines. 159 F.R.D. at 413. If the wit- 
ness is overseas, a party must resort to procedures 
outlined in the Hague Convention or another ap- 
plicable treaty. Id. 

Honda Japan contends that even if foreign nationals 
can be compelled to give depositions in the United 
States under principles of international comity. 
Takeo Okusa and Tetsuo Chino, two of the four 
designated deponents named in the notice of depos- 
ition served on Honda Japan. are not "directors, of- 
ficers. or managing agents" of Honda Japan, and 
therefore Honda cannot be deposed "through" 
them.'"' 

FN4. Honda Japan does not dispute that, 
principles of comity aside. both Yoshihide 
Munekuni, Honda Japan's Executive Vice 
President, and Michiaki Shinkai. a member 
of its Board of Directors, are directors and1 
or officers within the meaning of 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 3O(b)(6). 
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j12jj13J "The law concerning who may properly be 
designated a managing agent is sketchy." Webster, 
802 F.2d at 1452. Because the factual circum- 
stances in which the term managing agent must be 
applied differs greatly among cases. the test must 
be a functional one and the determination made on 
a case-by-case basis. Id. Courts are generally 
agreed. however. on the controlling factors used in 
deciding whether an individual is a managing agent 
of a corporation. These factors include: (1) whether 
the corporation has invested the person with discre- 
tion to exercise his judgment, (2) whether the em- 
ployee can be depended upon to carry out the em- 
ployer's directions, and (3) whether the individual 
can be expected to identify him or herself with the 
interests of the corporation as opposed to the in- 
terests of the adverse party. See Reed Paper Co. v. 
Proctor & Gamble Disrrib. Co., 144 F.R.D. 2, 4 
(D.Me.1992): Colonial Capital Co. v. General Mo- 
iors Corp., 29 F.R.D. 514, 516.17 (D.Conn.1961); 
see also Sugarhill Records Ltd v. Motown Record 
Corp., 105 F.R.D. 166, 170 (S.D.N.Y.1985); Afrain 
Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 413; Independent Prod.!. Corp. 
v. Loeiv's, Inc., 24 F.R.D. 19, 25 (S.D.N.Y.1959). 
Other factors to consider include the degree *541 of 
supervisory authority which a person is subject. to 
in a given area and the general responsibilities of 
the individual regarding the matters at issue in the 
iitigation. See Sugarhill, 105 F.R.D. at 170. The 
"paramount test" is whether the individual can be 
expected to identify with the corporation's interests 
as opposed to an adversary's. 

[14] Okusa, as present General Manager of Public 
Relations at Honda Japan, clearly satisfies the 
"paramount test:" as a present employee. he contin- 
ues to maintain an "identity of interest" with 
Honda. Okusa has previously held senior manage- 
ment positions for Honda Japan and its subsidiaries 
for a period spanning over 10 years, thus eviden- 
cing a long. close relationship with the corporation. 
He formerly served as an Executive Vice President 
of American Honda, Honda Japan's domestic subsi- 
diary. His present position as the spokesman for 
Honda Japan itself suggests that what Okusa says, 

and what he might say at deposition, urill be closely 
identified with, and in furtherance of, the interests 
of Honda. Defendant proffers no evidence, and 
makes no suggestion, that Okusa is no longer loyal 
to the corporation or does not still identify himself 
with the its interests. Furthermore, Okusa can be 
depended upon to carry out his employer's direction 
to give testimony; as a present employee, Honda 
Motor can compel his appearance. See Boston Dia- 
gnostics Dev. Corp., Inc. v. Kollsman Mfg. Co., 123 
F,R.D. 415; 416 (D.Mass.1988). 

Honda Japan primarily contends that Okusa's posi- 
tion as General Manager of Public Relations is not 
senior enough in the corporate hierarchy to have 
him speak on its behalf. It argues that Okusa has no 
final authority to bind Honda on issues related to 
his position or on anything related to Honda Japan's 
American subsidiaries. However, the issue is not 
whether Okusa has the power to bind Honda Japan 
in the contractual sense, hut whether Honda has in- 
vested him with general powers to exercise his 
judgment and discretion in a position of trust. See 
Colonial Capital, 29 F.R.D. at 516-17. Cleariy. an 
official spokesman for a major corporation has been 
imbued with trust. Okusa is not simply a "common 
employee," but one with "at least a consciousness 
of the problems of management." See Luewb, 21 
F.R.D. at 25. 

B. Tetsuo Chirzo 

[151[16] With respect to Chino. however, Plaintiffs 
have failed to meet their burden of proof demon- 
strating that he is presently a managing agent of 
Honda Japan. The general rule is that former em- 
ployees cannot be managing agents of a corpora- 
tion. Colonial Capital, 29 F.R.D. at 515 (citation 
omitted) (recently retired Vice President of General 
Motors cannot be considered managing agent at 
time of deposition); see also Mitchell v. Atner-icun 
Tobacco Co., 33 F.R.D. 262, 263 (M.D.Pa.1963) 
(former president of corporation not a managing 
agent after retirement); Frasier v. T~ventiefh Cen- 
fur)-Far Film Corp., 22 F.R.D. 194, 197 
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(D.Neh.1958) (corporation not required to produce 
former officer and director for deposition). Again, 
the test for determining whether one is a managing 
agent must be made at the time of deposition. See 
Loew's, 24 F.H.D. at 24-25. There are exceptions to 
the general rule. however, particularly when a cor- 
poration terminates a managing agent in an attempt 
to avoid disclosure in pending or potential litiga- 
tion. see, e.g., Loewk, 24 F.R.D. at 23-24, when 
there is evidence that the managing agent has been 
or might he reappointed to another position in the 
corporation, see C~rrry, 16 F.R.D. at 377, or when 
the former employee still has ultimate control with 
the ability to utilize an entity's organs of commu- 
nication. See Webster, 802 F.2d at 1455-57. 
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ORDERED that defendant Honda Japan's motion to 
quash deposition notices is granted as to Tetsuo 
Chino, hut is otherwise denied. 

D.Md..1996. 
In re Honda American Motor Co., Inc. Dealership 
Relations Litigation 
168 F.R.D. 535 

END OF DOCUMENT 

1171 As the record now stands, plaintiffs have failed 
to produce any evidence that Chino is presently an 
employee of Honda Japan or otherwise acts as its 
agent. Formerly the President of American Honda, 
Chino retired in 1989. Honda Japan concedes that 
he remained as an advisor to Honda Japan there- 
after until June 1993. Defendant contends, with 
evidence in support, that Chino ended his associ- 
ation with Honda at thut time and presently plays 
no role fbr the corporation. Yamaoka Sopp.Decl, 
2. The only additional evidence that plaintiffs prof- 
fer is a 1994 magazine article report which names 
Chino as a "project contact" and Managing Director 
at Honda Japan. See Pls.' Ex. FF. While the accur- 
acy of this report is persuasively challenged by 
Honda, the report 5 4 2  still fails to show Chino's 
present status as a managing agent in 1996. Fur- 
thermore, I'laintiffs make no proffer that Honda Ja- 
pan terminated Chino to avoid disclosure, or that he 
maintains any control over Honda Japan today. 
While his interests may still be closely identified 
with the defendant; Honda Japan cannot compel his 
presence at deposition. 

ORDER 

For the reasons stated in the inelnorandurn entered 
herewith. it is, this 30th day of August, 1996, 

O 2008 ThomsodWest. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. 





Page 1 of 15 

'vt'(35i%d%% 

Not Reported m F Supp 2d 
Not Reported in F Supp 2d, 2002 W L  1159699 (S D N Y ) 
(Cite as: Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 2002 WL 1159699 (S.D.N.Y.)) 

P 
Dubai Islamic Bank v. Citibank, N.A. 
S.D.N.Y.,2002. 
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 

United States District Court, S.D. New York 
DUBAI ISLAMIC BANK, Plaintiff, 

v. 
CITIBANK. N.A., Defendant. 
No. 99 Civ.l930(RMB)(TH. 

May 3 1,2002 

MEMOMNDUM OPINIONAND ORDER 

KATZ. Magistrate J. 
*1 This case involves a banking relationship gone 
sour. Plaintiff Dubai Islamic Bank ("DB") and De- 
fendant Citibank entered an agreement in 1975 that 
included, inreralia, the establishment of a corres- 
pondent account by DIB in Citibank's New York 
office. Plaintiff alleges that Citibank had a duty to 
safeguard DIB's correspondent account by adhering 
to anti-money laundering procedures and so-called 
"know your customer" rules. Citibank's alleged 
dereliction of these and other obligations, DIB 
claimsl led to the unauthorized transfer of more 
than $15 1,000;000 from DIB's correspondent ac- 
count. These fraudulent transfers were, it is alleged, 
the handiwork of a group of international financial 
terrorists led by one Foutanga Dit Babani Sissoko, 
to whose accounts the stolen money was credited. 
Because Citibank allegedly "slept," as counsel ihr 
DIB has put it, the fraud proceeded unchecked for 
over two years, from late 1995 to early 1998. 

The initial Complaint alleged Citibank's liability for 
D B ' s  losses on numerous legal grounds. some of 
which were dismissed for failure to state a claim. 
The causes of action that survive include those 
based on negligence, unjust enrichment, and Article 
4A of New York's Uniform Commercial Code. In 
defending the case, Citibank has emphasized the 
complicity of various high-ranking DIB officers in 

Page 1 

the alleged scheme to defraud. Citibank points out 
that criminal investigations in Dubai. conducted by 
Dubai law enforcement agencies with the assistance 
of KPMG, which performed an independent audit, 
led to the convictions of a number of officers and 
other DIB employees for their active roles in the 
fra~d.'~'Apparently, authorizations for many, if 
not all, of the fraudulent transfers out of DIB's ac- 
count were issued by DIB's own executives. 

FNl .  A more complete summary of the 
nature of this action and the facts alleged 
in the Complaint may be found in Judge 
Berman's opinion regarding Citihank's mo- 
tion to dismiss. SeeD~rbai Islamic Bank ii 

Citibank, MA.,  126 F.Supp.2d 659, 662-64 
(S.D.N .Y.2000). DIB is currently seeking 
leave to file an amended complaint. 

Presently before the Court is the application of Cit- 
ibank for an order directing Plaintiff to produce cer- 
tain witnesses for deposition. and the corresponding 
application of DIB for a protective order regarding 
those witnesses. Citibank seeks to depose, in New 
York, each of ten employees of DIB. whom it con- 
tends may be compelled to appear for deposition by 
virtue of their status as officers, directors, or man- 
aging agents of DIB.pw'DIB contends that none of 
the ten employees, all of whom live and work in 
Duhai. may be compelled to appear for deposition 
under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. DIB 
also advances numerous equitable concerns that it 
believes militate against its employees' being re- 
quired to travel to New York. DLB therefore re- 
quests that Citibank be required to take discovery 
of certain witnesses in Dubai, through letters rogat- 
ory or otherwise; that Citibank take depositions of 
certain other witnesses in Dubai or London (the lat- 
ter at Citibank's expense; and only "if DIB is able 
to convince" the witnesses to travel to London); 
and that Citibank be barred altogether from depos- 
ing certain other witnesses. (Letter of Frank C. 
Welzer, Esq. (an attorney for DIB), May 3, 2002 
("Welzer May 3, 2002 Let."), at 1-2.) 
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FN2. Citibank has issued letters rogatory 
to depose in Duhai some of these wit- 
nesses, as well as other witnesses living in 
Dubai who are not the subject of the in- 
stant motions. Citibank maintains, and the 
Court agrees. that these letters do not pre- 
judice its right to seek depositions by the 
more conventional means available under 
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 
SeeSocirte Nntii~rlaie ln~l~cstrielle Aerospa- 
tiale v. U.S. Dist. Court, 482 U.S. 522, 
536, 107 S.Ct. 2542, 2551-52 (1987) 
("[Tlhe [Hague] Convention was intended 
as a permissive supplement. not a pre- 
emptive replacement, for other means of 
obtaining evidence located abroad.") 
Moreover, whether the letters rogatory will 
even prove availing remains an open ques- 
tion. 

$2 The issue of the deposition of DIB employees in 
New York has been the subject of several confer- 
ences and voluminous submissions to this Court. At 
the March 29, 2002, conference, the COUR determ- 
ined that it was unable to decide the status of the 
employees in question based on the record before it. 
and ordered DLB to produce an affidavit from a 
high-level employee of DIE derailing the respons- 
ibilities and status within DIB of each of the ten 
proposed deponents, as well as the reasons why 
each employee could not be compelled to appear 
for deposition in New York. The Court has received 
this document (Supplement Declaration of A.R. EI- 
lison in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for a Protect- 
ive Order ("Ellison Decl ."),FN3 as well as the 
parties' subsequent, submissions in response thereto 
(Letter of D. Scott Tucker. Esq. (an attorney for 
Citihank), Apr. 25, 2002 (Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 
Let."); Welzer May 3, 2001 Let.) In deciding the 
instant applications, the Court has also reviewed the 
parties' earlier submissions and accompanying ex- 
hibits. 

IW3. CTntil his recent death. Mr. Ellison 
was an advisor to the Executive Committee 

of DIB. 

DISCUSSION 

I. Governing Legal Standards 

Under Rule 30(h)(lj of the Federal Rules of Civil 
Procedure, a specific officer, director, or managing 
agent of a corporate pavty may be compelled to give 
testimony pursuant to a notice of deposition. A cor- 
porate employee or agent who does not qualify as 
an officer, director, or managing agent is not sub- 
ject to deposition by notice. See,e.g.,United Stares 
v Afram Lines (USA), Lrd ., 159 F.R.D. 408. 413 
(S.D.N.Y.1994); Sugarhill  record,^ Ltd. $8. Motown 
Record Corp., 105 F.R.D. 166, 169 
(S.D.N.Y.1985); DeNoto v. Pennsylvania R.R. Co., 
16 F.R.D. 567, 567 (S.D.N.Y.1954). Such an em- 
ployee is ueaied as any other non-party witness, 
and must be subpoenaed pursuant to Rule 45 of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure; or. if the witness 
is overseas. the procedures of the Hague Conven- 
tion or other applicable treaty must be utilized. 
SeeAfram Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 413;see also111 J-e 
Honda Anz. Motor Co., 168 F.R.D. 535. 540 
(D.Md. 1996) (citing Aj'rii~n Liries ). 

"The test for a managing agent is not 
formulaic."Hoss iwg. Co. v. Hugo BOSS AG, NO. 97 
Civ. 8495(SHS)(MHD), 1999 WL 20828. at *3 
(S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13, 1999). Rather, the question of 
whether a person is a managing agent, and therefore 
subject to a notice of deposition, is answered prag- 
matically and on a fact-specific basis. See8A 
Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller R: Richard 
L. Marcus. Federal Practice and Proced~ire 5 2103, 
at 39 (2d ed.1994): see ~ilsoAfram Line.7, 159 
F.R.D. at 413 ("Because of the vast variety of iac- 
tual circumstances to which the concept must be 
applied, the standard ... remains a functional one to 
be determined largely on a case-by-case basis.") 
(quoting fiunding Church of Scientology C J ~  Wasii- 
ington. D.C., Inc. v. Wehster, 802 F.2d 1448, 1452 
(D.C.Cir. 1986) (citation omitted))."The term 
'managing agent' should not be given too literal an 

0 2008 ThomsowWebt. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. 



Not Reported ~n F.Supp.2d 
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2002 W L  I 159699 (S.D.N.Y.) 
(Cite as: Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 2002 MIL 1159699 (S.D.N.Y.)) 

Page 3 of 15 

Page 3 

interpreration,"Tumingas v. Douglas Aircrafi Co., 
45 F.R.D. 94. 96  (S.D.N.Y.1968). and "[als in all 
matters appertaining to discovery, it is the ends of 
justice that are to be served."Church of Scientology, 
802 F.Zd at 1453. 

*3 With these principles in mind, courts in this dis- 
trict have generally considered five factors in de- 
termining whether an individual is a managing agent: 

I) whether the individual is invested with general 
powers allowing him to exercise judgment and dis- 
cretion in corporate matters; 2) whether the indi- 
vidual can be relied upon to give testimony, at his 
employer's request, in response to the demands of 
the examining party; 3) whether any person or per- 
sons are employed by the corporate employer in po- 
sitions of higher authority than the individual desig- 
nated in the area regarding which the information is 
sought by the examination; 4) the general respons- 
ibilities of the individual respecting the matters iu- 
volved in the litigation; and 5) whether the indi- 
vidual can be expected to idenrif), with the interests 
of the corporation. 

S~r,porhili Records, 105 F.R.D. at 170 (internal quo- 
tations and citations omiited); accordAfram Lines 
159 F.R.D. at 413;Z~irich Ins. Co. v. Essex Crane 
Rental Corp., No. 90 Civ. 2263(SWK)(JCFj, 1991 
WL 12133, at *I  (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 29, 1991); see 
alsoBoss Mfg., 1999 WL 20828, at *3 (recognizing 
that although the number of factors generally con- 
sidered by courts ranges from three to five. courts 
in this district have considered the five factors lis- 
ted above). 

Although typically a corporation cannot be required 
to produce a former officer or agent for deposition, 
see,e.g.,Bos.s Mfg., 1999 WL 20828. at *2 (stating 
that the rationale for this is that the corporation 
lacks control over the former agent), this rule is not 
woodenly applied. Rather, courts within and 
without this district have adopted a "practical" ap- 
proach "that focuses not only on the formal connec- 
tion between the witness and the party at the time 

of the deposition, but also on their functional rela- 
tionships."SeeAfram Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 414 
(adopting flexible approach but finding no man- 
aging agent status on facts); see alsoIndependent 
Prods. Coup. v. hew ' s ,  Inc., 24 F.R.D. 19, 26 
(S.D.N.Y.1959) (upholding deposition notices of 
former officers of plaintiffs who stood "ready to 
serve plaintiffs" despite severance of formal ties); 
Curry v. States Marine Corp. of Del.. 16 F.R.D. 
376, 377 (S.D.N.Y.1954) (upholding deposition no- 
tice of master in charge of vessel at time of accident 
despite his current reduced status as chief mate of 
another one of defendant's vessels); Smith v. Shoe 
Show of Rocky Moimt, Inc.. No. 00-30141, 2001 
WL 1757184, at *2 (D.Mass. Aug. 26, 2001) 
(finding that former district manager, whose con- 
duct as such was "at the heart of Plaintiffs claims," 
remained a managing agent despite current reduced 
status as store manazer); Libhey Glass. Inc. v. 
Oneida, Ltd.. 197 F.R.D. 342, 351 (N. D.Ohio 
1999) ("In any event, it is clear that the deponent 
need not have a formal association with the corpor- 
ation to be deemed its managing agent .... Likewise; 
the deponent need not be associated with the cor- 
poration at the time of his deposition."); Alcan Int? 
Ltd. i. S.A. D q  Mfg. Co.. 176 F.R.D. 75, 79 
(W.D.N.Y.1996) (requiring deposition of retired of- 
ficer with unique knowledge of subject matter of 
litigation); Culgene, Inc. v. Enzo Biochen~, Inc., No. 
Civ. 593.0195, 1993 WL 645999. at "8 (E.D.Cal. 
Aug. 23, 1993) (holding that consultant and advis- 
ory board member who identified with interests of 
company and who had "power regarding the subject 
matter of the litigation" was managing agent); Bo- 
ston Diagnostics Dev. Corp. v Kollsmari Mfg. Co., 
123 F.R.D. 415, 416 (D.Mass.l988) (ordering de- 
position of current employee based on his man- 
aging agent status at the time of the transactions at 
issue in the lawsuit); b~rf seeReed Paper Co. v. 
Procrer & Gamble Distrib. Co., 144 F.R.D. 2, 4-5 
nn. 2-3 (D.Me.1992) (criticizing Boston Dia- 
gnostics ). Summarizing this pragmatic approach, 
the D.C. Circuit has observed. 

*4 Courts bave accorded managing agent status to 
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individuals who no longer exercised authority over 
the actions in question (and even to individuals who 
no longer held any position of authority in a corpor- 
ation), so long as those individuals retained some 
role in the corporation or at least maintained in- 
terests consonant with rather than adverse to its in- 
terests. 

Church of Scientology, 802 F.2d at 1456. 

Finally, although the examining party hears the bur- 
den of establishing the status of the witness, 
seeSu~ai-hill Record.7, 105 F.R.D. at 170, the exact 
nature of this burden is not perfectly clear, seeBoss 
Mfg.. 1999 WL 20828, at $4 ("[Ill is not entirely 
clear whether the burden [of establishing the depon- 
ent's status] is one of production or persuasion or 
both."); Afrunl Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 414 (suggesting 
that the burden may vary depending on whether the 
examining party has had complete discovery on the 
issue or whether the deponent is an employee of the 
opposing party). In any event, the burden is 
"modest," Boss Mfg., 1999 WL 20828, at *4, and 
all doubts are to be resolved in favor of the examiu- 
ing party, Afrurn Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 414;Sugarhill 
Recorrls. 105 F.R.D. at 171. Thus, the examining 
party satisfies its burden when it produces "enough 
evidence to show that there is at least a close ques- 
tion whether the proposed deponent is the man- 
aging agent."Afi-am Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 413;ac- 
cnrdBoss Mfg., 1999 WL 20828. at *4 (citing 
Afrum Lines ). This approach permits discovery to 
proceed, while defening until trial the ultimate 
question of whether the witness's testimony is bind- 
ing on the corporation. See,4franl Lines, 159 F.R.D. 
at 413-14;Z~~ich Ins.  Co.. 1991 WL 12133. at 
"2;Sugurhill Records, 105 F.R.D. at 17i;see 
alsoFederal Practice and Procedure $ 2103 ("The 
determination of whether a particular person is a 
'managing agent' will be made by the trial court 
when the deposition is sought to he introduced...."). 
The witness's deposition testimony itself may well 
provide the best evidence of his or her status. 
SeeAfram Lines, 159 F.R.D. 413-14 (stating that it 
is proper to defer final determination of managing 

agent status until trial since at that time examining 
party will have had full discovery regardi~ig that 
status); Boss Mfg., 1999 WL 20828, at "4 (''[A\ de- 
termination that the witness is a managing agent 
may be made provisionally ... while awaiting the 
deposition testimony before determining whether 
the witness is an agent for purposes of binding the 
corporation."): N~ighes Bros., Inc. v. Callanan Rd. 
Improvement Co., 41 F.R.D. 450, 454 
(S.D.N.Y.1967) (noting that a showing of managing 
agent status for the purposes of compelling a depos- 
ition "might well he overcome by the testimonial 
evidence produced at thjat/ very examination"). 

II Statlrs of the Ten DIB Employees 

Keeping the ahove principles in mind, the Court 
will now address seriatinz the status of the employ- 
ees Citibank is seeking to depose. 

1. Valiyakan Ahnled Khulid 

*5 Mr. Khalid's status as a managing agent regard- 
ing the events relevant to this litigation is not seri- 
ously in doubt. Numerous documents, including 
DIB's own personnel file, indicate that Mr. Khalid 
was Head of the Foreign Department during the 
time period relevant to this litigation. (Tucker Apr. 
25, 2002 Let. at 3-4.) DIB disputes that this was his 
title, but concedes that he was "the person respons- 
ible for interbank transfers (foreign exchange) in 
the foreign section."(Ellison Decl. at 2.) As such. 
he was seemingly vested with significant enough 
responsibility and discretion to be considered a 
managing agent, e\,en if he did not hold the specific 
title of head of the department. In any event, Cit- 
ihank has produced more than enough information 
to make his status as department head. much less 
his substantial responsibilities "respecting the mat- 
ters involved in the litigation," a close question that 
should be resolved in favor of Mr. Khalid's depos- 
ition's taking place. The Court further notes that for 
all its focus on Mr. Khalid's title. DIB does not 
even appear to dispute that Mr. Khalid's responsib- 
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ilities in his former position rendered him an officer 
or managing agent.""' 

FN4. The Court finds further justification 
for resolving doubts in favor of Citibank 
on this issue given the inconsistent repres- 
entations that have been made by DIB re- 
garding Mr. Khalid's status. As late as last 
August, counsel for DIB represented to 
Citibank and to this Court that DIB was 
actively engaging in both civil and crimin- 
al proceedings against Mr. Khalid, when in 
fact; DD? had issued certificates of release 
against Mr. Khalid and two others, Messrs. 
A1 Rais and Hassan, a year earlier. 
(Affidavit of D. Scott Tucker, Esq., in Sup- 
port of Application for Order Directing 
Plaintiff to Produce Cerrain Witnesses for 
Depositions, Dec. 20, 2001 ("Tucker 
Aff."), Ex. A at 44, 46.) Only Citibank's 
independent research led to the correction 
of this error. 

DLB resists producing Mr. Khalid for deposition on 
the grounds that he is merely a clerk '"5 in the for- 
eign section of the Operalions Department. Mr. El- 
lison represents that Khalid was demoted from his 
previous position as "person responsible for interb- 
ank transfers" hecause of his involvement in the 
fraud and because of the criminal proceedings 
against him. (Ellison Decl. at 2 .) Mr. Ellison also 
states that Mr. Khalid no longer has any signature 
authority (whereas previously he had "B" author- 
ity). Mr. Khalid was convicted of fraud in the 
Dubai Court of First Instance, yet later had his con- 
viction overturned (along with two other DIB em- 
ployees, whom Citibank also seeks to depose. 
seeit$ru ). 

FN5. DIB's records indicate that his posi- 
tion was changed to "First Banker" 
(Tucker Aff., Ex. I), a term that may or 
may not be synonymous with "clerk," but 
which Mr. Ellison does not explain. 

Although the parties dispute whether DIB posted 

bail for Mr. Khalid, there is no dispute about the 
more significant fact that DIB waived its civil case 
against Mr. Khalid and maintained him in its em- 
ploy, and that the appellate court relied in part on 
these circumstances in overturning Mr. Khalid's 
conviction. Moreover, in addition to retaining Mr. 
Khalid as an employee, DLB continues to pay him 
the same salary and to maintain him at the same 
grade, a fact Mr. Ellison acknowledges, albeit back- 
handedly. Mr. Ellison states that this rather remark- 
able situation-the bank's retention, at the same posi- 
tion grade and salary. of an employee admittedly 
involved in a massive fraud scheme against it- 
results from DIB's "staff policies," which do not 
contain "any provision for demotion by way of re- 
duction in grade; or by reduction in salary or allow- 
ances."(ld.) 

The Court is persuaded that Mr. Khalid may be 
considered a managing agent for the purpose of no- 
ticing his deposition. The fact that DIB retained Mr. 
Khalid in its employ, waived its civil claims against 
him, and assisted in his escaping criminal liability, 
despite his undisputed involvement in a quarter-bil- 
lion dollar fraud against it; strongly suggests that 
Mr. Khalid is greatly indebted to DIB, and thus re- 
mains subject to its control. That his interests re- 
main aligned with DIB is supported by his continu- 
ing to draw the same salary and enjoy the same po- 
sition grade as he did prior to the events in ques- 
tion. Moreover, DIB cannot be heard to claim that 
Mr. Khalid is not authorized to testify for DIB. 
when DIB admits that it retains him precisely for 
that reason. Mr. Ellison explains that DIB retains 
Mr. Khalid because, as a non-national of the United 
Arab Emirates, his right to remain in Dubai under 
his employment visa depends entirely on his spon- 
sor,ship by DIB. If terminated, "Khalid would return 
to his home in ... India ... and his testimony would 
be lost to DIB. Citibank. and other interested 
parties."(Ellison Decl. at 2-3 (emphasis added).) 
This admission strongly suggests that, even if he no 
longer retains a position of authority, Khalid, who 
has been employed by DIB since 1975, remains 
"ready to serve" DIB, LnewS, 24 F.R.D. at 26, and 
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that he has "maintained interests consonant with 
rather than adverse to [DIB's] interests,"Church oJ 
Scientology, 802 F.2d at 1456:see alsoAfran~ Lines, 
159 F.R.D. at 415 C'[A]n agent's history of cooper- 
ating with a party in discovery may be probative of 
the party's ability to rely on the agent to testify.") 
The purpose of the general rule against requiring 
former ofiicers to testify-namely, "to protect the 
party from the admissions of  disgruntled former of- 
ficers and agents,"Fed. Practice and Procedure $ 
2103-will thus not be frustrated in this case. As the 
cases cited above demonstrate, "this principle has 
been applied in light of its purpose, When the per- 
son involved retains such a connection with the cor- 
poration as to be loyal to it; his or her deposition 
has been considered that of the corporation, and the 
same result had been reached when the person, 
even though no longer a managing agent, is still in 
the employee of the party."ld. 

*6 Accordingly, this Court holds that Mr. Khalid is 
a managing agent subject to deposition by notice.FN6 

FN6. DIB also claims there are several ad- 
ditional problems with taking Mr. Khalid's 
deposition in New York. These concerns, 
as well as all such non-status-related ob- 
jections respecting other witnesses, are dis- 
cussed below, in the next section. 

2. Mohnrn~ned Abd~rllah Ali A1 Rais 

With respect to the current motion, the issues con- 
cerning the status of Mohammed Abdullah A1 Rais 
are substantially similar to those concerning Mr. 
Khalid. Mr. A1 Rais was Chief of Cashiers during 
the period involved in this litigation.FN7(Ellison 
Decl. at 4.) Like Mr. Khalid, Mr. Al Rais was sub- 
sequently demoted from his position of high author- 
ity, to a clerical position, following his involvement 
in the criminal fraud. (His current position title is 
apparently "First Banker." (Tucker Aff., Ex. J.)) 
Like Mr. Khalid, Mr. A1 Rais was convicted in the 
Dubai Court of First Instance but subsequently ex- 
onerated on appeal, in part due to DIB's having ab- 

solved him of civil liability and maintained him in 
its employ. Mr. Al Rais also continues to enjoy the 
same salary and grade as he did prior to the fraud. 
Finally. as with Mr. Khalid, Citibank has offered 
significant. apparently unrefuted evidence of Mr. 
A1 Rais's importance to the transactions at issue in 
this dispute. (Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 Let. at 7-8 & 
citations therein.) Indeed. Mr. Al Rais's extensive 
involvement in many of pertinent events in this 
case is corroborated by Mr. Ellison's representation 
that Mr. A1 Rais has testified more than twenty 
times in related matters in the Dubai courts. 

FN7. In presenting Mr. A1 Rais's former 
position as an undisputed hct ,  the Court 
relies on Mr. Ellison's sworn declaration, 
along with the evidence submitted by Cit- 
ibank, and not DIB counsel's unsworn, be- 
lated, and equivocal statement that "we 
now understand that Mr. A1 Rais did not 
hold the position of 'Chief Cashier' at 
D B ,  but that the Chief Cashier responsible 
for the safe and its contents during the 
period of the fraud was Mohammed Ayy- 
oub."(Welzer May 3, 2002 Let. at 6.) 
Moreover. as with Mr. Khalid. DIB's per- 
petually shifting representations concern- 
ing Mr. A1 Rais raise more questions than 
they answer. and persuade this Court of the 
wisdom of resolving doubts regarding the 
proposed deponents' status in favor of Cit- 
ibank. 

In light of his obvious importance to the matters at 
issue and his equally clear position of authority. 
and for substantially the same reasons as stated 
above with respect to Mr. Khalid. this Court finds 
Mr. A1 Rais is a managing agent of DIB who there- 
fore is subject to deposition by notice. In so ruling; 
the Court has taken into account the additional reas- 
on proffered by Mr. Ellison why Mr. A1 Rais may 
not testify on DIB's behalf, namely, that Mr. Al 
Rais is attempting to find a new job and "would 
happily leave DLB tomorrow ... [but] he needs to 
support his family and to finish funding his pen- 
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sion."(Ellison Decl. at 5.) Putting aside the fact that 
this hearsay statement is not competent evidence, 
the Court notes that this is an insufficient ground 
for defeating managing agent status. The near uni- 
versal need to earn income and provide for one's re- 
tirement does not imply disloyalty to one's employ- 
er. and does not change one's status within the or- 
ganization (just as, conversely, an independently 
wealthy low-level functionary would not become a 
managing agent subject to deposition by notice 
merely because he loved his job). 

Like Messrs. Khalid and Al Rais, Mr. Hassan was 
convicted for his apparently significant personal in- 
volvement in the fraud.FhX exonerated on appeal 
after being given a release of liability by DIB. and 
retained as an employee of DIB. Unlike Khalid and 
A1 Kais. however. Mr. Hassan was a mere clerk in 
the Foreign Department at the time of the events in 
question (and remains one now). Citibank does not 
contest this fact. but contends that Mr. Hassan's 
"role in the fraud transcended that of a clerk be- 
cause he was actively involved in forging hundreds 
of fraudulent documents directly related to the 
transfers at issue in this case."(Tucker Apr. 25, 
2002 Let. at LO.) The Court agrees that Mr. Has- 
san's importance to the events in question appears 
supported by the record; unfortunately for Citibank, 
however, this is not the test for managing agent. 
There is no evidence that Mr. Hassan's position 
gave him any independent discretion, and even his 
role in the fraud appears to he that of a facilirator 
and subordinate. SreLibbey Glass, 197 F.R.D. at 
35 I (individual who "may well have played an im- 
portant role" in events giving rise to lawsuit was 
not managing agent because he "facilitated, but did 
not control" those events). 

FN8. Mr. Ellison states that Mr. Hassan 
was prosecuted "for criminal breach of 
trust and practising black magic."(Ellison 
Decl. at 5.) 

*7 Accordingly, Mr. Hassan is not an officer, dir- 
ector, or managing agent, and thereby is not subject 
to deposition by notice. 

Mr. Rahman is undisputedly .4ssistaiit Head or 
Deputy Head of the Foreign Department. and was 
so at the time of the fraud. DIB does nor contest his 
high-ranking status in the bank, but seeks to avoid 
his deposition on the grounds that "it would not be 
a prudent use of time" because Mr. Kahman al- 
legedly lacks recollection of the events in question. 
(Welzer May 3, 2002 Let, at 7.) DIB stares that he 
was not "formally" interviewed by either the Dubai 
authorities or KPMG, and argues that this tends to 
show his lack of importance to the events in ques- 
tion. Nevertheless, Citibank states that its primary 
interest in deposing Mr. Rahman does not stem 
from his alleged direct involvement in the fraud. 
Rather. Citibank maintains that it seeks to learn of 
the procedures, operations, and practices of the For- 
eign Department, of which Mr. Kahman was 
Deputy Head, and which sent all of the wire trans- 
fers at issue in this case. Moreover, there remain 
questions about Mr. Rahman's direct invoivenient 
and knowledge in these transfers. a fact suggested 
by the independent auditor's report, which con- 
cluded that it was "important" to interview him to 
ascertain his role in the fraud. 

Accordingly, DIB's motion for a protective order 
regarding Mr. Rahman is denied. 

5. ,Uohummad Sadiy Mohamrnod Ali 

According to Mr. Ellison, Mr. Sadiq is a 
"supervisor" in the foreign section. (Ellison Decl. at 
8.) The independent auditor's report submitted by 
Citibank lists Mr. Sadiq as Mr. Khalid's Deputy in 
the Foreign Department. Mr. Ellison states that Mr. 
Sadiq merely performs "roiltine work ... incli~ding 
checking and signing vouchers for incoming and 
outgoing remittances, checking and signing out- 
ward Telexes and SWIFT messages ...." (Ellison 
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Decl. at 7.) h4r. Ellison admits that Mr. Sadiq has 
"B" level signature authority, but downplays the 
significance of such authority. Mr. Ellison states 
that " A  and "I)" level signatories are "back-office 
workers empowered to complete the paperwork for 
transactions approved elsewhere."(ld. at 8.) Mr. El- 
lison notes that Mr. Sadiq signs between 200 and 
250 transfer vouchers per day, and that he has no 
recollection of any particular events or transactions 
with respect to the fraud. Finally, Mr. Ellison notes 
that Mr. Sadiq was not interviewed as part of the 
official criminal investigation in Dubai, nor was he 
interviewed by KPMG. although KPMG did indic- 
ate he might be a usefill witness. 

Citibank argues that Mr. Ellison's assessment of the 
significance of signature authority is contradicted 
by Mr. Ellison's own answers to previous interrog- 
atories, in which he stated, "For persons associated 
with DIB with duties to act for DIB, see signature 
book to be produced."(Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 Let. at 
13.) Citibank also points out that the signature hook 
itself states that officials listed therein are 
"authorized to sign on behalf of the bank'. with re- 
spect to "financial commitments or disposal of 
Dubai Islamic Bank assets."(ld.) Additionally, Cit- 
ihank notes that many of DIB's most imporiar~i uf- 
ficers and directors, including the chairman of the 
board and the CEO, are included in the signature 
book, a fact that obviously undermines the assertion 
that such signatories are merely "back-office em- 
ployees." Finally, Citibank also points to evidence 
that Mr. Sadiq may have been centrally involved in 
the fraud, inasmuch as he was Khalid's deputy and 
may also have received instruction from Mr. Ay- 
ouh. (Id. at 13-14.) 

"8 The Court agrees with Citibank that DIB's char- 
acterization of the significance of such signature 
authority is contradictory, if not implausible. From 
the language of the signature book itself, as well as 
Mr. Ellison's representation in his interrogatory. the 
signatories appear to be vested with the type of dis- 
cretion and authority that come with managing 
agent status. On the other hand, the fact that Mr. 

Sadiq signs upwards of 200 transfers a day suggests 
that each individual act of signing may not entail 
such a great exercise of judgment and discretion 
after ail. In sum, the record before the Court is 
sparse and ambiguous on this score. More signific- 
ant. however, is the fact h t  Citibank has pointed 
to little else that tends to show a high level of au- 
thority on the part of Mr. Sadiq either in general or 
with respect to the matters in this litigation. Even 
the KPMG report, on which Citibank primarily re- 
lies, suggests that Mr. Sadiq's role, if any, was 
likely that of subordinate, both to Mr. Ayoub and to 
Mr. Khalid, his direct supervisor. Thus. even if Mr. 
Sadiq had involvement in and recollection of the 
transactions in question; which he denies having, 
his status does not appear to be that of officer and 
managing agent. As stated, the test for managing 
agent does not turn on one's mere possession of rel- 
evant information. Rather, the witness must possess 
authority to speak and act on behalf of the corpora- 
tion. The Court is not prepared to find that Mr. Sad- 
iq's signature authority, standing more or less alone. 
confers him with such authority. 

Accordingly, the Court finds Mr. Sadiq is not a 
managing agent subject to deposition by notice, and 
grants DIB's motion for a protectil.re order with rc- 
spect to Mr. Sadiq.FN" 

FN9. However, the Court notes that if Cit- 
ibank remains committed to taking discov- 
ery from Mr. Sadiq, he apparently remains 
on good terms with DIB and thus. most 
likely. is amenable to DIB's directions. 
DIB has in fact offered to try to persuade 
Mr. Sadiq to appear for deposition (albeit 
in London). The Court therefore suggests 
that, in the interest of compromise. DIB try 
to make Mr. Sadiq available for deposition 
in Dubai, in the event counsel for Citibank 
travels there. 

6 Raht  Kurrnr Ahmed Kanm 

According to Mr. Ellison. Mr. Karim is a 
"supervisor" in the communications section and has 
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"limited decision-making authority..' (Ellison Decl. 
at 8.) Mr. Ellison admits that he has "B" level sig- 
nature authority, and that he works with the SWTFT 
and Telex systems apparently at issue in this litiga- 
tion. Mr. Ellison states that he reports to the depart- 
ment manager, who in turn reports to the Opera- 
tions Manager. In response, Citibank notes that the 
auditor's report identifies Mr. Karim as an "officer 
in /DIB9s] Foreign Remittance Department," and in- 
dicates that he monitored DIB's correspondent ac- 
counts, such as the one that DIB held with Citibank. 
(Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 Let. at 14.) Citibank also 
notes that DIB's records indicate that Mr. Karim is 
a "Senior Banker." and that he signed many of the 
transfers at issue in this case.(ld.j DIB replies that 
the reference in the KPMG report to Mr. Karim as 
an "officer" is an example of the inaccuracy of the 
report (which was critical of DIB), and should thus 
be discounted. (Welzer May 3,2002 Let at 9.) 

The foregoing persuades this Court that Mr. 
Karim's status as an officer or managing agent is at 
least a close call. and that he should thus be subject 
to deposition by notice. His signature authority and 
supervisory position indicate that he holds general 
powers to exercise judgment and discretion, that he 
can be relied on to give testimony. and that he iden- 
tifies with the interests of DTB. Although he may 
not be the highest ranking official in his depart- 
ment. which weighs against his being found a man- 
aging agent, this factor is counterbalanced by his 
seeming direct supervisory authority over many of 
transactions at issue in this case. Accordingly, un- 
der the five-factor test, the Court finds that Mr. 
Karim is a managing agent who may be required to 
appear for deposition by notice on DlB's behalf. 

*9 According to Mr. Ellison, Mr. Mansour is a 
clerk in the General Accounts department, who has 
never had signature authority and whose job entails 
"the purely clerical function of taking figures from 
the general ledger trial balance and inserting those 
numbers into slots on the proforma for the U.A.E. 

Central Bank returns."(Ellison Decl. at 9.) Mr. EI- 
lison also affirms that Mr. Mansour at ail relevant 
times performed his duties solely according to in- 
structions he received from his superior, Mr. El Re- 
faie. In addition, Mr. Ellison states that Mr. Man- 
sour has "absolutely no memory of Mr. El Refaie 
ever indicating to him that anything should be 
covered up," despite statements in the KPMG re- 
port suggesting otherwise, (M. at 9.) 

Citibank states that contrary to Mr. Ellison's asser- 
tion, Mr. Mansour is listed in DIB's signature book 
as having "B" signature authority. Citibank also 
notes that DB 's  July 2001 list of employees de- 
scribes Mr. Mansour not as a clerk but as an ac- 
countant. In addition, Citibank points lo portions of 
the KPMG report suggesting that Mr. Mansour was 
directly involved in both the fraud and the alleged 
coverup. Citibank also notes tkat KPMG indicated 
that Mr. Mansour "need/ed] to be interviewed" re- 
garding his knowledge of the fraud, inasmuch as he 
was "one of the signatories" on a particular ac- 
counting voucher. (Tucker Apr. 25. 2002 Let at 
15-16.) 

Other than his disputed signature authority, there is 
scant evidence suggesting that Mr. Mansour is or 
was in a position of discretion and significant re- 
sponsibility. Unlike others with signature authority. 
Mr. Mansour does not seem to have now, or have 
had, a managerial role in the company generally, or 
with respect to the events at issue. Even accepting 
that his title is "accounrant" and not "clerk," this 
title does not suggest managing agent status. 
Moreover, it is apparently not contested that his 
role in the events was a subordinate one, inasmuch 
as he took orders from Mr. Kefaie. Regardless of 
whether the content of the orders included a direc- 
tion to cover up the fraud, Mr. Mansour was still 
acting at Mr. Refaie's behest. As stated above, the 
mere fact that MI.. Mansour may have been directly 
implicated in the matters involved in this litigation, 
and thus have important information, does not alter 
his status. 

Accordingly, the Court finds that Mr. Mansour is 
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not an officer. director, or managing agent subject 
to notice of deposition. In the interest of comprom- 
ise. DIB has offered to provide Citibank with a 
wriltc~i response to any inquiries it may have of Mr. 
Mansour. Accordingly. Citibank shall promptly 
provide DIE with such inquiries if it wishes to avail 
itself of this procedure, or, alternately, should at- 
tempt to arrange for Mr. Mansour's deposition in 
Dubai. 

8. Ihrahin~ Eissu Lrx~trih 

Mr. Ellison states that, upon information and belief, 
Mr. Lootah, "while technically still an 'employee' 
of DIE, has virtually no responsibilities at DIB. He 
was demoted from branch manager of DIB's Al 
Souk branch almost immediately after discovery of 
the fraud and now he does not have any real re- 
sponsibilities. He has no signature authority .... [Hie 
does very iittie (if any) actual work for DIB ...." 
(Ellison Decl. at 9-10.) Mr. Ellison provides no ex- 
planation of why Mr. Lootah remains an employee 
of DIB despite his having been demoted. apparently 
on account of involvement in the fraud. On the oth- 
er hand. Mr. Welzer, one of DIB's attorneys, states 
ihat "DT& does not believe that Mr. Lootah was in- 
volved in the fraud. although he (like many others) 
was under the cloud of suspicion chat was initially 
cast following the discovery of the massive fraud in 
1998."(WeIzer May 3; 2002 Let. at 1 1.) 

"10 Citibank points to the apparently undisputed 
fact that Mr. Lootah was a high-level officer of the 
bank during the relevant period. Mr. Lootah had 
"A" level signature authority, and. according to 
D B ' s  counsel's own representation. was "one of 
eight branch managers who reported to an execut- 
ive committee made up of the most senior officers 
at DIB."(Welzer May 3, 2002 Let. at 10.) Though 
Mr. Welzer offers this as an explanation of why Mr. 
Lootah was not a senior official, it appears to the 
Court to indicate just the opposite. Regard1e.s~ of 
whom he reported to, Mr. Lootah obviously had 
substantial managerial authority over a significant 
segment of the bank; given his position as head of a 

branch. His independent discretion and judgment 
are further indicated by his having the same level of 
signature authority as DIE'S CEO. (Tucker Apr. 25, 
2002 Let. at 16.) Moreover, it is not clear that he 
did not play some role in the events at issue in this 
litigation, though what exactly he may have done 
remains unclear. 

Finally, as with Messrs. Al Rais and Khalid. his 
continued employment with DIB, after coming un- 
der a "cloud of suspicion" for involvement in the 
fraud, indicates an ongoing identity of interest 
between Mr. Lootah and DIB. As Citibank notes, it 
is bizarre indeed that DIB would retain an employ- 
ee, apparently at a high salary, for four years and 
running, who was demoted because of suspected 
participation in a quarter-billion-dollar fraud. Such 
a situation cries out for an explanation, which has 
not heen forthcoming. The Court notes that D B ' s  
explanations for why Mr. Lootah is still employed 
are contradictory: on one hand, Mr. Ellison asserts 
that Mr. Lootah was demoted on account of the 
fraud on the other, Mr. Welzer claims that DIB 
does not believe hlr, Lootah was even involved in 
the fraud. If Welzer's version is in fact the correct 
one, the Court is left to wonder why, or whether. 
M r  1,ootah was demoted at all. If he was demoted 
on account of involvement in the fraud, yet contin- 
ues to be retained four years later, the Court can 
only infer that DIB, in light of such extraordinary 
magnanimity toward Mr. Lootah, continues to exer- 
cise control over him, and that it can rely on him to 
testify at its behest. In any event. the unexplained 
conuadictions surrounding Mr. Lootah's current 
status, coupled with his previously high-level 
status, more than suffice to make Mr. Lootah's 
status a "close call," warranting his being subject to 
deposition by notice. 

Mr. Ellison states that Mr. Lootah is a "supervisor" 
in the foreign Murabaha follow-up and collections 
department, but that he has neither 
"decision-making discretiori" nor signature author- 
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ity for financial transactions. (Ellison Decl. at 10.) 
Nevertheless, it is undisputed that iMr. Lootah was 
head of the Foreign Section during the relevant 
period. Citibank cites testimony of a DIB manager 
stating that Mr. Lootah supervised Mr. Khalid, and 
argues that Mr. Lootah therefore has highly relev- 
ant information regarding matters central to this lit- 
igation. (Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 Let. at 17-18.) 
Counsel for DIB asserts that Mr. Khalid was not 
under Mr. Lootah's supervision, a fact not ad- 
dressed in Mr. Ellison's declaration. (Welzer May 
3, 2002 Let. at l I.) In any event. Mr. Ellison states 
that Mr. Lootah had "very little, if any, actual in- 
volvement in the events at issue in this lawsuit" and 
that "[olther witnesses," whom he does not identify, 
have "specific and better knowledge" regarding the 
information relevant to this lawsuit. (Ellison Decl. 
at 10.) Mr. Ellison notes that the Dubai police and 
public prosecutor did not interview Mr. 1,ootah. 

*I1 Regardless of Mr. Lootah's role in the matters 
at issue, which the Court finds unclear at this point 
and thus a fact that should be resolved in favor of 
his examinatioo. the other factors for determining 
managing agent status suggest that Mr. Lootah is 
such an agent. His former role as department head 
clearly gave him substantial authority, and even 
now he retains a supervisory position. Moreover. 
even if he was not involved in the fraud, as DIB 
suggests he was not, the same lack of explanation 
for his apparent demotion, if indeed one has oc- 
curred, exists as in the case of Mr. Ibrahim Eissa 
Lootah. His continued employment by DJB sug- 
gests an identity of interests, and that he may relied 
on to testify at DlB's behest. 

Accordingly. the Court holds that Mr. Fawzi Loo- 
tah, as a managing agent. may be deposed on notice 
pursua~it to the Federal Rules. However, given 
DIB's assertion that Mr. Lootah had little involve- 
ment in the events at issue and thus has little relev- 
ant information, the Court suggests that Mr. Loo- 
tah's deposition be scheduled for a time after the 
depositions of the other witnesses herein discussed. 
This Court's suggestion does not excuse DIB of its 

obligation to produce Mr. Lootah, but simply at- 
tempts to accommodate DIB by having Citibank de- 
pose Mr. Lootah only after determining that he may 
have information not otherwise obtained. This sug- 
gestion is not binding, and may he disregarded in 
the event that scheduling Mr. Lootah later rather 
than sooner becomes impracticable. 

10 Mr. Zuhir  Al Ruhi 'i 

Mr. Al Rabi'i was the head of the Computer De- 
partment during the relevant time period. Citibank 
has pointed to documents, including the KPMG re- 
port, suggesting both that the computerized ac- 
counting systems may have been an important as- 
pect of the fraud, and that Mr. Al Rabi'i may have 
instructed a subordinate, Chandra Shekar, to assist 
the former CFO in the fraud. (Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 
Let. at 18-19.) Regardless of his role, given his 
status as department head, it seems relatively clear 
that his former position qualified Mr. Rabi'i as an 
officer or managing agent. 

As for his current position, Mr. Ellison's declaration 
simply states that he "works in the compliance de- 
partment," without providing his title. (Ellison De- 
cl. at l l . )  Mr. Ellison stares that "he does things 
like review daily transactions," and 'Tloesn't imple- 
ment things by his own volition; he merely recom- 
mends a course of action."(ld) The Court finds 
these vague. conclusory assertions, which are sand- 
wiched between a litany of equitable claims of why 
Mr. Al Rabi'i should not be forced to come to New 
York, unconvincing. Given his undisputed prior po- 
sition as a department head, the Court is satisfied 
that the status of Mr. Al Rabi'i as a managing agent 
remains at least n close question, and that he can be 
expected to identify with DIB, and to testify at its 
request. Accordingly, he is subject to deposition by 
notice. 

DIB also argues that a former subordinate of Mr. 
Rabi'i, Mr. Shekar, should testify in his stead. Mr. 
Ellison asserts that Mr. Shekar was the "de facto 
head" of the IT department, and that he "performed 
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most of the work" there. (Ellison Decl. at 1 I.) Nev- 
ertheless, it is undisputed that he has now left DIB; 
and thus cannot be deposed as an officer or man- 
aging agent. Although DIB has stated that it 
'might" be able to produce him in New York ( id  at 
I I). Citibank correctly points out that his testimony 
would not constitute a party admission. 

*I2 As a compromise, the Court offers DIB the fol- 
lowing proposal: it may produce Mr. Shekar for de- 
position in New York, instead of Mr. Rabi'i, on 
condition that it stipulate to the admissibility at tri- 
al, as a party admission of DIB, of Mr. Shekar's de- 
position testimony. Such a stipulation is appropri- 
ate, given Mr. Ellison's representations that Mr. 
Shekar was the "de facto h e a d  of the department- 
and thus had de facto managing agent status-and 
that Mr. Shekar stands ready to serve DIB upon its 
request. Further, this compromise attempts to ac- 
commodate both parties' interest in having the most 
knowledgeable witness deposed. If DIB does not 
consent to this procedure, it must produce Mr. 
Rabi'i for deposition, for the reasons stated above. 
Moreover, if Mr. Shekar is deposed and his testi- 
mony sttpports the contention that Mr. Rabi'i is a 
manayiny agent and may have relevant knowledye 
that Mr. Shekar lacks. the Court will entertain a re- 
newed application for the depositioii of Mr. Rabi'i. 

111. Locution of Depositions 

For each proposed deponent, DIB has raised vari- 
ous equitable reasons why it believes he should not 
be required to appear in New York for a deposition. 
Citibank insists that any other solution but requir- 
ing these deponents to come to New York is both 
unljir and impracticable. The Court has considered 
the equities and the practicalities of the situation re- 
garding each proposed witness. and, in its discre- 
tion, concludes that DIB has not overcome the pre- 
sumption that a plaintiff who brings stlit in a partic- 
ular forum should be prepared to send its agents to 
be deposed there. 

As a general rule, a plaintiff who brings suit in a 

particular forum may not avoid appearing for exam- 
ination in that forum. See,e.g.,A.IA. Nuldings, S A .  
v. Lehnlnn Bros., Iric.. 97 Civ. 4978(LMiV)(ABP), 
2002 WL 1041356, at *I (S.D.N.Y. May 23, 2002) 
("JI]t is well settled that a plaintiff is ordinarily re- 
quired to make him or herself available for a depos- 
ition in the jurisdiction in which the action is 
brought."); Duly v. Deliu Airlines, Inc.. No. 90 Civ. 
5700(MEL)(MHD), 1991 WL 33392, at '1 
(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 7 ,  1991) (absent showing of sub- 
stantial hardship, and "in view of the fact that 
plaintiff chose to file his lawsuit here rather than in 
Ireland, it is hardly unreasonable to expect that he 
make himself available in the district where he is 
litigating his million dollar claim"); Cleni v. Allied 
ht ' l ,  102 F.R.D. 938. 939-40 (S.D.N.Y.1984) 
(nonresident plaintiff who sues in Southern District 
of New York must appear for deposition here ab- 
sent compelling circumstances); Grorrian, HeEf- 
ferich, Schulz, Th. Steinweg Naclif 1.. Steinwuy and 
Sons, 54 F.R.D. 280, 281 (S.D.N.Y.1971) ("Since 
plaintiff has chosen this forum, it cannot impose 
upon defendant the extraordinary expense and bur- 
den of traveling to a foreign country to conduct a 
deposition except on a showing of burden and hard- 
ship to the plaintiff."); Michael C. Silberberg. Civil 
Practice in the Sourhrrn Disrrici i,j iVew Lbrk g 
17.1 1 (2d ed. 2000) ("[Tlhe deposition of a plaintiff 
usually may be taken in the Southern District of 
New York notwithstanding the plaintiffs residence 
outside the district. The reason is that the plaintiff 
selected the Southern District as the forum for tri- 
al.") (collecting cases): cj:Sugarhill Records, 105 
F.R.D. at 171 ("[Defendant] Motown is a large cor- 
poration and cannot seriously contend that travel on 
behalf of the corporation by one of its managing 
agents is unexpected or that such travel to New 
York for deposition imposes a severe burden on 
it."). In the end, the decision as to the location of 
the deposition lies within the discretion of the 
court. SeeSlcgarhill Records, 105 F.R.D. at 
171 ;Federal Prriciice and Procedure $21 12. 

*13 DIB attempts to avoid the normal rule on sev- 
eral grounds. Some of these grounds are common to 
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all of the proposed deponents; some are specific to 
individual deponents. The Court will address the 
general objections first, then turn to the objections 
particular to individual deponents. 

DIB claims that many of the managing agents in 
question do not want to travel to the United States 
in general, and New York City in particular, in light 
of the perceived dangers related to the aftermath of 
events on September 11. 2001. Citibank contends 
that the risk for foreign travelers in New York is 
minimal, and in any event pales in comparison with 
the threat posed to Americans traveling in the 
Middle East. 

The Court agrees with Citibank that the dan, ~ e r s  to 
each party are not completely symmetrical. There is 
no evidence that foreign visitors to New York face 
any threat-or at least any threat greater than that to 
New Yorkers in general. SeeA.1.A. Holdings. S.A. v. 
Lehnzan Bros., Inc.. 97 Civ. 4978(LMM) (ABP), 
2002 WL 538833, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 10, 2002) 
("To the extent that Omaya and Huda assert anxiety 
concerning traveling to New York, their anxieties 
are baseless. There is no evidence in the record sug- 
gesting that individuals of Middle-Eastern ancestry 
have been subject to acts of revenge since the mass 
murders of September 1 I."). On the other hand. the 
State Department has issued warnings to Americans 
traveling abroad in general, and to the Middle East 
in particular. (Tucker Apr. 25, 2002 Let., Exs. 2-3.) 
More imporiantly. the Court agrees with those 
courts that have concluded that whatever the in- 
creased dangers both in the United States and 
throughout the world, the U.S. judicial system re- 
mains open for business; and its normal operations 
cannot be upset by mere invocation of the tragedy 
of September l 1.  See112 re Viiurnirzs Anriir&.rt Lirig., 
Misc. No. 99.197, MDL No. 1285. Memorandum 
Opinion Re: Deposition Locations, attached as Ex. 
C. to Letter of D. Scott Tucker, Esq., Jan. 10, 2002 
("Tucker Jan. 10, 2002 Let."), at l l  (D.D.C. Nov. 
30, 2001) C'[W]orld events do not change the oblig- 
ations of the foreign defendants with respect to this 
litigation."); Dean Foods Co. v. Eusrmun Ci~em. 

Co., No. C 00-4379, C 00-4402. Order Re Depos- 
itions, attached as Ex. D to Tucker Jan. 10. 2002 
Let., at 3 (N. D.Cal. Oct. 10, 2001) ("The business 
of the United States continues, and part of that busi- 
ness is the conduct of litigation."); e e  alsoAmeric- 
an lni'l Tel., Inc. v. Mony Travel Servs., Inc., 203 
F.R.D. 153, I55 (S.D.N.Y.2001) ("The Court can 
perceive no reason why Duran's alleged fear of fly- 
ing should require someone else to take to the 
skies."). In tlle Mowy Trsivel case, the court noted 
that post-September 11 excuses carried less weight 
where the party had been seeking to avoid appear- 
ing for deposition since before that date. SeeMony 
Travel, 203 F.R.D. at 155. Though not prepared to 
conclude that DIB has intentionally sought to frus- 
trate Citibank's legitimate discovery demands, the 
Court notes that Citibank had been attempting to 
depose many of the individuals in question since 
well before last September. In any event. the reluct- 
ance of nearly all of the proposed deponents to 
travel to the United States after September 11, 
2001, as reported in the Ellison Affidavit, does not 
defeat D B ' s  oblieation to produce them for depos- 
ition in New York. 

*14 DIB also claims that many of its witnesses can- 
not come to New York because of family ohliga- 
tions. In particular, many of its witnesses are h th-  
ers of "traditional Muslim famil[ies]" that depend 
on them not only financially, but also for such ser- 
vices as driving, something most of their wives can- 
not do. While not unsympathetic to the disruption 
to daily family life that foreign travel may cause, 
the Court nonetheless cannot allow the simple fact 
that the proposed deponents are Muslims with de- 
pendent families to overcome DIB's discovery oh- 
ligations. Permitting such an excuse would effect- 
ively insulate an entire segment of the global popu- 
lation from the ordinary rules of discovery, regard- 
less of having availed itself of the U.S. court sys- 
tem. Moreover, each of the deponents need appear 
in New York for at most a couple of days. 

DIB also contends that although it filed its Com- 
plaint in New York, it had no choice but to do so. 
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apparently referring to the forum selection clause in 
its contract with Citibank. (Letter of Frank C. 
Welzer, Esq., Jan. 7, 2002, at 7.) However, as Cit- 
ibank rightly contends. the fact that DIB agreed to 
such a clause only supports the conclusion that its 
officers should be required to appear in this forum 
for deposition. (Tucker Jan. 10, 2002 Let. at 6 n. 6.) 
Moreover. the Court notes that this is not a case in- 
volving an individual plaintiff with limited finan- 
cial resources, in which being forced to appear in a 
foreign forum would pose a significant economic 
hardship. CompareNormanile v. Grippo, No. 01 
Civ. 744L(JSR)(THK), 2002 WI> 59427, at "2 
[S.D.N.Y. Jan. 16. 2002) (nermittine telenhonic de- ,, b .  

position of Brazilian plaintiff where plaintiff was 
prose, had limited resources, and would have been 
forced to travel to New York with her infant child, 
and where case was neither complex nor involved 
many documents; thus, hardship to plaintiff in com- 
ing to New York clearly outweighed any prejudice 
to defendant from conducting deposition by tele- 
phone). 

Another common objection raised by DIB is the un- 
certainty surrounding the ability of some of the de- 
ponents to secure travel visas to the United States. 
However, Citibank has represented its willingness 
to work with DIB-and, as necessary, the State De- 
partment-to help secure the necessary travel docu- 
ments. FN:" 

WIO. Obviously, if visas cannot be se- 
cured-after a good faith. diligent, and doc- 
umented attempt-the Court will be con- 
fronted with a new set of circumstances 
that would require reconsideration of this 
decision. 

In his Declaration, Mr. Ellison asserts that several 
of the proposed deponents have medical problems 
that make their traveling to New York unadvisahle. 
hltr. Khalid has asthtr~a (Ellison Decl. at 3); Mr. 
Rahman has "slightly raised blood pressure" and 
also risks "deep vein thrombosis" if subjected to 
long-distance air travel (id. at 6-7); Mr. Fawzi Loo- 
tab has recently had eye surgery, and "says that he 

cannot fly anywhereX(id. at I@; and Mr. Karim has 
"a blood pressure problem. which he controls by 
medication"(id at 8). None of these conditions, ex- 
cept for Mr. Lootah's, is supported by any docu- 
mentation. and even Mr. Lootah's medical records 
conspicuously do not contain a doctor's note pro- 
hibiting air travel. Indeed, Mr. Lootah's eye surgery 
took place in India. not Dubai. and thus presumably 
required his traveling by air. As for the conditions 
of Messrs. Rahman and Khalid, DIB has been on 
notice for approximately a year with respect to each 
witness that Citibank wished to depose him in New 
York. and has never until now even suggested, des- 
pite extensive communication with this Court and 
Citibank concerning their depositions. that a medic- 
al condition might make coming here a problem. 
Accordingly, these medical objections. based on 
chronic conditions that presumably could have been 
raised at any time in the past year, have been 
waived. SeeA.1.A. Holdings, 2002 WL 538833, at 
*4. Finally, as for Mr. Karim's blood pressure prob- 
lem. Mr. Ellison himself concedes that this is con- 
trolled by medication; merely having a correcrable 
medical condition does not render one unable to 
travel. 

*I5 Finally, Dl13 notes that many of the proposed 
witnesses have miscellaneous personal obligations. 
such as the administration of a father's estate or the 
preparation for a daughter's wedding. that allegedly 
make travel to the United States undesirable or un- 
feasible. However; none of these objections appear 
to this Court to involve a substantial hardship or 
other compelling grounds for setting aside the nor- 
mal rule regarding the location of depositions, and 
none presents an insurmountable practical diffi- 
culty. Moreover, Citihank has indicated its willing- 
ness to work with DIB to accommodate these per- 
sonal concerns, such as by arranging the depos- 
itions of Mr. Al Rais and Mr. Ibrahim Lootah so as 
not to conflict with their required court appearances 
in Dubai. Further, Mr. Al Rsis's alleged weariness 
of testifying about the fraud does not constitute the 
type of compelling circumstance that would justify 
his being excused iiom testifying here: rather, it un- 
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derscores his apparent importance to the matters at 
hand. 

The Court has also considered DIB's various other 
objections to producing these witnesses in New 
York. and finds them without merit. Whatever 
hardship and practical difficulties may attend the 
appearance in New York of the seven managing 
agents herein discussed would be multiplied by re- 
quiring the taking of discovery in Dubai or else- 
where. Requiring depositions to take place in 
Dubai, or even London, would entail both sides to 
send abroad, for a far longer period than any one 
witness would be required to travel to New York, 
an entourage of lawyers, reporters, and translators, 
not to mention countless boxes of relevant docu- 
mentary materials. The logistical and financial bur- 
den of such an operation. not to mention the per- 
sonal risk to those in\,olved, greatly exceeds that of 
sending seven witnesses to New York for one or 
two days each. As for DIB's suggestion that Cit- 
ibank conduct telephonic or videotaped depositions, 
this is not a case where financial hardship or other 
good cause exists for departing from ordinary dis- 
covery procedures. Moreover, because of the lan- 
guage barriers and the need for interpreters; tele- 
phone depositions would not be practical. CJDaly, 
I991 WL 33392, at *I (noting that generally it is 
less cumbersome and more illuminating to conduct 
a face-to-face deposition). Additionally, the Court 
notes that given the highly contentious nature of 
this lawsuit, the availability of the Court to resolve 
disputes that may arise during depositions counsels 
in favor of conducting them in New York. 

The fact that letters rogatory regarding some of the 
witnesses are pending in Dubai does not preclude 
Citibank; the Defendant in this case, from conduct- 
ing normal discovery in accordance with the Feder- 
al Rules. Indeed, as far as this Court is aware. these 
letters have been pending a long time, and may ulti- 
mately prove fruitless. Finally. the Court also notes 
that DIB's objection that Citibank is seeking to de- 
pose an excessive number of witnesses is not well 
taken; as of January, DIB had deposed seventeen 
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Citibank fact witnesses. versus four DIB witnesses 
that Citibank had deposed. (Tucker Jan 10, 2002 
Let. at 2.) Though several more DIB witnesses have 
either been deposed or scheduled to be deposed 
since then, pursuant to this Court's direction. the 
disparity remains. As the Plaintiff in a quarter-bil- 
lion-dollar lawsuit, DIB cannot avoid its obliga- 
tions to furnish Citibank with a meaningful oppor- 
tunity to take discovery. 

CONCLUSION 

*I6 For the foregoing reasons, DIB's motion for a 
protective order shielding its employees from being 
subject to deposition by notice is granted with re- 
spect to Sayed Kamel Mansour, Mohammad Sadiq 
Mohammad Ali, and Sayed Najamui Hassan, and 
denied with respect to all others. Additionally, DIB 
may avoid producing Mr. Al Rabi'i for deposition 
upon the conditions discussed above. Regardless of 
whether DIB objects to any other portion of this Or- 
der, DlB shall immediately begin securing the visas 
and other travel documents necessary for the wit- 
nesses' travel to the United States; DIB shall 
provide the Court a written report of the status o l  
all outstanding visa applications by June 30, 2002. 

SO ORDERED 

S.D.N.Y.,2002. 
Duhai Islamic Bank v. Citibank. N.A. 
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 2002 WL 1159699 
(S.D.N.Y.) 

END OF DOCU-WNT 
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that the third factor, identification with the interests of the employ. 
er, is the "paramount test." '' 

The determination of whether a particular person is a "manag- 
ing agent" will be made by the trial court when the deposition is 
sought to be introduced or when sanctions me asked for the 
person's failure to appear for the taking of his or her depo~it ion.~~ 
On the tests suggested the court will hold the corporation hound if 
it determines that the deponent was a "managing agent" " but not 

pected to identify himself or herself topic of inquiq- in the deposition. At- 
with the interests of the corporation, lantic Coasr Insulating Co. v. U.S., 
Reed Paper Co. v. Proctor & Gamble D.C.N.Y.1964, 34 F.R.D. 450. 
Distnb. Co., D.C.Me.1992, 144 F.R.D. doubt as to proposed depo. 
2, 4, citing Wright & Miller. nents are "manaeini. a e e n t s  through - - -  - 

Terry v. Modern Woodmen of .America, whom discovery depositions of eorpo- 
D.C.Mo.1972. 57 F.R.D. 141. racion may he taken should be re- 

Tominnu v. Douglas Aircraft Ca.. solved in favor of examining party 
D.C.k.~.1968, 45 F.R.D. 94, 96. since ultimate determination as to 

xewark co. ". sartain, D .c .c~ .  whether defendant shall be bound by 

1957, 20 F.R.D. 583, 586. testimony is to he made by trial court. 
Tomingas v. Douglas Aircraft Co., 

Seaboard Coastline R. Co. 1.. Hughes, D,C,N,Y ,196 8, 45 F.R.D, 94. 
Tenn.1975, 521 S.W.2d 558, 561, 
quoting Wright & Miller. Final determination of whether particu- 

See also lar person is a "mansging agent" can- 
not be made in advance of taking his 

June T., inc. v, King, C.A.5th. 196i. 290 deposition. Eiugbes Bras., Inc, v. Cai. 
F.2d 404, 406 n. 1. lanan Road Imoravement Co.. 

29. Paramount test D.C.X.Y.1967, 41 F.R.D. 450. 

independent Productions Corp. v. 
Loew's, Inc., D.C.N.Y.1959, 24 F.R.D. 
19, 25. 

Newark Ins. Co. v. Sartain. D.C.Cal. 
1957, 20 F.R.D. 583, 586. 

30. Detemination later 

31. Managing agent 

See Atiantie Cape Fisheries v. Hartford 
Fire ins. Co., C.A.lst, 1975, 509 F.2d 
577, 579, citing Wright & Miller. 

%'here from exhibits and allegations, in- 
cludinr allegation that life insurer's 

Dunn v. Standard Fire Ins. Ca., 
D.C.Tenn.1981, 92 F.R.D. 31, 32. 
quoting Wright & Miller. 

When a notice is served to take a party's 
deposition "ty" a named employee 
arid pany moves to convert deposition 
into a witness deposition on ground 
employee is not a managing agent, 
party will be required to produce em- 
ployee and deposition I++!! be directed 
to proceed without prejudice to eon- 
tention thar employee is not a manag- 
ing agent, the employee's duties, au- 
thority and assignment being a proper 

- - 
sales agent represented to applicants, 
including deceased airman, that cover- 
age would become effective immedi- 
a t e !~  on completion of application 
form and execution of 9 M a y  irrevo- 
cable allotment in favor of insurer, it 
appeared that agent was in complete 
charge of negotiation and sde of in- 
surance contracts and had duties and 
$OW" of an insurance supemisor, 
sales agent was a "managing agent" 
for purpose of taking his deposition, in 
connection with suit against corporate 
insurer for breach of life policy, as to 
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if he or she was merely a subordinate employee.3a 

manner in which he allegedly obtained 
approval from air base to aell insur- 
ance to base personnel and any repre- 
sentations he made to airmen. T e w  
v. :Modern Woodmen of America, 
D.C.:Mo.l9?2, 57 F.R.D. 141. 

Engineen employed by defendant manu- 
facturer of airndt who had assisted 
Canadian government in investigation 
of crash causing death of plaintiffs 
decedent and who were in charge of 
identifying pieces of wreckage and 
who appeaxed to possess identity of 
interests with their employer were 
"maneging agents" for purpose of giv- 
ing testimony regarding accident in- 

ries. Fay v. U.S., D.C.W.Y.1958, 22 
F.R.D. 28. 

Second mate who was in charge of r-essel 
and had general supeniwry authority 
over it a t  the time of accident. Klop 
v. United Fruit CO., D.C.N.Y.1955, 18 
F.R.D. 310. 

Vessel's chief engineer, who was in 
charge of engine room where seaman 
was w e d ,  who had seaman under 
his general direction and supenision, 
and who had refused to discuss case 
with seaman's counsel, Wlus indicating 
his identity with interests of corpora- 
tion. Torres v. U.S. Lines &., 
D.C.N.Y.1961, 31 F.R.D. 209. 

vestigation, and defendant was obliged 
LO produce engineers for depositions. 32. Subordinate 

Tornineas v. Douglas Aircraft Co., Employees with no general power to err- 
~ . ~ . ~ . % . 1 9 6 6 ,  45 FR.D. 94. ekise judgment or discretion, whose 

Regional manager of a manufaduring work was lmgely routine, were not 

division of a krge corporation, respon- "managing agents." Nor were secre 

zible for transmitting policy decisions taries or stenographers. Colonial 

and supelvising one hundred employ- Capital Co. v. General Motors Corp., 

ees through zone managers, was a D.C.Conn.i961, 29 F.X.D. 514. 

.'managing agent." Colonial Capitd Burns Bros. v. The B. & 0. No. 177, 
Ca. v. General ?dotors Corn., D.C.N.Y.1957, 21 F.R.D. 142. . . 
D.C.Conn.1961, 29 F.R.D. 514. Gauss  v, Erie R. Co., D.C.N.Y.1954, 16 

Chief engineer of corporation. New b- F.R.D. Iz6. 
chelie Too1 Corp. 7. Ohio Crankshait Reid v. C.N. Cronin, Inc., D.C.N.Y.1954, 
Cc., D.&.Ohio 1960, 25 F.R.D. 20. 15 F.R.D. 337. 

Shin's officers A railroad conductor is not a managing 

Captain. cb=ef oEcer, or master of a 
sessel. Shenker v. r.S., D.C.N.Y. 
1960, 25 F R.D. 96. 

R'ilson v. Trinidad Corp., D.C.N.Y.1951, 
11 F.R.D. 191. 

Porrazzo v. Royal Xaii Lines, Ltd., 
D.C.N.Y.1944, 13 F.R.D. 320. 

- - 

agent within the discovery rules. Sea- 
board Coastline R. Co. v. Hughes, 
Tenn.1975, 521 S.W.Zd 558. 

A distributing agent of a corporation is 
not an "oflicer or managing agent" 
with respect to taking depositions of 
such agents. GiUam v. A. Shyroan, 
Inc., D.C.iZlaska 1958, 17 Alaska 747, 

See also as to a ship's master, June T., 22 F.R.D. 475. 

inc., v. King., C.A.5th, 1961, 290 F.2d General counsel is not an officer or man- 
404, 406 n. 1. aging agent, Schilling-Hillier S.A In- 

on %his principle the vnited states, = dustrial E Commercial v. Virginia- 

defendant in an. admiralty ease, has Carolina Chem. Corp., D.C.N.Y.1956, 

been required to produce the captain F.R.D. 271. 

or  chief oEcer of the vessels con- Under See. 26503 of the 1962 Code of 
cemed at the time of the alleged inju- Laws of Sonth Carolina, it was held 

If the corpo 
person examinec 
agent at the tim 
ly in Rule 32(a)( 
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Ch. 6 CORPORATIONS--ORGANIZATIONS 8 2 103 
Rule 30 

If the corporation is to be accountable for what was said, the 
person examined must have been an officer, director, or managing 
agent at the time the deposition was taken. This is stated explicit- 
ly in Rule 32(a)(2) and is fairly to be implied from Rule 37id). The 
purpose is t o  protect the party from the admissions of disgruntled 
former officers or agents.33 Thus, usually such former officers or 
agents can be examined only as any other witness, on subpoena and 
with the corporation not held accountable for what they say.34 

that an order directing that railroad 
be examined by and through engineer 
of train that allegedly struck decedent 
was not erroneous, notwithstanding 
that engineer was neither an offleer of 
the corporation nor an agent with 
general authority to act for the carpo- 
ration. Lewis v. Atlanta-Charlotte 
Airline Ry. Co., 1968, 159 S.E.2d 243, 
250 S.C. 528. 

Ship's officers 
ORcers of a ship, subordinate to the 

captain, are not mana@ng agents. 
Duncan v. U.S., D.C.N.Y.1954, 16 
F.R.D. 568. Thus a first mate under 
nornlal circumstances is not a manag- 
ing agent. Porrazzo v. Royal Mail 
Lines. Ltd., D.C.N.Y.1944, 13 F.R.D. 
320: Proseus u. Anchor Line, Ltd., 
D.C.N.Y.1960, 26 F.R.D. 165. 

Chief engineer of defendant's vessel, not 
in contrd of the vessel at time acci- 
dent occurred; was not subject to ex- 
amination as a manarine aeent whose 

defeat being deposed as officer of 
plaintiff would not necessarily make 
farmer president's testimony binding 
on plaintiff if that testimony were es- 
sentially hostile to plaintiffs interest. 
Cameo-Parkway Records, Ine. v. Pre- 
mier Albums, Inc., D.C.N.Y.1967. 43 
F.R.D. 400. 

Deposition of former president of eorpo- 
rate defendant could not he taken on 
basis of his heing an officer of the 
corporation when prior to date set for 
taking of the deposition he had been 
retired. Mitchell v. American Tobacco 
Go.. D.C.Pa.1963. 33 F.R.D. 262. 

Kolb v. A.H. Bull S.S. Co., D.C.N.Y.1962, 
31 F.R.D. 252. 

Deposition of corporation could not be 
taken through farmer vice president 
who was no longer an officer. empioy- 
ee or agent of the corporation. Cola- 
nial Capital Co. v. General Motors 
Corp., D.C.Conn.1961, 29 F.R.D. 514. - " -  

restimany could bind defendant, ai- 'When it appeared that party of whom 
though in charge of repair of air con- plaintiff in civil antitrust action 
ditioning system aboard the vessel, uished to take depositions was no 
and plaintifl's claim was based on a longer an offlcee director or employee 
defect in such system. Santiago v, of corporate defendant, and had been 
American Exuort Lines. Inc.. D.C.N.Y. personaily served with subpoena by 

plaintiff, court would not require mr- 
porate defendant to produce individu- 
al or to  errn nit his examination as an  

Independent Productions Corp. v, officer, &rector or employee of eorpo- 
Loew's Inc., D.C.N.Y.1959, 24 F.R.D. v. Twentieth Cent"- 
19. IT-Fox Film Corp., D.C.Neb.1958, 22 

Curry v. States Marine Corp., D.C.S.Y. F.R.D. 194. 
1954, 16 F.R.D. 376. Gf. 

34. Former officer Government is not required to produce a 
Fact that president of plaintiff corpora- retired employee. O'Tooie v. U.S., 

rion might have resigned in p u t  to C.A.Zd, 1960, 284 F.2d 792. 



9 2103 DEPOSITIONS 
Rule 30 

Ch. 6 

However, this principle has been applied in the light of its purpose. 
When the person involved retains such a connection with the 
corporation as to be loyal to it, his or her deposition has been 
considered that of the c~rpora t ion ,~~  and the same result had been 
reached when the person, even though no longer a managing agent, 
is still in the employ of the party.30 The burden is on the party 
seeking the examination to demonstrate, if the witness is not 
produced and sanctions are sought, that the witness is a managing 
agent?' 

8 2104. Leave of Court-When Required 
Until 1993, leave of court was usually not required to take a 

deposition. In general that remains true, except that the 1993 
amendments to Rule 26(d) impose a moratorium on formal discov- 
ery before the Rute 26(D meet-and-confer session1 and place nu- 
merical limitations on depositions as discussed below. The party 
seeking the deposition merely gives notice to the other parties and, 

But cf. fendants from taking deposition of for- 
Wnei-e person who had failed to appear mer president and smetary-treasurer. 

for his deposition was captain of the Independent Productions Cop.  v. 
ship at time of the loss and at  one Loew's, Inc., D.C.N.Y.1959, 24 F.R.D. 
rime was nresident ofthe plaintiff cor- 19. 
poration, but his status when the ac- independent ~ ~ ~ d ~ c t i ~ ~ ~  v. 
tion was mmmenced, when hew ' s  Inc., D.C.N.Y.1962, 30 F.R.D. 
was soueht. and when the action wm --- - a i l  
dwmssed was undear, appellate court 
proceeded on the assumption that his 36. still enrployed 
connection with the corporation con- 
tinued, since the corporation raised no 
issue on this point. Atlantic Cape 
Fisheries v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co., 
C.A.lst, 1975, 609 F.2d 577. 

35. Still loyal 

Deposition of a private corporation may 
be taken hy the ma te r  of it6 vessel 
who was in control of vessel at  time of 
injury for which suit is bmught, even 
though person formerly serving 8s 

master is serving as chief mate of an- - 
President and swetary-treasurer of other vessel at  time deposition is 

plaintiff corporations, who had re- sought. Fayv. U.S., D.C.N.Y.1958, 22 
signed their onices but who stood F.R.D. 28. 
ready to serve corporations should 
their talents he required and one of 37. Barden Qn diseove-g pa* 
whom actually did so after his rmigna- PI -O~~UB V. Ancsor Line, ~ t d . ,  D.C.N.Y. 
tion, and who possessed unique 1960, 26 F.R.D. 165. 
knowledge of relevant matters and 
who were sening diredopa, But cf. U.S. v. The Dorothy McAUister, 

and managing agent of corporations at D.C.N.Y.1959, 24 F.R.D. 316. 

time a& of defendant constitutine d- d 2104 - 
leged conspiracy occurred, were "man- 1. Rule 26(0 meeting 
aging agents," and corporations were 
not enQtled ta an order debarring de- See §§ 2046.1; 2051.1. 
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party desirin 
been followe 
deposition is 
notice and It 
order if the3 
taken.6 Of 
nesses may 1 
the court's 5 

As ame 
to the gener 
if t.he witne 

2. Notice an 
See § 2109. 

3. More con 
Advisory Con 

Rule 26ia). 

4. Motion fi 
Refusal to a u  

to take a de 
other city 
counsel Waf 

his client's 
swer was 8 
court was I 

C.A.1942, 1 
D.C. 357. 

A motion by 
swer, for e2 

fore trial, 
taining 81%' 
rule pertx 
Reitmeiste 
1944, 4 F.' 

Compare 
A different I 

&tiistoms I 
must be 1 

continene 
Ct.19?2, 2 
Wri&t '3 

plaintiff 





Page 1 of 4 

westla%% 
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d 
Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 1999 W L  20828 (S.D.N.Y.) 
(Cite as: Not Reported in F.Supp.2d, 1999 WL 20828 (S.D.N.Y.)) 

n 
Boss Mfg. Co. v. Hugo Boss AG 
S.D.X.Y.,1999. 
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 

United States District Court, S.D. New York. 
BOSS MANUFACTURING COMPANY, Plaintiff; 

v. 
Hugo Boss AG et al., Defendants. 
No. 97CIV.8495(SHS)(MHI)). 

Jan. 13, 1999. 

Martin D. Edel, Esq., Miller & Wrubel. P.C.. New 
York. 
Robert M. Bruskin, Esq., Howrey & Simon, Wash- 
ington, D.C. 
Wendy L. Adiss, Esq.. Coudert Brothers, New York. 

MEMORANDUM & ORDER 

DOLINGER. Magistrate J. 
"1 Plaintiff bas served notices of deposition for the 
testimony of four employees of defendant Hugo 
Boss AG, all of whom are located in Germany. It 
seeks to examine each of them in New York, pursu- 
ant to Fed.R,Civ.P. 30(b)(l), as managing agents of 
the defendant. 

Defendant has objected to all four proposed depos- 
itions. As to one witness, it concedes that he is a 
managing agent, but insists that he should be de- 
posed in Germany. As to a second witness, who is 
no longer employed by Hugo Boss. defendant re- 
ports that the witness will waive the applicability of 
the Hague Convention on the Taking of Evidence 
Abroad in Civil or Commercial Matters, 28 
U.S.C.A. # 1781 note (1997), but demands that he 
too be deposed in Germany. As for the other two, 
defendant asserts that they are not managing agents 
and hence are not amenable to deposition by notice 
tinder Rule 30. Accordingly, it argues that plaintiff 
should be required to proceed under the Convention 
if it wishes their testimony. 

Page I 

We are thus faced with a letter application by 
plaintiff to enforce their four deposition notices, 
and by a motion by defendant for a protective order 
vacating the notices on terms consistent with de- 
fendants' contentions. We grant defendants' motion 
in part and deny that of plaintiff, while requiring 
defendants to submit additional information con- 
cerning the job responsibilities of two of the pro- 
posed witnesses. I address the status of each wit- 
ness separately. 

1. Jorg Viggo Mullel 

Mr. Muller is the Chief Financial Officer and a 
managing Director of Hugo Boss AG. Defendants 
thus concede that he is a managing agent of the cor- 
poration and hence amenable to deposition by no- 
tice under Rule 30(b)(l). They argue, however, that 
his deposition, like that of all other German-based 
witnesses, should be taken in Germany. 

The general rule is that employees of a corporate 
party should ordinarily be deposed where they 
work, particularly if the corporation is a defendant. 
See, e.g., 6 J. Moore, Moore's Federal Practice $ 
26.105[3][b] at 6-267 (3d Ed.1998); 4 1. Moore. 
Moore's Federal Praciice '# 26.2211.-41 at 26-369 & 
n. 1 (2d Ed. l995)(citing cases). Although the court 
ceflainly bas discretion to alter that approach, it 
should carefully weigh the relative burdens in- 
volved, particularly bearing in mind the fact that 
the corporate defendant has not chosen to litigate, 
much less chosen the site of the litigation. 

In this case, the determination as to the locale of 
Mr. Muller's deposition cannot be made in a vacu- 
um. The current dispute involves the depositions of 
four German employees or former employees of the 
defendant. at least one of which-the deposition of a 
former employee of the defendant-plainly must take 
place in Germany. Moreover, it is apparent from 
plaintiffs arguments in connection with other dis- 
covery issues that it is likely to take a number of 
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other deposiiions of wiine.sses based in Germany. 
Thus. it is inevitable that depositions will be taken 
in Germany, and that accordingly an order requir- 
ing Mr. Muller to appear here will not avoid trans- 
Atlantic travel by counsel as part of discovery in 
this case. 

*2 We further note that the relative burdens in- 
volved strongly favor taking this and other depos- 
itions of German witnesses in Germany. A witness 
such as Mr. Muller will be made available for a full 
day of testimony. Necessarily, if he appears in the 
United States for such testimony he will have to 
commit two days for travel, as well as an additional 
day for preparation. Thus his total commitment 
would he four days. In contrast, if he were deposed 
in Germany. he would presumably lose only two 
days. 

Although plaintiffs attorney argues that he will be 
severely burdened if required to travel to Germany, 
we find his argument unconvincing. First, as we 
have noted, he will have to make the trip anyway 
unless he abandons a significant portion of his de- 
position plans. Second, although he complains of 
the difficulty of transporting 25,000 documents 
with him for use at the deposition, this is plainly a 
strawman. Counsel will obviously neither need nor 
be able to use anything remotely approaching thou- 
sands of documents at this deposition, which is pre- 
sumptively limited to one day. Moreover, we have 
no doubt that, as a very competent attorney, 
plaintiffs counsel will prepare in advance for this 
and the other depositions and thus set aside for use 
those documents that he believes will he of assisr- 
ance to him at the deposition. Furthermore, to the 
extent that he decides that he may need to refer to 
large quantities of documents at the deposition, he 
can obviously ship them by air courier to Germany 
in advance of the deposition. Also, the availability 
of facsimile transmission will ensure that even if 
counsel discovers that he needs any additional doc- 
uments that he omitted to take with him, they can 
be provided to him with minimal delay. 

Counsel's remaining complaint is the need to bring 

along a court reporter from the United States, The 
resulting added cost would presumably be quite 
small when compared with the expenses currently 
being absorbed by the plaintiff in this litigation, hut 
in any event we are offered no reason to believe 
that competent reporters who are fluent in English 
cannot he obtained in Germany. 

In sum, we conclude that the deposition of Mr. 
Muller, although properly obtained by notice of de- 
position, should be held in Germany. 

2. Andreas Zubel 

Until December 31, 1998 Andreas Zubel was an as- 
sistant product manager for licensed goods at Hugo 
Boss AG. As of January 1, 1999 he is no longer in 
the employ of defendant, although he continues to 
work and reside in Germany. 

Defendant argues that, as a former employee, Mr. 
Zubel cannot be required to appear as a managing 
agent of Hugo Boss. even if he held that status prior 
to his resignation. Defendant goes on to argue that 
in any event Mr. Zubel was not a managing agent 
while employed by it. 

As a general matter, a corporation cannot be re- 
quired to produce a former officer or agent for de- 
position since it does not have control over him. 
See, e.g., DeLetelier v. Republic of Chile, 748 F.2d 
790. 795 n.2 (2d Cir.1984); Bon Air Hotel, Inc. v. 
T im,  Inc., 376 F.2d 118, 121 (5th Cir.1967), cert. 
denied.393 U.S. XI5 (1968); General Houses, Inc. 
v. Marloch Mfg. Corp., 239 F.2d 510, 513 (2d 
Cir.1956); Independent Prods. Corp. i. LoewS Inc., 
27 F.R.D. 426, 428 (S.D.N.Y. 1961). There is some 
authority for the proposition that that principle gov- 
erns only in instances in which the managing agent 
was no longer employed by the corporation at the 
time when the deposition notice was served, see I 
M. Silberberg, Civil Practice in the Soirrllern Dis- 
trict of Neiv York 6 17.04 at 17-10 to 1 1  (1995). but 
we infer that such an approach would he defensible 
only in circumstances in which the departure of the 
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managing agent was brought about by the corpora- 
tion for the purpose of frustrating the other side's 
ability to obtain his testimony. See, e.g., In re 
Honda American Motor Co. Inc. Dealership Rela- 
tions Litigation, 168 F.R.D. 535, 541 (D.Md.1996); 
Iridrprtrderrt Prods. Coip. i. Loewk Iizc, 24 F.R.D. 
19.23 (S.D.N.Y.1959).'n1 

FNI.  The more commonly articulated rule 
is that the witness's status, at least for pur- 
pose of binding the corporation, is to be 
determined at the time of the deposition. 
See, e.8.. 7 J. Moore, Moore's Federal 
Practice Q: 30.03[2] at 30-20 & n.15 (3d 
Ed. 1998) (citing cases). 

*3 In this case there is no suggestion that defendant 
chose to terminate its ties with Mr. Zubel, much 
less that it did so for the purpose of denying his 
testimony to plaintiff. (See Declaration of Gert- 
Jurgen Frisch, executed Dec. 23, 1998, at 1 4 
(Zubel "has given notice")). Indeed, defendant rep- 
resents that Mr. Zubel is wdling to waive the other- 
wise applicable requirement that plaintiff proceed 
under the terms of the Hague Convention, and in- 
stead will complj~ with a notice of deposition, 
provided that the deposition is held in Germany. (Id.). 

Since there is no question that Mr. Zubel cannot be 
compelled to travel to the United States, plaintiff 
will be required to take his deposition, if it wishes 
his testimony, in his home country. Moreover, for 
the reasons that we have already noted with respect 
to Mr. Muller, even if this court had the ability to 
compel Mr. Zubel to appear in the United States for 
this purpose, we would not exercise that power. In- 
deed, the case for conducting this deposition in 
Germany is still stronger with regard to this witness 
since he is no longer even affiliated with a party to 
the lawsuit, and thus will appear solely as a non- 
party witness. 

3. Aleksundra Anlnnovrc and Slbvlle Weiler-Theer 

Ms. Aleksnndra Amanovic and Ms. Sibylle Weller- 
Theer are identified as "product managers" for 
Hugo Boss, one specializing in "bodywear and 
socks" and the other in "license products". We are 
told that both report to the "Creative Director", who 
in turn reports to a corporate officer and Board 
member. (Id. at 1 5). Defendant's affiant also recites 
that "neither has the authority to bind the corpora- 
tion in its business dealings with others" and that 
"neither can exercise discretion or judgment in cor- 
porate matters; and neither has final authority with 
respect to significant decisions affecting the 
products under their supervision."(ld.). 

These assertions are intended to demonstrate that 
neither witness is a managing agent. and that there- 
fore their depositions must be taken under the Con- 
vention. We conclude that there is insufficient in- 
formation on the current record to permit ns to 
make this determination, and direct therelbre that 
the record he supplemented. 

The test for a managing agent is not formulaic. The 
generally accepted criteria require the court to look 
to three or five factors. To qualify as a managing 
agent, it is generally said that the individual 
"should possess general powers to exercise judg- 
ment and discretion in corporate matters .... [,I 
should be a person who can be relied upon to give 
testimony, at the employer's request. in response to 
the demand of the examining party .... [and] should 
be a person who can be expected to identify with 
the interests of the corporation." 7 Moore, supra, Q: 
30.03[2] at 30-20. In addition, a number of courts 
in this district have articulated as separate consider- 
ations whether there are other persons "in positions 
of higher authority than the individual designated in 
the area for which information is sought by the de- 
position" and "the general responsibilities of the in- 
dividual respecting the matters involved in the litig- 
ation."(Id.) (citing Sugarhill Records Ltd. v. Mo- 
tolv11 Record Corp., 105 F.K.D. 166, 170-71 
(S.D.N.Y. 1985)).Accord, e.g.. United States v. 
Afrcnn Lines (USA), Lid., 159 F.R.D. 408, 413 
(S.D.N.Y.1994). 

O 2008 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. 



Not Reported in F.Supp.2d 
Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 1999 WL 20828 (S.I).N.Y.) 
(Cite as: Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 1999 WL 20828 (S.D.N.Y.)) 

Page 4 of 4 

Page 4 

*4 It is also generally said that the pasty seeking the 
deposition carries the burden on this issue. although 
it is not entirely clear whether the burden is one of 
production or persuasion or both. See, e.g., Afrum 
Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 433.14 (suggesting burden 
varies depending on whether deposing party has 
had complete discovery on issue). In any event, the 
burden is a modest one in that the deposing party 
need only demonstrate "that there is at least a close 
quesuon" as to whether the witness is a managins 
agent. See id. at 4l3.Moreover, under such circum- 
stances it has been suggested-and plausibly so-that 
a determination that the witness is a managing 
agent may be made provisionally, that is, for de- 
termining whether a subpoena is needed, while 
awaiting the deposition testimony before determin- 
ing whether the witness is an agent for pusposes of 
binding the corporation. See id. at 413-14. 

In any event, in this case plaintiff has not yet had 
the discovery alluded to concerning the witnesses' 
job responsibilities and the extent of their mana- 
gerial duties and powers. Indeed, defendants de- 
clined to provide a description of the witnesses' 
corporate roles in answering plaintiffs second set 
of interrogatories. and thus plaintiffs only proffer is 
that they have primary knowledge of the facts per- 
tinent to a variety of issues in this case. We may 
also infer that, as apparently fairly senior manage- 
ment personnel, they would appear to testify if so 
instructed by defendant and that they identify with 
the interests of their employer. 

Although this record satisfies two of the key criteria 
for determining managing agent status, plaintiff has 
not yet demonstrated that the witnesses possess the 
requisite status within the company. Knowledge of 
the evidentiary facts alone is not tantamount to pos- 
sessing the attributes of a managing agent- 
particularly the authority to exercise judgment and 
discretion-although it may be mildly probative of 
such a status in appropriate circumstances. We 
note, however, that defendants' responding declara- 
tion offers no meaningful factual support to their 
position that these two witnesses are not managing 

agents. Mr. Frisch's declaration does little more 
than parrot the very general legal criteria. while as- 
serting that the two employees do not meet these 
criteria. This is plainly inadequate for the court to 
make a meaningful determination of this essentially 
factual question. 

Since plaintiff has not had the discovery necessary 
to address in a meaningful way these witnesses' role 
in the company and their job duties. and since that 
information is exclusively within the possession of 
the defendants. we deem it appropriate to require 
defendants to make a supplemental submission of 
evidence concerning the precise duties, responsibil- 
ities and powers of the two witnesses in order to 
permit us to make the required determination as to 
their status. In doing so we view plaintiffs initial 
submission as at least adequate to trigger an obliga- 
tion on the part of the defendants to come forward 
with specific information pertinent to the applica- 
tion of the governing criteria. That submission is to 
be made by declaration or affidavit by no later than 
January 19, 1999. 

CONCLUSION 

*5 For the reasons noted. the depositions of Messrs. 
Muller and Zubel are to be conducted in Germany 
pursuant to notice. at an agreed upon date and loca- 
tion. As for Ms. Amanovic and Ms. Weller-Theer, 
we direct defendants to serve and file one or more 
affidavits or declarations by January 19, 1999 de- 
scribing in detail the nature of their corporate re- 
sponsibilities and functions, and the extent of the 
authority that they exercise in their respective cor- 
porate positions. Plaintiff may serve and file re- 
sponding papers by January 22, 1999. 

S.D.N.Y.,1999. 
Boss Mfg. Co. \I. Hugo Boss AG 
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d. I999 WL 20828 
(S.D.N.Y.) 

END OF DOCG.:MENT 
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Malletier v. Dooney & Bourke, Inc. 
S.D.N.Y.,2006. 
Only the Westlaw citation is currently available. 

United States District Court.S.D. New York 
Louis Vuitton MALLETIER, Plaintiff. 

v. 
DOONEY & BOURKE, INC.; Defendant. 

No. 04 Civ. 5316 RMB MHD. 

Nov. 30, 2006. 

MEMORANDUM & ORDER 

DOLINGER, Magistrate J. 
*1 The parties are once again locked in a series of 
disputes about the propriety of their discovery re- 
quests and the adequacy of their discovery re- 
sponses. We now address these disputes in roughly 
the order in which they have been presented to us. 

1. Defe~~dunt's Motion for Preclusion of Secondan 
Meaning Evidence 

Defendant Dooney & Bourke, Inc. ("DB") has 
moved for an order precluding plaintiff Louis Vuit- 
ton Malletier ("LV") from offering any evidence of 
secondary meaning. It bases this application on 
plaintiffs asserted failure to provide a responsive 
answer to an interrogatory (# 15) posed by defend- 
ant in December 2005. According to defendant. 
plaintiffs refusal to comply with its discovery ob- 
ligations in this respect persisted in the face of two 
court orders and finally necessitated the current 
motion. 

The interrogatory in question instructed plaintiff to: 

ldentify each person involved in preparing or super- 
vising any survey. focus group, or other consumer/ 
market testing conducted by or for 1.V concerning 
any trademark or element thereof identified in In- 
terrogatory No. 1 [LV's infringed trademarks], any 

Page 1 

product identified in Interrogatory No. 3 ILV's S- 
lock products], or any product identified in Inter- 
rogatory No. 7 [Dooney & Burke's infringing 
products]. 

(Declaration of Brian D. O'Reilly. Esq.. executed 
Sept. 11. 2006, at Ex. B). In plaintiffs initial re- 
sponse, on February 14, 2006, it listed a series of 
boilerplate objections. and then offered the foilow- 
ing as its complete response: 
subject to and without waiving the foregoing objec- 
tions ... no survey is necessary or relevant concern- 
ing the S-Lock Trademark because the PTO Exam- 
iner determined that the S-Lock Trademark has ac- 
quired secondary meaning and Plaintiff owns an in- 
contestable registration of said mark. 

(Id, Ex. C) 

The unresponsiveness of this answer. as well as nu- 
merous other disputes between the parties; triggered 
a series of letter motions by both sides, starting in 
April 2006. While these many controversies were 
being briefed, plaintiff served amended responses 
to defendant's interrogatories and document re- 
quests on May 1 I ,  2006. In the revised version of 
its answer to interrogatory 15, LV included its as- 
sertion of inelevance in its objections as well as in 
its substantive answer. The substantive answer reit- 
erated plaintiffs prior answer and then added one 
sentence: 

Subject to and without waiving the foregoing ... ob- 
jections, Plaintiff states that no survey is necessary 
or relevant concerning the S-Lock trademark be- 
cause the PTO determined that the S-Lock Trade- 
mark has acquired secondary meaning and Plaintiff 
owns an incontestable registration of said mark. To 
date, Plaintiff has not conducted any survey, focils 
group, or other consumer/marketing specifically for 
the S-Lock Trademark concerning DBl's infringing 
products. 

(Declaration of Alison Arden Besunder, Esq.. ex- 
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ecuted Sept. 22, 2006, Ex. A). As is apparent from 
the text of the answer, it did not address at least two 
of the three items requested in the interrogatory, 
that is, surveys or other studies pertaining to I.V's 
S-lock products (as distinguished from the S-lock 
trademark) and surveys or other studies concerning 
defendant's assertedly infringing products. 

"2 After further briefing on this interrogatory and 
the other discovery imbroglios. the court entered an 
order on July 20, 2006 disposing of all outstanding 
issues. With respect to interrogatory 15, it simply 
directed that LV was "to provide (a] complete tex- 
tual answer" by August 3, 2006. Louis Vuirton Ma/- 
Eerier v. Dooney & Bourke, Inc.. 2006 WL 
2109472, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. July 20,2006). 

Plaintiffs attempted compliance with the July 20 
order came in the form of a letter to defendant's 
counsel dated August 3. 2006. (O'Reilly Decl.. Ex. 
F). With regard to interrogatory 15, plaintiffs coun- 
sel stated that "LV has already provided a complete 
textual response [apparently referring to the May 11 
version of its answer and objections] and reiterates 
its response to that Interrogatory. LV cannot identi- 
fy any individuals involved in a consumer survey 
because, as stated in its existing response to Inter- 
rogatory No. 15, no survey has been conducted to 
date."(ld.. Ex. F a t  4). 

The court conducted a hearing on remaining dis- 
covery disputes on August 7, 2006. At that time de- 
fendant raised, among other matters, the asserted 
inadequacy of plaintiffs response to interrogatory 
15. In the course of the colloquy the court requested 
a copy of the interrogatory answer at issue, and 
plaintiff supplied-albeit inadvertently-a copy of its 
original (February) response, which the court un- 
surprisingly noted was entirely unresponsive. The 
court then directed that plaintiff supply a revised 
and more forthcoming answer. (Tr. 33). 

On August 14. 2006 plaintiff served a modified re- 
sponse. At'ter reciting various objections, it stated: 

To date, Plaintic has not conducted any "survey, 

focus group, or other consumerlmarket testing" 
concerning "any trademark or element thereof iden- 
tified in Interrogatory No. 1'' or "any product iden- 
tified in Interrogatory NO. 7". Accurdingly, 
Plaintiff cannot identify any "person involved in 
preparing any survey. focus group, or other con- 
sumerlmarketing testing" because none has been 
conducted to date. 

Plaintiff is continuing to investigate whether any 
"survey, focus group, or other consumerlmarket 
testing" has been conducted concerning or other- 
wise related to an). of the more than 300 pn)ducis 
bearing the S-Lock Trademark which are identified 
in documents already produced to Dooney & 
Bourke, Inc. in response to Interrogatory No. 3 and 
will supplement this response with additional in- 
formation if, as and when it becomes necessary. 

(O'Reilly Decl., Ex. G). Finally. on September 15, 
2006 plaintiff supplemented its response. In that 
supplementation, it added that it bad not "yet" un- 
dertaken "any 'survey, focus group, or other con- 
sumerlmarket testing' concerning ... any product 
identified in Interrogatory No. 3.'' It also included a 
somewhat cryptic caveat: 
Plaintiff further states that although the survey con- 
ducted in the action captioned Louis V~rittnn iMci1- 

letier 11. Dooney & Bourke. Inc.. 04 Civ. 2990(SAS) 
by Jacob Jacoby PhD involved one photograph that 
depicted LV "multicolor" product bearing an S- 
Lock lock, the survey did not "concern" any S- 
Lock product or ask any question about the S-Lock 
design itself. 

*3 (Besunder Decl., Ex. D). 

Shortly before the service of the latest version of 
plaintiffs response, defendant filed the current mo- 
tion, seeking to preclude plaintiff from offering any 
evidence that the trademarks at issue had acquired 
secondary meaning. Its application is based on the 
assertion that LV has repeatedly failed to provide a 
full and truthful response to interrogatory 15, and 
that its conduct violated both its discovery obliga- 
tions and two court orders. Plaintiff of course op- 
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poses the motion. 

There is no question that LV's original answer to 
the interrogatory was entirely unresponsive, since 
all that plaintiff said, in substance. was that the in- 
quiry about surveys, focus groups and the like con- 
cerning (a) the trademark, (b) the LV products that 
carried the lock and (c) the assertedly infringing 
products of Dooney & Bourke called for informa- 
tion that was irrelevant. supposedly because of L V s  
registration of the trademark.N!By its July 20 or- 
der and the directive it announced at the August 7 
hearing. the court rejected that assertion and direc- 
ted a responsive answer. SeeLouis Vuitton Mrilleti- 
el-, 2006 WL 2109472, at "7; Aug. 7.2006 Tr. 33). 

FNI.  Apart from being unresponsive. this 
answer ignored the fact that defendant was 
seeking, by a counterclaim, a declaration 
that the trademark registration was invalid, 
hence posing the possibility that secondary 
meaning would he highly relevant in the 
litigation. 

By its second amended response. on August 14, and 
its supplementation of that response on September 
15, 2006, plaintiff appears to have supplied a fully 
responsive answer, although its reference lo the 
"multicolor" study leaves one ambiguity. In sub- 
stance, plaintiff has said thtat it had not-as of at least 
September 15-undertaken any of the studies or tests 
that would be responsive to the defendant's inquir- 
ies. If that accurately characterizes plaintiff's inten- 
ded meaning, then it has finally met its obligation 
with regard to the interrogatory in question. 

In opposing that conclusion, defendant suggests 
that the truthfulness of the response is in question, 
not only because of the stated reservation with re- 
gard to the "multicolor" survey, but also because 
the lack of any such studies is entirely implausible, 
and would seem to put the lie to representations 
made by LV to the Patent and Trademark Office 
("PTO) when seeking trademark registration. (DB 
Reply Mem. at 4-5, 6-7). Neither argument justifies 
preclusive sanctions. 

To remedy the ambiguity resulting from the re- 
cently stated caveat about the "multicolor" survey, 
we direct that LV supply an affidavit to defendant 
by a knowledgeable LV employee stating whether 
its denial of any such tests or studies concerning S- 
lock products in its September 15 response encom- 
passes all of its products that have an S lock. As for 
defendant's qualms about the truthfulness of the in- 
terrogatory answer, Dooney & Bourke will be per- 
mitted-if it so elects-to depose a knowledgeable 
witness concerning the factual basis for the inter- 
rogatory answer. This is to be completed within the 
next ten days. Insofar as defendant contends that 
the absence of such studies or testing is arguably 
inconsistent with any representations that LV made 
to the PfO, DB is of course free to use such asser- 
ted inconsistencies to support its argument, either at 
trial or on summary judgment, that the trademark 
should be invalidated. 

*4 In view of these conclusions. defendant's de- 
mand for preclusion or equivalent sanctions cannot 
be justified. The record reflects slow and grudging 
responses by plaintiff, but not the sort of prejudicial 
misconduct that would justify case or issue- 
preclusive ~anctions.'~'ln short, this aspect of de- 
fendant's motion is denied."x) 

FN2. Although we note plaintiffs resist- 
ance to full disclosure over a period of 
months, we do not agree with defendant's 
assertion that LV's September 15 supple- 
mentation was untimely or otherwise in vi- 
olation of a court directive. Although we 
did direct that LV supplement its response 
within one week-that is, by August 14-we 
also agreed to plaintiffs request that, to the 
extent that knowledgeable LV personnel 
were not available because of the August 
holiday period, responses could be delayed 
to September 15. (Aug. 7, 2006 Tr. 29-30). 
Plaintiff represents, without meaningful 
contradiction, that the individuals who 
could respond to interrogatory 15 with re- 
spect to the 300 or more S-lock products 
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were unavailable in mid-August. 
(Declaration of Alison Arden Besunder, 
Esq.. executed Sept. 22, 2006, at ¶ 9; LV 
Mem. in Opp'n at 5). 

FN3. Under these circumstances, we need 
not address the question of whether the 
scope of the preclusion sought by defend- 
ant would be defensible if some form of 
preclusive sanction were justified. 

TI. Defendants' Morion to Cornpel Production or  
Listing of Regisrrarion-Reluted Documents 

Defendant has filed a motion that seeks full en- 
forcement of its request for all documents concern- 
ing the design of the S-lock trademarks or the pro- 
secution of those trademarks and any renewals, ex- 
tensions and declarations designed to make the 
trademarks incontestable. (DB Mem. Supp. at I, 7). 
The relief that DB seeks is an order requiring that 
LV either produce those documents or list them in a 
privilege log if it deems them privileged. (Id. at 7). 
Because plaintiff represents that it has produced all 
responsive non-privileged documents in its own 
possession (LV Mem. Opp'n at 6-7) in substance 
the defendant's motion targets those documents re- 
lated to the trademark that are held by outside 
counsel to LV.IX4 According to DB, such attor- 
ney-held documents are within the custody or con- 
trol of plaintiff, since the client has a right of access 
to the documents held by his attorney that were cre- 
ated in representing him. (DB Mem. at 5-6). 

FN4. The parties spend much time and ink 
debating whether defendant asked for these 
documents in its first document request 
and whether the court ordered their pro- 
duction in its July 20 order. This dispute 
appears entirely irrelevant to the relief that 
defendant seeks. There is no question that 
DB sought these documents in its second 
request, and since plaintiff has plainly de- 
clined to search for or produce documents 
held by its outside attorneys, the issue for 
resolution does not turn on whether there 

was an order prior to August 7, 2006 that 
dealt with these documents. 

Plaintiff has filed a cross-motion for a protective 
order and opposes DB's motion, albeit rather half- 
heartedly. It says that it has produced all of its non- 
privileged documents. including some documents 
that were transmitted between counsel and the com- 
pany, but it concedes the possibility (which DB 
characterizes as a vinual certainty) that its outside 
attorneys are in possession of documents that have 
not been produced or placed on a privilege log. As 
to those documents, plaintiff says that DB should 
proceed by subpoenaing the law firm or firms in 
question rather than pressing its Rule 34 demand. It 
defends this suggestion by speculating that some of 
the withheld documents may constitute work 
product, and by noting that in such a case the attor- 
neys would have a protectible interest in the confid- 
entiality of the documents. (LV Mem. Opp'n at 1 n. 
1, 6 & n .  8). 

The short answer to LV's argument is that plaintiff 
has a right of access to documents held by its out- 
side counsel that pertain to work performed for it 
by those attorneys, see,e.g.,Marrin v. Valley Nclt'l 
Bank, 140 F.R.D. 291, 320-21 (S.D.N.Y.1991) 
(citing cases), and hence it has at least constructive 
control over those documents for purposes of Rule 
34. See,e.g.,MTB Bank L,. Federal Annored Exp., 
Inc., 1998 WL 43125, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 2, 
1998); Variable-Parameter Fix. Dev. Corp. v. 
Morpheus Lights, Inc., 1994 WL 419830, at *6 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 10, 1994).SeegenerallyML.C., Inc. 
v. North Am. Philips Corp ,  109 F.R.D. 134, 136 
(S.D.N.Y.1986). Moreover, plaintiffs argument in 
favor of the subpoena process proves too much. 
First, even if the attorneys have an interest in their 
own work product, so too does the client. 
See,e.g.,Polirr v. Wisekirt,  2002 WL 1033807, at *2 
(S.D.N.Y. May 22, 2002); Martin, 140 F.R.D. at 
320 (attorney may not withhold work product from 
client) (citing cases).Fxs Second. it is still more 
likely that some of the documents held by the attor- 
neys are protected by the attorney-client privilege. 

O 2008 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works. 



Not Reported in F.Supp.2d 
Not Reported in F.Supp.2d. 2006 W L  3476735 (S.D.N.Y.) 
(Cite as: Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 2006 WL 3476735 (S.D.N.Y.)) 

and that privilege belongs to the client. 
See,r.g.,Uni~ed Stutes v. Doe, 429 F.3d 450, 452-53 
(3d Cir.2005); United States v. Amodeo, 71 F.3d 
1044; 1052 (2d Cir.1995). Given that fact, LV's 
reasoning-that the demand should be made to the 
party with a legal interest in confidentiality-actually 
supports the relief demanded by DB. Third, LV's 
reference to a possible work-product claim is en- 
tirely speculative on the current record, " h n d  in 
any event plaintiff and its outside lawyers can be 
expected to work cooperatively together to identify 
those documents that belong on a privilege list, 
whether as attorney-client privileged or as work 
product. 

FN5. Indeed, as the court noted in Martin, 
in the event of a conflict between the client 
and the attorney, the client's interest in the 
work product is paramount, and the attor- 
ney cannot maintain its confidentiality in 
the face of the client's contrary posture. Id. 
at 321. 

FN6. We note that work-product immunity 
does not ordinarily apply to the exparte 
prosecution of a patent or trademark ap- 
plication. SeeConrnti~nication$ L.P. v. 
Hewlett-Puckurd Co., 1999 WL 331 17227, 
at "2 (D.D.C. Dec. 3, 1999); In re Applica- 
tion of Minrbea Co., 143 F.R.D. 494, 499 
(S.D.N.Y.1992). We address this issue 
more specifically in connection with still 
another motion by DB. See pp. 47-48, in-fro. 

*5 In short, there is no reason to require defendant 
to proceed by way of subpoena in this instance, 
Plaintiff is therefore directed to produce to DB, or 
list as privileged, the documents held by its outside 
counsel that pertain to the design of the trademarks 
or their registration. This is to be done within seven 
days.""' 

FN7. Plaintiff states in passing that the ob- 
ligation to search for documents cannot ex- 
tend to attorneys' offices that are overseas. 
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(LV Mem. at 611.7). It offers no basis for 
this limitation, and we see none. The docu- 
ments are within the control of an entity 
that has chosen to litigate here and that 
consequently has an obligation to produce 
responsive documents in its custody or 
control irrespective of where on the globe 
they are located. See,e.g..Socicte Nationale 
Ind~rstrielle Aerosputiale v. United States 
Dist. Court, 482 U.S. 522,539-40 (1987). 

111. Pluinrif.~ "Cro.s.s-Motion" to Determine the 
Scope of its Future Privilege Waiver 

In response to DB's motion to compel. LV filed 
what it labels as a cross-motion. In that application, 
plaintiff invites the court to opine on the scope of 
the attorney-client privilege waiver that would be 
occasioned if LV agreed to produce to defendant 
otherwise privileged documents that perrain to the 
communications that DB contends constituted a 
fraud by LV on the PTO. (LV Mem. Opp'n at 7-1 1). 

As characterized by plaintiff. defendant challenges 
the validity of the S-lock trademark registrations by 
asserting that two sets of documents submitted by 
LIT to the PTO-an Amendment to Allege Use 
signed by Audrey Sylvain-Richer in connection 
with one registration and the Section 8 and 15 De- 
claration signed by Yves Carcelle in connection 
with a second registration-constituted a fraud on the 
PTO. According to plaintiff, it offered to produce to 
defendant "documents on the privilege log related 
to these topics $ DB[ 1's counsel would agree that 
such production would not effectuate a broader 
waiver of the privilege beyond those topics 'at is- 
sue." ' (LV Mem. Opp'n at 7) (emphasis in origin- 
al ). 

Invoking Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(cj, plaintiff asks the 
court to rule in advance that if it waived its attor- 
ney-client privilege for the limited purpose of pro- 
ducing documents in the described categories- 
which plaintiff views as responsive to those 
"subject matters that are placed 'at issue' by DB[ j's 
counterclaims alleging fraud" (id)-the waiver will 
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not be deemed to extend beyond those subject mat- 
ters. The particular concern expressed by LV is that 
the waiver not be deemed to extend to registrations 
other than for the specified trademarks, that is. 
"registrations entirely unrelated to this 
lawsuit."(Seei~l. at 8). 

Defendant has not specifically taken issue with this 
application. and we see no problem with responding 
to plaintiffs request. albeit at an appropriate level 
of generality, consistent both with the generality of 
plaintiffs description of the extent of its intended 
production and with the fact that plaintiff, having 
not clearly committed to any production, is seeking 
at least in part what seems to consist of an advisory 
opinion. The standards for determining the scope of 
a privilege waiver have been the subject of much 
judicial authorship in many contexts, and able 
counsel can read the cases as precisely as we can. 

The plaintiffs description of the standards govern- 
ing the scope of a waiver triggered by the voluntary 
production of documents in civil litigation-that is, 
that the waiver is generally limited to the subject 
matter of the documents for which privilege has 
been surrendered and that the discovering party 
would have to justify any broader waiver (id. at 
9)-appears accurate, although we are obviously not 
in a position to provide LV with advance immuniz- 
ation from arguments that may be asserted by DB 
on the basis of facts unknown at the present, partic- 
ularly those arising from the substance of the docu- 
ments to be produced. Furthermore. if defendant 
has other theories of waiver-that is, based on mat- 
ters other than plaintiffs proposed voluntary pro- 
duction of privileged documents-we cannot exclude 
them or reject them in the context of this rnotion.FN8 

FN8. We note that in a later motion, which 
we address below, DB in fact advances a 
number of alternative waiver theories. See 
p. 43, infru. 

*6 In sum, piaintiffs motion on this topic is  ranted 
to the extent noted. If plaintiff intends to produce 

documents currently on its privilege log on a volun- 
tary basis, it is to do so within seven days .rn9 

FN9. We note that, in addressing DB's 
later motion to compel production of priv- 
ileged documents. we reject certain cat- 
egories of privilege claims by LV. See pp. 
45-48, infra.We assume that those overlap 
in part or in whole with the log entries at 
issue on LV's current motion. 

IV.  defendant'.^ Motion to Preclude Regurdlng 
Customer Comn?lrnicutions 

In December 2005 defendant served its first Rule 
34 request, which sought from LV, among other 
items, "lalll documents concerning any customer 
communications regarding any LV product andlor 
any return of an LV product ...." (Declaration of 
Brian D. O'Reilly, Esq., executed Sept. 28, 2006, 
Ex. J at ¶ 14). At plaintiffs request. the due date for 
responding to the entirety of the request was ad- 
journed from January 9 to 14. then to February 9 
and finally to February 14, 2005. No such docu- 
ments were produced during this period. (DB Mem. 
Supp. at 6-7). 

At a meet-and-confer on March 1, 2006, the subject 
of item 14 was discussed, and DB agreed to a re- 
quest by LV to limit ihis item to customer commu- 
nications about S-lock products, rather than all LV 
products. while LV agreed to supplement its pro- 
duction on other items. (O'Reilly Decl. at ¶ 15). On 
March 10 LV provided additional documents but 
none reflecting customer communications.(ld). 
After DB pointed out this omission, plaintiffs 
counsel represented that "LV is continuing to 
search for relevant documents reasonably respons- 
ive to Request No. 14."(ld., Ex. L at 3). 

At an April 6 status conference with the court, LV's 
attorney represented that the delay was attributable 
to "a bit of a logistical problem" but that the docu- 
ments would be produced by April 14. (April 6. 
2006 TI. at 43, 62). Despite the court's directive 
that it comply with this deadline (id. at 63-64), LV 
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produced no customer communications when it pro- 
duced other documents on that date. (DB Mem. 
Supp. at 7). 

One week later DB initiated a motion to compel 
production of many categories of documents, in- 
cluding customer communications. As character- 
ized by DB on its motion, document request 14 
"seeks documents concerning customer communic- 
ations regarding any LV product and/or return of 
any LV product."(O'Reilly Decl., Ex. N at 11). In 
responding to the motion, LV asserted: "DB seeks 
'customer communications' concerning S-Lock (as 
well as all LV) products .... LV has made a good 
faith effort to search for any documents responsive 
to this request and has determined that LV does not 
have any e-mail or call center communications to 
LV related to the S-Lock design or S-Lock 
products. Accordingly, there is nothing to compel 
and DB[ 1's motion should be denied on this point." 
(Id., Ex. O at 15). 

In ruling on the parties' various applications by 
Memorandum and Order dated July 20; 2006, the 
court relied on LV's representation about customer 
communications. Thus; i t  stated that "LV represents 
that it has no communications from customers 
about its S lock products. If DB questions this rep- 
resentation, it is free to pursue the matter by depos- 
ition."lotri~ Vzditton Mallefier, 2006 WL 2109472, 
at *6. The court also set a deadline of August 3. 
2006 for LV to provide additional documents on a 
host of topics.10. at "7. 

*7 Plaintiff did provide additional documents in 
compliance with the July 20 order. In its August 3 
cover letter to DB, however, it refesred to customer 
co~nrnunications and stated that it was not produ- 
cing any because "LV has no communications from 
customers about its S-Lock trademark."(O'Reilly 
Decl., Ex. P at 2). This statement, of course, was at 
odds with both parties' prior understanding that the 
request concerned communications about the S- 
lock products as well as the S-lock trademark, and 
it at least implicitly contradicted LV's prior repres- 
entation to the court about having no communica- 

tions responsive to that broader understanding of 
the request. 

The court conducted another conference on August 
7, at which the subject of customer communications 
again arose. At that time LV's counsel confirmed 
for the first time that his client was interpreting its 
obligation under request 14 to be limited to custom- 
er communications about the S-lock trademarks. 
and not S-lock products, and that plaintiff assumed 
that the court, in its July 20 order, had meant the 
same thing. 

So I don't think, with all due respect, that you were 
suggesting customer communications about the 
product itself, but about the S-Lock that is in ques- 
tion in this lawsuit. 

No customer came and said anything about the S- 
lock, and we have represented that. We have stated 
it time and time again. We are prepared to stute it 
now. It seems to me that is the intent of the ques- 
tion and the intent of the ruling. 

(Aug. 7,2006 TI. 27) 

In response, the court disabused counsel of that no- 
tion: "I used the word product, not trademark. 1 
think there was ample reason for that. In any event. 
that is what I said and that is what 1 meant. You are 
expected to comply with it."(ld). The court did 
grant plaintiffs request to delay the deadline for fi- 
nal compliance with court-ordered discovery oblig- 
ations to September 15,2006. (Id at 29-30). 

On September 15, LV failed to provide customer 
communications and advised DB's counsel that the 
company, "despite best efforts," had heen unable to 
extract the pertinent e-mails from its "call center." 
(O'Reilly Decl, at ¶ 23 & Ex. R). In the wake of fol- 
low-up correspondence in the following days, LV 
represented that "there are technical and other is- 
sues related to the recovery and collection of avail- 
able data on this issue."(Id at ¶ 26 & Ex. U). It did 
not explain these issues; however, or specify a date 
for production. On September 26, 2006, LV pro- 
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duced 17 pages of call center reports, which sum- 
marized call center communications, some of which 
referred explicitly to the S-lock. (Id, at Ex. V). It 
also produced 278 pages of e-mails, but these were 
all documents that LV had produced to DB in 2004 
in the parallel Mulricolor case in the face of 
threatened preclusion by the court in that case. 
(Id.). This production did not purport to include any 
e-mails addressed to non-Muiticolor products or to 
the trademark at issue here. 

*8 In the wake of LV's continuing failure to pro- 
duce customer communications, DB filed the cur- 
rent motion. Noting that LV had refused to produce 
key documems pertaining to such communications. 
that it had misrepresented the scope of both the re- 
quest and the court's order. and that it had done the 
same in the Mulricolor case until faced with a threat 
of preclusion. DB seeks what it describes as tar- 
geted preclusion. Specifically, defendant would 
prevent plaintiff from offering any evidence to 
demonstrate qualitative differences between 
plaintiffs and defendant's products, consumer con- 
fusion or dilution of plaintiffs trademarks. (DB 
Mem. Supp. at 14-18). 

In LV's response, it relies principally on an affi- 
davit by Sven Dubois, an employee in the informa- 
tion technology department of LV, as well as a 
briefer declaration of counsel. (Declaration of Sven 
Dubois, executed Oct. 5, 2006; Declaration of Alis- 
on Arden Besunder, Esq., executed Oct. 5, 2006). 
According to Mr. Dubois-who, in the course of his 
declaration, never identifies the timing of LV's ef- 
forts to search for the communications requested 
last December-LV has encountered "technical diffi- 
culties" in attempting to retrieve e-mails concerning 
customer communications from its database. 
(Dubois Decl. at 1 I). His explanation starts with 
the assertion that the database in question, known 
as Kana Oracle. is not designed for random search- 
ing or "specialized e-mail management in the ordin- 
ary course of its operations."(ld. at 2-4). The 
principal problem, according to Dubois. is "that it is 
difficult to write an 'Oracle-SQL' request to search 
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by keyword the e-mails stored in the 
database ...." (Id. at Y[ 4).F""' 

FNIO. The reason for this difficulty is that 
"the e-mails are stored in a raw format 
which includes both HTML-formatted e- 
mails as well as e-mails with foreign-lan- 
guage encoding."(Id). 

According to Mr. Dubois, despite his long-held be- 
lief that it would be necessary to undertake a series 
of complex steps to extract the e-mails from the 
Kana Oracle system-requiring the hiring of both a 
Kana specialist and a Lotus Notes specialist-LV 
chose not to do so, purportedly because of cost.(Id. 
at I[ 5).FN" Instead. LV at some point used three 
in-house people who eventually developed a means 
of extracting some data from the database, although 
much of what has been obtained is "interspersed 
with technical coding that does not appear to have 
been part of the body of the original communica- 
tion."(ld. at 1% 7-10), What has been obtained does 
not lend itself to printing and hence was reproduced 
in electronic format. (Id. at YI I I; Besunder Decl. at 
m 3). 

F N l l .  The cost estimate by Dubois ap- 
pears to be less than $15,000.00 for such a 
process. He does not explain why this ex- 
pense was viewed as unduly burdensome 
for LV, which describes itself as enormous 
and highly profitable. See,e.g., LV Reply 
Memo in Support of Motion for Protective 
Order Preventing Depositions at 5-6 
(emphasizing that LV "is a muiti-billion 
dollar corporation with responsibility for 
more than 10,000 worldwide employees.") 
(emphasis by LV). 

The fruits of these efforls were apparently turned 
over to defendant on October 5, 2006. (Id at I[ 3). It 
appears that the production was incomplete-LV is 
silent on this point FwLand at least part of it was 
not usable. (DB Reply Mem. at 8-1 1). 

FN12. At one point Dubois says, "We have 
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extracted the data in the only manner in 
which it can be performed," hut at another 
he refers to having, "to date." "extracted 
'rows' of data evidencing certain commu- 
nications with customers."(See Duhois De- 
cl. at an 12. lo). 

Defendant seeks broad preclusion of any evidence 
relating to public confusion, comparative product 
quality and dilution. (DB Mem. at I). Preclusion is 
one of the weapons in the court's armory for ensur- 
ing that the parties comply with their discovery ob- 
ligations and that the discovering pariy is not preju- 
diced by virtue of an adversary's failure to meet 
these obligations. See,e.g.,Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(b)(2)(B) 
(sanctions for violation of court order). Among the 
considerations that the court must take into account 
in assessing a request for preclusion are (1) whether 
the discovered party has failed to comply with the 
discovery rules and with a court order. (2) whether 
that failure was attributable to "willfulness or bad 
h i t l ~ ,  or- is oti~erwise culpable,"'Duvai Steel P r d s .  
v. ZW Fakredine, 951 F.2d 1357, 1367 (2d 
Cir.1991). (3) whether the discovering party has 
been prejudiced by the other side's failures and, if 
so, the degree of such prejudice and whether it is 
otherwise remediable, and (4) the prejudice that 
would be occasioned to the discovered party's case 
by the proposed preclusion. SeegenerallySo/rel, Inc. 
v. Drngon Med. & Scienr$ic Cr)rnmunications, Inc., 
118 F.3d 955. 961 (2d Cir.1997); Outiey ir. City o/ 
New York, 837 F.2d 587, 590-91 (2d Cir.1988). We 
address each factor seriatim. 

*9 There is no question that LV has failed to com- 
ply with its discovery obligations, misled its ad- 
versary and the court, and flouted a court order. 
The defendant's original request, from December 
2005, was for customer communications for all LV 
products. Although this formulation was unques- 
tionably overbroad. DB agreed in a March I meet- 
and-confer to narrow the demand to communica- 
tions concerning LV's S-lock products, and LV in 
its turn gave no indication that it would resist that 
request; indeed, it welcomed the modification and 

indicated that it was searching for the documents. 
(See O'Reilly Decl., Ex. L at 3). LV nonetheless 
failed to produce the requested documents and did 
not offer DB any reason for not doing so, much less 
suggest that it had attempted to retrieve them from 
its database and had been stymied in that effort. In- 
deed, it actually indicated at first that, despite some 
rechnical complications, it would produce the docu- 
ments by mid-April 2006. Ultimarely. LV simply 
ignored the request, thus prompting one element of 
DB's April 2006 motion to compel. 

That application triggered a representation by LV 
that it had undertaken an appropriate search for cus- 
tomer communications about S-lock products and 
had no such communications. It is evident that this 
representation was false, and in the absence of any 
explanation by LV for this misstatement, we have 
no reason to infer that it was other than knowingly 
false. 

Following entry of our July 20 order, which relied 
on this false representation. LV disclosed in an in- 
direct and misleading fashion-by its August 3 cover 
letter-that it was withholding responsive docu- 
ments, It did so by changing its stated definition of 
the scope of the request, limiting it to communica- 
tions regarding the S-lock trademarks rather than 
including communications about the S-lock 
products, despite the fact that the request as 
amended by DB in March, plaintiffs response to 
that amendment and to DB's motion, and the court's 
July 20 order all made crystal clear that the request 
at issue covered the products as well as the trade- 
mark. 

The inconsistency of LV's approach was apparent at 
the August 7 hearing, when its counsel sought to 
persuade the court that the dispute, and the court's 
prior ruling, had concerned only communications 
about the trademark. This prompted our August 7 
order that all the communications (including those 
concerning the S-lock products) be produced. and 
our directive giving LV-as it had requested-until 
Septemher 15 to comply. Plaintiff again ftailed to 
comply. Indeed, LV waited until Septemher 26 to 
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provide any documents, and the only production in the M~rlticolor case, it was unable to do so here. 
that it made turned out to consist almost entirely of Also left unanswered is the question of why LV 
the same documents as it had produced to DB in the was not alerted at the outset here to any technical 
parallel Mlrlticolor litigation more than two years problems with retrieving such con~munications 
before. from its Kana database. 

As for LV's purported effort to comply with the 
court's August 7 order, even by LV's vague and am- 
biguous description it appears that plaintiff chose to 
eschew the most direct means of attempting to ex- 
tract e-mails from its database-by turning to outside 
specialists in the Kana Oracle system-and instead it 
relied on its in-house personnel, who report that 
they have been unable to produce a usable and 
complete set of documents, regardless of format, 
for defendant. Moreover, we note that plaintiff 
carefully avoids a proffer of any evidence as to 
when it undertook these efforts-efforts that were re- 
quired to begin upon receipt of defendant's request 
in December 2005, or at the very latest after the 
March 1 meet-and-confer. In short. we cannot cred- 
it plaintiffs implicit argument that it has done all 
that was possible to comply with its discovery ob- 
ligations and with the court's order. 

*10 As for whether the plaintiff engaged in culp- 
able conduct. the unavoidable conclusion is evident 
li-om the preceding summary. But there is more that 
supports this finding. 

First, in the Mlriticolor litigation DB sought the 
same type of documents from LV, and in that case 
LV engaged in the same sort of behavior, triggering 
a warning from Magistrate Judge Peck that the cus- 
tomer communications in question had to be 
provided within one week or preclusion would foi- 
low. (See Declaration of Roger G. Brooks, Esq.. ex- 
ecuted Sept. 28, 2006. at '#¶ 4-9 & Ex. 6; O'Reilly 
Decl. at Exs. C-G). That warning triggered immedi- 
ate compliance, although LV apparently failed to 
provide translations for all documents, as ordered 
by the court. (Brooks Decl. at '# 10). This experi- 
ence not only provides helpful context in assessing 
LV's behavior in this case, hut also raises the very 
serious question-never answered by LV-as to why, 
if it was able to retrieve customer communications 

Second. LV carefully avoids any indication as to 
when it turned its attention to the specific proced- 
ures necessary to determine whether it had respons- 
ive e-mails. Avoidance of that detail strongly sug- 
gests that it made no effort to do so until the pro- 
verbial eleventh hour, after it had made false rep- 
resentations to the court about the non-existence of 
responsive documents (the explanation of which it 
also never provides) and sometime after the August 
7 order. 

Third, LV's current motion papers retlect a contin- 
ued reluctance to address the facts accurately when 
seeking to justify its behavior. Thus it contends that 
its delay in producing the e-mails requested by DB 
was due in substantial part to the court having 
ordered production of a broader array of documents 
Wan DB had ever requested. (LV Mem. Opp'n at 
4-6). This argument is so transparently false as to 
raise questions about every other representation in 
LV's papers. As noted. DB originally sought cus- 
tomer communications about all of LV's products 
and then narrowed the request to the S-lock 
products and trademarks, a scope that LV itself ac- 
knowledged in writing. Moreover, in briefing DB's 
motion LV again recognized the scope of DB's 
amended request as encompassing communications 
about the S-lock products, and it made the repres- 
entation that it had no such documents. (O'Reilly 
Decl., Ex. 0 at 15) (no documents "related to the S- 
Lock design or S-Lock products"). In the July 20 
order the court simply reiterated the scope of the 
dispute as both parties had acknowledged it and re- 
lied upon LV's specific representation that it had no 
responsive documents. Again, in our August 7 or- 
der we simply reiterated the obligation in the same 
terms. 

In sum, there is no question on the current record 
that LV has acted with fault. Notwithstanding this 
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conclusion. however, in assessing DB's demand for 
hroad preclusion we must confront questions con- 
cerning prejudice and the availability of means to 
alleviate such prejudice. 

*11 In seeking to demonstrate irremediable preju- 
dice, DB points out that in the M~tlticolor case the 
District Court relied on customer communications 
in concluding that LV had failed to demonstrate 
that defendant's allegedly infringing product was 
inferior. that the public had actually been confused 
and that LV's trademark had been diluted. (DB 
Mem. at 5-6) (citing Loiiis Vt~itton Mulietier v. 
Dooney & Bourke, Inc., 340 F.Supp.2d 415, 441-42 
(S .D.N.Y.2004), rev21 on  other gdr.,454 F.3d 108 
(2d Cir.2006)). Defendant implies therefore that LV 
has deliberately sought to withhold such potentially 
damaging communications in this case and that its 
doing so has deprived DB of potentially valuable 
evidence. 

There is less to this contention than meets the eye, 
at least as a justification for the hroad issue preclu- 
sion that defendant seeks. The ruling in the /vft[lii- 
color case that defendant cites denied a preliminary 
injunction based on the court's conclusion that LV 
had not shown a likelihood of success on its trade- 
mark-infringement and dilution claims. SeeLouis 
Vuition Mulletier, 340 F.Supp.2d at 447-48, 
452-53. In discounting these claims, the court relied 
in part on its finding that the record-including the 
customer communications with LV-did not reflect 
evidence of consumer confusion or differences in 
quality in the competing products or any indication 
of blurring or tarnishment. Id. at 441-42. 446, 449, 
452-53. 

By providing only partial production of customer 
communications in this case, LV has arguably han- 
dicapped DB in making an equivalent set of argu- 
ments here. That difficulty. however, may be read- 
ily surmounted by deeming as true the contentions 
that none of LV's customer communications evid- 
enced any confusion as to origin and that none in- 
volved a complaint about the quality of a product 
distributed by defendant or evidenced any form of 

dilution. Such a remedy is specifically authorized 
by Rule 37(h)(2)(A) ("designated facts shall he 
taken to be established"), and it appropriately rights 
the balance that has been distorted by LV's failure 
to produce the requested communications. At the 
same time it avoids broad preclusion on key issues, 
the assessment of which can fairly be made in light 
of all the discovery and the more limited preclusion 
that we have outlined. 

Finally, in view of the evident baselessness of the 
position taken by LV on this motion and its inex- 
cusable non-performance in connection with the 
production of customer communications, we con- 
clude that DB is entitled to the expenses of this mo- 
tion, including an award of reasonable fees. 
Fed.R.Civ.P. 37(b)(2). Unless the parties agree on 
an appropriate figure, defendant is to serve and file 
its expense application. including contemporaneous 
time records. by December 4, 2006. Responding pa- 
pers will be due by December 7.2006. 

V. L f i  Motio~z t o  Preclude Depositions e/' iMe.s.srs 
Curcelle and Stullu-Bour-dilion 

Plaintiff has moved for a protective order to avoid 
having to produce for deposition the Chairman and 
CEO of LV, Mr. Yves Carcelle. and LV's former 
general manager, Mr. Bertrand Stalla-Bourdiilon. 
Proffering declarations from both men, plaintiff as- 
serts that neither has any personal knowledge of 
pertinent facts or any non-personal knowledge hey- 
ond what has already been testified to by LV's In- 
tellectual Property Director, Ms. Nathalie Moulle- 
Berteaux. (See LV Mem. Supp. at 1-7; Declaration 
of Yves Carcelle, executed Oct. 10, 2006; Declaia- 
tion of Bertrand Stalla-Bourdillon, executed Oct. 
10, 2006: Reply Declaration of Yves Carcelle, ex- 
ecuted Oct. 23, 2006). Defendant opposes the mo- 
tion, contending that each of the proposed wit- 
nesses has knowledge of pertinent evidence that 
was not known by Ms. hloulle-Bel-teaux. (DB 
Mem. Opp'n at 6-17).'Y" 

FN13. We note that our brief characteriza- 
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tion of this motion does not do justice to 
the overheated, and generally irrelevant, 
rhetoric that each side chooses to use to ac- 
cuse its adversary of wrongdoing in their 
assertion of claims and counterclaims and 
their conduct during the litigation. For 
sheer bizarreness. we especially recom- 
mend footnote 1 of LV's reply memor- 
andum, which somehow finds a basis for 
comparing defendant's approach to that of 
North Korea when it invaded the South in 
1950. 

'12 As a general matter, senior corporate and gov- 
ernmental executives are subject to being deposed 
in litigation. just as any other employee may be. 
The limitation on that principle finds its source in 
the concern that litigants may be tempted to use 
such depositions-and the disruption that they may 
occasion-as a form of leverage or harassment by 
forcing senior officials to spend time in preparing 
for and attending a deposition when they have little 
or no pertinent testimony to offer. Accordingly, the 
courts have agreed that if a party seeks to depose a 
very senior official of an adversary entity, the ad- 
versary may obtain an order vacating the deposition 
notice if it can demonstrate that the proposed de- 
ponent has no personal knowledge of the relevant 
facts and no unique knowledge of those facts. 
See,e.g.,iiz re Ski Train Fire, 2006 WL 1328259, at 
*10 (S.D.N.Y. May 16, 2006); Treppel v.. Biovail 
Corp,, 2006 WL 468314, at *2-3 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 
28, 2006); Consolidated Rail Corp. 1.. Primary In- 
di~s.  Corp., 1993 W L  364971. at '1 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 
10, 1993). 

In this case DB seeks to depose both the former 
general manager of LV and its current CEO and 
Chairman. We address each separately. 

Mr. Stalla-Bourdilion is no longer serving in LV it- 
self, but has responsibility for two businesses, at 
least one of which is related to LV. 
(Stalla-Bourdiilon Decl. at 1 2 (CEO of Berluti and 
of Marc Jacobs)). Defendant's rationale for depos- 
ing him appears to be that he had overall responsib- 

ility for numerous departments at LV. including 
sales and intellectual-property enforcement. Hence. 
according to DB. he is likely to have knowledge of 
why LV pursued enforcement against DB and not 
against other infringers, and of the impact (if any) 
of DB's alleged infringement on L V s  business. (DB 
Mem. Opp'n at 10-12). 

To the extent that these questions may have any rel- 
evance, DB fails to justify a deposition OF Mr. 
Stalla-Bourdillon, There is no suggestion that he 
actually participated in any of the events at issue in 
this case, nor has DB presented a basis for suspect- 
ing that his necessarily generalized knowledge of 
the business of LV is either unique or directly 
relevant to the issues in this case. Moreover, DB 
Fails to show that Ms. Moulie-Berteaux was unable 
to answer questions that DB proposes to ask Mr. 
Staila-Bourdillon. ( E  .g., DB Mem. at 10-1 1 & n. 
3). Finally. the fact that he participated iii settle- 
ment talks with a principal of DB concerning this 
case (Stalla-Bourdillon Decl. at 1 7) offers no justi- 
fication for deposing him. Such calks are not a 
proper subject of discovery, and there is no indica- 
tion that his knowledge of the case. presumably ac- 
quired for purposes of that discussion, is anything 
but second-hand. Accordingly, plaintiff is granted a 
protective order with respect to this deposition. 

FN14. Given the breadth of his responsib- 
ilities at LV, his representation of ignor- 
ance as to the specifics of this case 
(Stalla-Bourdillon Decl. at 1 8) is entirely 
credible. 

The situation with regard to Mr. Carcelle is some- 
what different. There is no question that he signed a 
declaration that LV submitted to the PTO, and that 
it forms one basis for defendant's counterclaim to 
declare LV's trademark registration invalid as a 
fraud on the PTO. In pressing for a deposition, DB 
emphasizes that Ms. Moulle-Berteaux could not 
testify about Mr. Carcelle's knowledge of what was 
said in the declaration or even as lo whether he had 
read it before signing it. (See DB Mem. at 6-7). In 
response LV offers two declarations by Mr. Car- 
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celie, averring that he has no memory of signing the 
document or of what it contained or of whether he 
knew anything at the time about the facts pertinent 
to the accuracy of the statements that it contained. 
(Carcelle Decl. at ¶ 6-8; Carcelle Reply Decl, at qjy[ 
2.4),FSlS 

FN15. LV also argues that DB's claim of 
fraud on the PTO is meritless, an assertion 
that is at best premature and ce~tainiy not a 
basis for precluding discovery directed to 
that claim. 

*13 From the declarations proffered by Mr. Car- 
celle, it appears that a deposition may produce little 
in the way of useful information. Nonetheless, that 
is not a proper basis for refusing to allow a party to 
question a witness who has participated in events 
directly pertinent to at least one of the claims in the 
case. There is simply no basis for compelling DB to 
take at face value an assertion of lack of memory 
made in an affidavit by a witness. This scenario is 
simply not equivalent to those encountered in cases 
in which a senior executive has not participated in 
any activity relevant to the issues in the case. 
See,e.g..Tre]~pel, 2006 WL 468314, at *2:Si.x West 
Reiail Acquisition, Inc. v. Sony Theatre Mgt. Corp., 
203 F.R.D. 98- 104 (S.D.N.Y.2001). Mr. Carcelle 
has concededly participated directly in a pertinent 
event, and hence he is appropriately subject to 
questioning about his participation. 

That said, it is equally appropriate to place signific- 
ant iimitations on such a deposition. See,e.g.,Yhol- 
man v. ICN Pharms., Ittc., 1999 WL 1267459, at 
"-2 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 29. 1999). Those limitations 
follow from both Mr. Carcelle's senior position in, 
and responsibility for business affairs at. LV and 
the narrowness of the inquiries that may be appro- 
priately directed to him. Accordingly, the depos- 
ition is to be limited to no more than three hours 
and is to be co~iducted at Mr. Carcelle's place of 
business unless DB chooses to take the deposition 
by t e l e p h ~ n e . ~ ' ~  

FN16. In setting this time limit, we do not 

impose any subject-matter restriction on 
DB's questioning of the witness. 

VI LVS Motron to Conlpel The Deposrrroti Of DB 
linfia bj A ~ c I I ~ ~ I ; I ~  Nono11 

Plaintiff has moved to compel DB to produce in 
New York for deposition a resident of Italy named 
Maurizio Nottoli. According to plaintiff, Mr. Not- 
toli is knowledgeable about the procurement of 
bags for DB, the disposition at the outset of this lit- 
igation of the bags that allegedly infringed LV's S- 
lock trademark and the design of bags for DB, pos- 
sibly including the bags at issue here. (LV Mem. 
Supp, at 3-4). Plaintiff contends that it may use a 
Rule 30(b)il) deposition notice to compel Nottoli's 
appearance here either because he is a managing 
agent of DB or because he is within the custody or 
control of DB. (Id. at 6-12), Defendant opposes the 
motion. contending that Nottoli is not a party to the 
litigation nor a managing agent of DB and that he 
may therefore be deposed only pursuant to the pro- 
visions of the Hague Convention. (DB Mem. Opp'n 
at 7-15), 

Nottoli's formal link to DB is through an entity 
known as DB Italia. which is based in Florence, 
Ivaly. Although the record is not pristine on the ex- 
act relationship between DB and DB Italia, a Dun 
& Bradstreet report reflects that DB owns 98 per- 
cent of the shares of DB Italia and Nottoli appar- 
ently owns the balance. (See Declaration of Alison 
Arden Besunder, Esq., executed Sept. 29, 2006. Ex. 
M).'"!i DB Italia has only one employee other 
than Nottoli (id.), and there is no indication that she 
plays any non-ministerial role in the affairs of the 
company. The directors of DB ltalia consist o i  
Peter Dooney and Mr. Nottoli. (Id. Ex. M). 

m 1 7 .  An alternative version of the rela- 
tionship-offered by DB-is that the 
98-percent share of DB Italia is held by 
two other entities apparently controlled by 
DB (Declaration of Jessica Selb, Esq., ex- 
ecuted Oct. 10, 2006., Ex. 2), but there is 
no public record of the existence of these 
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entities. (Reply Declaration of Alison Ar- 
den Besunder, Esq., executed Oct. 16, 
2006, Ex. W). Moreover, DB's own attor- 
neys have several times characterized DB 
Italia as a subsidiary of DB. and Peter 
Dooney has described it as DB's Italian of- 
fice. (Besunder Decl., Ex N at 38 & Ex. P 
at 13: Selh Decl., Ex. 1; Reply Declaratioi~ 
of Alison Arden Besunder, Esq.; executed 
Oct. 16, 2006. Ex. CC). 

"14 There is no indication that DB Italia undertakes 
any significant business other than to serve as a 
vehicle for the design and acquisition of product for 
DB. Indeed, DB provides the accounting and 
payroll services for DB Italia and supplies its fund- 
ing. (Id., Ex. O at 53-54). Thus, although DB Italia 
pays Nottoli, it appears to be with funds supplied 
for that purpose by DB. 

Similarly, Nottoli performs essential services dir- 
ectly for DB. Thus Nottoli and Dooney are de- 
scribed as working collaboratively in determining 
the design of DB bags, and Nottoli appears to be re- 
sponsible for outsourcing the manufacture of those 
bags on behalf of DB. (Besunder Decl., Ex. P at 
55-56, 105-07178-79). Similarly, when DB pulled 
the allegedly infringing bags from the market early 
in this lawsuit and arranged for them to be retrofit- 
ted with new locks. it appears that Nottoli handled 
these trensactious. (Id., Ex. R). Dooney speaks al- 
most daily with Nottoli and travels to Italy to meet 
him every few months. (Id., Ex. P at 58). Nottoli 
himself travels periodically to the United States- 
most recently several weeks ago (Oct. 31, 2006 let- 
ter to the Court from Michael A. Gmw, Esq.; Nov. 
8, 2006 letter to the Court from Steven Kimelman. 
Esq.1-where he spends much of his time with Mr. 
Dooney. (Besunder Decl., Ex. P a t  57; id ,  Ex. Q at 
26-27). 

We first reject LV's argument that Nottoli may be 
subjected to a deposition by notice because he is 
within the "custody or control" of DB. (LV Mem. 
at 10-12). That tern1 is found in Rule 34, and refers 
to the production of documents held by, or avail- 
able to, a litigant. The appropriateness of deposing 
a non-party witness pursuant to notice is governed 
by a separate rule. which uses different language. 
and is properly interpreted by somewhat different 
standards. Specifically, Rule 30(b)(i) refers to de- 
positions of a corporation by its officers. directors 
or managing agents. 

On the current motion, the central question con- 
cerns Nottoli's asserted status as a managing agent 
of DB. The party seeking the deposition bears the 
burden-whether of production or persuasion is un- 
certain-but that burden is "modest," since the 
movant need only demonstrate " 'that there is at 
least a close question' as to whether the witness is a 
managing agent."Boss Mfg. Ca. v. Nugo Boss AG, 
1999 WL 20828, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 13. 199% 
(citing United Sates v. Afr~mnz Lines (USA). Lrd., 
i 59 F.R.D. 408, 413 (s 
.D.N.Y.I994)).AccordL)ubui Islamic Bunk 1,. Cir- 
ibank, N.A., 2002 WL 1159699, at "3-4 (S.D.N.Y. 
May 31, 2002). Moreover, for purposes of this ana- 
lysis all doubts should be resolved in favor of the 
discovering party. Seeid. at '4; Afram Lines, 159 F 
.R.D. at 413. In this manner; discovery may pro- 
ceed on the basis of a provisional determination of 
managing-agent status, with the final resolution of 
that question left for post-discovery proceedings, 
when the trial court or fact-finder determines 
whether the testimony of the witness is binding on 
the party. See,cg.,Duhai Islarnic Bank 2002 WL 
1159699, at *4;Boss Mfg., 1999 WL 20828. at 
*4;Afran1 Lines, 159 F.R.D. at 413-14;Hi&ghes 
Bros, Inc. i; Cullanan Road lmproven~ent Co., 41 
F.R.D. 450,454 (S.D.N.Y.1967). 

With this record in mind. we turn to LV's argu- *15 In assessing whether a proposed deponent is 
ments. We conclude that Nottoli is to be made potentially a managing agent. we look to a variety 
available by DB for deposition at his place of busi- of factors. none of which is necessarily controlling. 
ness in Italy. See,e.g.,Boss Mfg, 1999 WL 20828, at "3. As typ- 
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ically articulated, the individual "should possess 
general powers to exercise judgment and discretion 
in corporate matters. ... [,j should be a person who 
can be relied upon to give testimony, at the employ- 
er's request, in response to the demand of the ex- 
amining party, ... [and] should be a person who can 
he expected to identify with the interests of the cor- 
poration."ld at *3 (quoting 7 J. Moore, Moore's 
Federul Practice 3 30.03121 at 30-20 (3d ed.1998)). 
Other factors recognized by some coiirts focus on 
"whether there are other persons 'in positions of 
higher authority than the individual designated in 
the area for which information is sought by the de- 
position' and 'the general responsibilities of the in- 
dividual respecting the matters involved in the litig- 
ation." . Id. st *3 (citing Moore & cases). 

In this case the record on the pertinent facts is 
sparse, consisting principally of snippets of testi- 
mony proffered by LV from depositions that it has 
taken in this litigation and in the Multicolor 
case.FNl8Obviously LV cannot be expected to 
provide testimony from Nottoli as to the nature of 
his duties and the degree of judgment that he exer- 
cises in carrying them out. As for DB, it has not 
proffered any affidavits from either Dooney or Not- 
toli. 

FN18. DB protests that LV should be pre- 
cluded from using evidence obtained in the 
Mirlricolor case because a protective order 
there provides that confidential informa- 
tion supplied in that case may be used only 
for that litigation. (DB Mem. Opp'n at 
4-7). Since. however, both parties have 
represented that they agree that the discov- 
ery obtained in each case should be util- 
ized in both cases; there is no occasion to 
address this matter (other than to note that 
DB itself freely uses helpful information 
from the M~rlticolor case on this motion). 

in the acquisition of products from other compan- 
ies. He also appears to have played a central role in 
the return of the S-lock bags for retrofitting. and we 
infer that some degree of discretion was afforded 
him in handling this matter. The record also sup- 
ports the inference that Mr. Nottoli woiild comply 
with a request or direction by DB to appear for a 
deposition; indeed, DB's counsel has implied as 
much, suggesting that defendant would arrange for 
a deposition of him in Italy in exchange for LV 
submitting Messrs. Carcelle and Stalla-Bourdillon 
to deposition in New York. (Besunder Decl., Ex. 
F). The record is equally clear that Mr. Nottoli; who 
is employed by DB's subsidiary and paid, in effect, 
by DB. and who works hand-in-glove with Mr. 
Dooney. can be expected to identify with the in- 
terests of DB. 

As for the remaining factors, DB makes the point 
that Peter Dooney has a position of superior author- 
ity in the pertinent areas (DB Mem. Opp'n at 1 I), 
an observation that we infer is correct, although not 
dispositive. Finally. there is no question that Not- 
toli's responsibilities are relevant to issues posed by 
this case. These include the procurement and pos- 
sibly the design of the DB bags that are in issue 
here, and the retrofitting process for the unsold 
bags that were removed from the market by DB. 

*16 The record on a number of the key managing- 
agent considerations is admittedly sketchy. That is 
largely attributable to the decision of DB not to 
proffer any meaningful evidence pertinent to the 
relevant considerations, and it underscores the wis- 
dom of leaving the definitive determination of man- 
aging-agent status to the post-discovery stage of the 
case. LV has certainly demonstrated that the ques- 
tion of Mr. Nottoli's status is at least a close ques- 
tion, and hence we conclude that DB is obligated to 
make him available tbr deposition based on I.V's 
notice of deposition. 

The limited record reflects that Mr. Nottoli per- There remains the question of the location of the 
forms functions for DB that seem to involve some deposition. LV notes that Nottoli periodically 
degree of discretion, as we infer that he uses judg- comes to the New York area, and indeed he did so 
ment not only in the design of bags for DB but also while this motion was pending. Nonetheless, since 
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he apparently travels here only once or twice a 
year, it is highly unlikely that he will be hack in the 
next few weeks. when all other discovery may be 
expected to be completed. 

The ordinary rule is that the deposition of corporate 
employees is to be conducted where they work, par- 
ticularly when the corporation is a defendant. 
See,e.g.,Boss Mfg., 1999 W L  20828, at * l .  In this 
case we see no compelling reason to alter that pre- 
sumption, and accordingly we direct that any de- 
position of Mr. Nottoli be raken in Italy. 

VII. DB's Second Motion oil Privilege l.ss&re.s 

DB has moved for an order compelling LV to pro- 
duce certain documents listed on its privilege log. 
DB focuses on claims of privilege invoked by LV 
for communications with its in-house attorneys 
Nathalie Moulle-Berteaux and Emmanuel 
Barbault,FNI9 and its work-product claim for doc- 
uments prepared in anticipation of registration pro- 
ceedings before the PTO. It also argues that LV has 
waived any privilege by virtue of deposition testi- 
mony by Ms. Moulie-Berteaux and that any priv- 
ilege or work-product immunity should be invaded 
based on the crime-fraud e~cept ion.+~~"I ,V op- 
poses the motion while stating-in what amounts to 
an elaboration of its prior motion for a protective 
order-that it is willing to produce most of the previ- 
ously withheld documents and that this intention 
moots DB's current motion to compel. (LV Mem. 
Opp'n at 2-5). We understand LV to be saying that 
it would produce most, though not all, of the docu- 
ments in the prosecution files for registrations of its 
S-lock trademarks. and that it would withhold a 
small number of documents as work product, 
provided that the court rules in plaintiffs favor on 
its hypothesis as to the scope of the waiver that 
such a production would entail.'"" 

FNI9. Prompted by a comment in LV's re- 
sponding memorandum, DB mentions doc- 
uments involving Benjamin Dubuis, also 
an in-house attorney, for the first time in 
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its reply memorandum. (DB Reply Mem. 
at 6). This is inadequate to present the is- 
sue of Mr. Dubuis's status on this motion. 
and we therefore do not address that ques- 
tion, In any evcnt, for reasons to be noted, 
the question appears to be a moot one. 

FN20. DB also suggests that several items 
listed on plaintiffs privilege log are not de- 
scribed with sufficient particularity to jus- 
tify invocation of the privilege or work- 
product immunity. 

FN21. LV refers to its intention to revise 
its privilege log to limit it to a few work- 
product-protected documents, but it does 
not specify which, other than indicating 
that they all date from 2004 or later. (LV 
Mem. Opp'n at 8). LV has never indicated 
that it has actually prepared a new version 
of its log. 

LV states that it is prepared to waive any attorney-cli- 
ent privilege for documents in the prosecution files 
for its three S-lock trademarks and one pending ap- 
plication. (Id. at 3-5). If correct, that would moot 
any argument about the validity of the privilege 
claim asserted for these documents. Nonetheless, 
LV then proceeds to brief the applicability of the 
privilege-whether as a matter of caution or because 
there are other, unlogged documents that LV is 
withholding is unclear. In perhaps an excess of cau- 
tion, we do likewise, and then turn to the work- 
product issue. 

*17 As we understand it. LV has asserted an attor- 
ney-client privilege for documents representing 
communications between its in-house counsel (Ms. 
Moulle-Berteaux, who is based in France, and Mr. 
Barbault, who practices in the United States) and 
other LV personnel concerning applications for re- 
gistiation of trademarks by the PTO. Both sides 
agree that American. rather than French. law gov- 
erns the privilege. (See LV h'fem. Opp'n at 12: DB 
Mem. Supp. at 3). Were it otherwise, the answer 
would be straightforward. since it is conceded that 
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under French law these communications are not 
protected by any privilege. (Serid at 3 (quoting J. 
Copeman & K. Hurford, "Practical Considerations 
in Maintaining Privilege." J. Int'l Banking L. & 
Reg. 360, 364 (2005)). 

The most obvious difficulty for LV's privilege 
claim is that neither Ms. Moulle-Berteaux nor Mr. 
Barbault are members of any bar (French or Amer- 
ican). and they apparently have never been. 
(Declaration of Brian D. OReilly, Esq., executed 
Oct. 25, 2006. Ex. D at 56-57: i d ,  Ex. E). Americ- 
an courts have, with some consistency, held that the 
attorney-client privilege does not apply to commu- 
nications with a law school graduate unless he oi 
she is admitted to practice at the bar of a state or 
federal court (or possibly a foreign court), 
see,e.g.,ln re Rivasrigmine Patent Litig., 274 F.R.D. 
69, 74 (S.D.N.Y.2006); AIA Holdings, S.A. v. Leh- 
man Brns., Inc.. 2002 WL 31385824, at "4 
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 21, 2002)(citing cases). thus leaving 
in serious question the availability of a privilege in 
this case. 

To overcome this obstacle, LV notes that both Ms. 
Moulle-Berteaux and Mr. Barbault have full-and in- 
deed advanced-legal training, and carry out the re- 
sponsibilities of an in-house attorney that are the 
equivalent of what American in-house lawyers do. 
Arguing this fi~nctional equivalence as a basis for 
recognizing the privilege, they cite the decision in 
Renfieid Corp. V.E. Remy Martin & Co., 98 F.R.D. 
442 (D.De1.1982), which adopted the conclusion 
that they press here. (LV Mem. Opp'n at 10-13). 

As defendant properly points out, Kenfield has not 
been followed elsewhere; indeed, a coordinate court 
in the Third Circuit explicitly disagreed with it and 
noted that Third Circuit law was inconsistent with 
its analysis. SeeHoneyivell, Inc. v. Minolto Camera 
Co., 1990 WL 66182, at *2-3 (D.N.J. May 15, 
1990). Plaintiff offers no compelling reason for de- 
viating from the consistent line of authority that 
holds to the contrary. Moreover, it would seem that 
there is particularly little reason to do so here when 
the law under which Ms. hloulle-Berteaux and Mr. 

Barhault were practicing-French and American. re- 
spectively-did not protect their communications 
with their client. 

It also bears noting that one key premise for asser- 
tion of the privilege is that the participants in the 
assertedly protected communication expect it to be 
treated as confidential. See,e.g..L'nited States v. 
Construction Prods. Research, Inc., 73 F.3d 464, 
473 (2d Cir.l996)(communication must have been 
intended to be confidential). Given the fact that 
communications of Ms. Moulle-Berteaux that are at 
issue apparently took place in France and the ab- 
sence of any indication in the record that the parti- 
cipants in the communications nonetheless expec- 
ted that they would be protected, the justification 
for an equivalence analysis is far less compelling 
since there is no reason to believe that there was 
any expectation by the participants that confidenti- 
ality could be maintained in the face of French law. 
As for Mr. Barbault, he was practicing in the 
United States, and hence was directly subject to 
American law, which gives no protection to the 
communications of an unlicensed attorney. 

*I8 The difficulty with LV's equivalence argument 
surfaces in plaintiffs own analysis. Thus LV asserts 
that the protection it seeks should he afforded in de- 
ference to the fact that the French legal system op- 
erates in a somewhat different manner from the 
American. an apparent reference to the fact that in- 
house counsel in Fiance may not helong to the Bar. 
(See LV Mem. Opp'n at 1 I (referring to  the differ- 
ences between the French and American legal sys- 
tems")). This type of comity argument-at least with 
regard to Ms. Moulle-Berteaux-might well have 
some force if the communications in question were 
protected under French law. Since they are not, 
however, the proposed analysis amounts to cherry- 
picking segments of French law in support of a leg- 
al protection afforded by neither French nor Amer- 
ican law. 

In sum, we conclude that LV cannot assert an attor- 
ney-client privilege for communications between its 
in-house counsel and the client. On that basis we 
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need not address the impact of DB's argument for 
waiver by disclosure on the attorney-client priv- 
ilege and its brief assertion of the crime-fraud ex- 
ceptioil to the privilege.'YZ2 

FN22. We do note in passing, however, 
that in asserting its crime-fraud argument 
DB fails to offer any evidence going to the 
fraudulent intent that it must show to es- 
tablish that there is prohahle cause to be- 
lieve that LV was seeking to mislead the 
PTO. Simple reliance on its own pleadings 
is simply not sufficient for this purpose. 

As for the work-product question. although LV ini- 
tially asserted this form of immunity for all of its 
logged documents (O'Reilly Decl ., Ex A), it now 
concedes that such immunity does not extend to 
documents prepared solely for the exparte proceed- 
ing before the PTO. (LV Mem. Opp'n at 7). It does 
assert-correctly, we believe-that documents pre- 
pared with a view to specific anticipated or ongoing 
litigation or substantially altered by the expectation 
or pendency of such litigation may be covered by 
work-product protection, subject to a showing of 
need by the other side. (Id. at 8). 

LV indicates that it seeks to protect only a handful 
of documents on this basis. all of which were draf- 
ted in the context of either this lawsuit or the con- 
tested trademark cancellation proceeding pending 
before the PTO. (Id, at 8-9). Given this representa- 
tion, LV is required to produce to DB all other doc- 
uments listed on its privilege log and all documents 
(if any) not Listed on a log but withheld as priv- 
ileged within seven days. For any I-emaining asser- 
ted work product, LV is to submit the documents 
for incornera review within seven days, with a ap- 
propriate accompanying evidentiary submission 
demonstrating the factual basis for the work- 
product claim for each document. 

VIII. LV's L)eposirion Motions 

Plaintiff has filed two motions seeking sanctions 

Page 18 of 19 

Page 18 

for asserted misconduct by DB in connection with 
four depositions. Alternatively it seeks the schedul- 
ing of those depositions. 

For reasons specified in part at a telephone confer- 
ence on November 21, 2006, no sanctions are war- 
ranted. ?he  disputes are in part based on scheduling 
disputes occasioned by orders entered in the Mufti- 
color litigation and in part are premised on dis- 
agreements as to whether plaintiff has been af- 
forded sufficient time to depose two senior DB of- 
ficers. Peter Dooney and Philip Kinsley. 

*19 The depositions of two of the witnesses, Ms. 
Armenise and Ms. Kopp, were finally scheduled by 
the parties for November 30 and 27, 2006, respect- 
ively. In our telephone conference, we ordered that 
they be conducted on those dates. As for Mr. Kins- 
ley, although LV has had two deposition sessions 
with him, at the same telephone conference we ail- 
thorized plaintiff to continue the deposition for no 
longer than two hours. This addition was justified 
only by the facr that defendant produced a quantify 
of invoices and related documents the day before 
the u,itness's last deposition session and has since 
produced a few e-mails that involve or concern him. 

As for Mr. Dooney, who was named as a Rule 
30(b)(6) witness and separately noticed for depos- 
ition in his personal capacity. LV has had one ses- 
sion with him that totaled somewhat mo1.e than six 
hours. Although DB complains that LV spent a 
large amount of time at the first session on margin- 
al or irrelevant matters, the breadth of his involve- 
ment in DB's affairs and the events at issue here 
amply justify requiring him to return for one more 
deposition session, not to exceed seven hours. 

CONCLUSION 

For the reasons noted, the discovery and sanctions 
motions of the parties are granted in part and 
denied in part, to the extent indicated. To facilitate 
the completion of outstanding discovery proceed- 
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ings, we extend the deadline for fact discovery to 
December 31,2006. 

S.D.N.Y.,2006. 
Malletier v. Dooney & Bourke. Inc. 
Not Reported in F.Supp.Zd, 2006 WL 3476735 
(S.D.N.Y.) 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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P 
RUBIN v. GENERAL TIRE & RUBBER CO 
S.D.N.Y., 1955 

United States District Court S. D. New York. 
Herbert RUBIN, doing business as New York Toy 

&Game Mfg. Co., Plaintiff, 
v. 

The GENERAL TIRE & RUBBER CO., Snc., De- 
fendant. 

July 19, 1955. 

Contract action against a corporate defendant. On 
defendant's motion to vacate notice of taking de- 
positions of its employees, the District Court, 
Palmieri, J.. held that employees who had negoti- 
ated contracts and supplementary agreements 
between parties and who were responsible for pro- 
duction of goods to he furnished under contracts 
were 'managing agents' whom corporate defendant 
would be required to produce for examination. 

Order accordingly. 

West Headnotes 

111 Federal Courts 170B a 1 0 1  

170B Federal Courts 
I70BII Venue 

170BII(B) Change of Venue 
170BSS(B)1 in General; Venue Laid in 

Proper Forum 
170Bk101 k. In General: Convenience 

and Interest of Justice. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 106k277, I) 

Under statute authorizing transfer of civil actions, 
relevant factors for court to consider are conveni- 
ence of parties, convenience of witnesses, and in- 
terests of justice. 28 U.S.C.A. § 1404(a). 

121 Federal Courts 170B -105 

1708 Federal Courts 
l70BII Venue 

Page 1 

170BIS(B) Change of Venue 
170BII(B)I In Genel-d; Venue Laid in 

Proper Forum 
170BklO5 k. Plaintiffs Choice of For- 

um; Forum Shopping. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 106k277. I) 

Although federal statute authorizing transfer of 
civil actions allows transfer upon lesser showing of 
inconvenience to parties and witness than thereto- 
fore required, statute did not change criteria for 
transfer, among which is plaintiffs choice of forum. 
28 U.S.C.A. $ 1404(a). 

131 Federal Courts 170B -101 

170B Federal Courts 
170BII Venue 

170BII(B) Change of Venue 
170BII(B)I In General: Venue Laid in 

Proper Forum 
170Bk101 k. In General; Convenience 

and Interest of Justice. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 106k277.1) 

Under federal statutes permitting transfer of civil 
actions, where plaintiff has sued in district in which 
he resides, defendant to be granted transfer should 
show that his own convenience and that of his wit- 
nesses and the interest of justice outweigh conveni- 
ence of plaintiff and his witnesses, and little weight 
should be given to defendant's assertions that some 
other district would be more convenient for 
plaintiff and his witnesses. 28 U.S.C.A. 8 1404(a). 

[4] Federal Courts 170B -143 

170B Federal Court\ 
170BII Venue 

170BII(B) Change of Venue 
170BIl(B)4 Proceed~ngs and Effect of 

Change 
170Bk143 k. Affidavits and Evidence 

in General. Most Cited Cases 
(Formerly 106k277.1) 

On defendant's motion to transfer contract action 
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from district in which plaintiff resided, evidence 
failed to sustain defendant's contentions that his 
own convenience and that of his witnesses. and in- 
terests of justice in allegedly obtaining trial sooner, 
and in permitting defendant to implead its suppli- 
ers. outweighed convenience to plaintiff and its wit- 
nesses so as to justify transfer. 28 U.S.C.A. $ 
l404(a). 

[5] Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1333 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C) 1 In General 
170Ak1333 k. Compensation of De- 

ponent. Most Cited Cases 

Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1432.1 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C)5 Suppression; Use and Effect 
170Ak1432Use 

170Ak1432.1 k. In General. Most 
Cited Cases 

(Formerly 170Ak1432) 

Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1455 

170.4 Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C)6 Failure to Appear or Testify: 
Sanctions 

170Ak1455 k. Striking Out Defaulting 
Party's Pleading. Most Cited Cases 
Effect, for discovery purposes. of determination 
that employee of corporation is "managing agent" 
are (I)  that corporation must produce employee at 
own expense. (2) that employee's deposition may 
be used for any purpose at trial, and (3) that corpor- 

ation's pleadings may be stricken if employee will- 
fully fails to appear before officer taking depos- 
ition. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc. rules 26(a). (d)(2), 37(d), 
28 U.S.C.A. 

[61 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
l70AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

l70AX(C) I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
Criteria for determining, for discovery purposes, 
who is "managing agent" of corporate party are ( I )  
employee should be person invested by corporation 
with general powers to exel-cise judgment and dis- 
cretion in dealing with corporate matters, (2) em- 
ployee should be person who could be depended 
upon to carry out employer's direction to give testi- 
mony at demand of party ensaged in litigation with 
employer, and (3) employee should he person who 
call he expected to identify himself with the in- 
terests of corporation rather than with those of other 
parties. Fed.Kules Civ.Proc. rules 26(a), (d)(2), 
37(d), 28 U.S.C.A. 

[7] Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
I70AX Depositions and Discovery 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

l7OAX(C)I In General 
170Ak1323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Akl325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
In determining whether employee of corporate 
party to action is to he classified as managing 
agent, for discovery purposes. criterion that he 
should be person who identifies himself with in- 
terest of corporation rather than with those of other 
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parties should be liberally interpreted since determ- 
ination that corporation is or is not hound by testi- 
mony of person examined is to he made by trial 
court. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc. rules 26(a). (d)(Z). 
37(d), 28 U.S.C.A. 

f8l Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1325 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AXiC) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

I70AX(C)1 In General 
170Akl323 Persons Whose Depos- 

itions May Be Taken 
170Ak1325 k. Officers and Em- 

ployees of Corporations. Most Cited Cases 
For purposes of taking depositions in contract ac- 
tion against corporate defendant, persons who ne- 
gotiated contracts and supplementary agreements 
between parties and who were responsible for pro- 
duction of goods to he furnished under contracts 
were "managing agents" whom corporate defendant 
woidd he required to produce for examination. 
Fed.Rules Civ.Proc. rules 26(a), (d)(2), 37(d), 28 
U.S.C.A. 

191 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1333 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
l70AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

l70AX(C) 1 In General 
170Ak1333 k. Compensation of De- 

ponent. A4ost Cited Cases 
(Formerly 170Ak1325) 

Where trial court, in action against corporate de- 
fendant, required defendant to produce a managing 
agent for depositions it would not require produc- 
tion of managing agent's assistant in his department 
where it appeared that agent could answer any 
questions regarding department, but if, after taking 
managing agent's deposition. plaintiff believed that 
there was additional information which only assist- 
ant could supply he would he permitted to move for 

deposition of assistant. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc. rules 
26ia). (d)(2), 37(d), 28 U.S.C.A. 

1101 Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1333 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discovery 

170AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(C) 1 In General 
170Ak1333 k. Compensation of De- 

ponent. Most Cited Cases 

Federal Civil Procedure 170A -1349 

170A Federal Civil Procedure 
170AX Depositions and Discove1.y 

I70AX(C) Depositions of Parties and Others 
Pending Action 

170AX(Cj2 Proceedings 
170Ak1346 Notice of Examination or 

Motion for Leave to Examine 
170Ak1349 k. Time and Place. 

Most Cited Cases 
Where, in action against corporate defendant, de- 
positions were ordered taken of two of corporate 
defendant's managing agents who were not in area 
where depositions were to be taken. court would re- 
quire that both managing agents not he noticed at 
same time, unless corporate defendant had no ob- 
jection to both being called from work at same 
time. and would require that plaintiff, if he did not 
prevail in action, pay expenses of transporting 
agents for depositions. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc. rules 
26(a), (d)(2), 37(d), 28 U.S.C.A. 

*53 Irving K. Rubin, New York City, for plaintiff. 
Sullivan 6r Cromwell, New York City, John F. 
Dooling, Jr. and Jack G. Clarke, New York City, of 
counsel, for defendant. 
PALMIERI, District Judge. 
This action arises out of a commercial transaction 
between plaintiff and defendant and involves an al- 
legedly unjustifiable delay in defendant's delivery 
to plaintiff of plastic fishing rod handles. Plaintiff 
is an individual who is a citizen and resident of the 
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State of New York. He is engaged in the business 
of making and selling toys and fishing tackle. His 
office is located in New York, and his workshop is 
located in Lawrence, Massachusetts. Plaintiff 
entered into the contracts which underlie [his dis- 
pute with a Massachusetts corporation which has 
since been merged into the defendant, an Ohio cor- 
poration that is doing business in New York and 
Massachusetts. Defendant moves for (1) an order 
under 28 U.S.C. 3 1404(a) transferring the action to 
the United States District Court for the District of 
Massachusetts and (2) an order under Rule 30(b) of 
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 28 U.S.C., va- 
cating the plaintiffs notice to take defendant's de- 
position in New York, New York, by three of its 
employees. 

[IISection 1404(a) provides: 'For the convenience 
of parties and witnesses, in the interest of justice, a 
district court may transfer any civil action to any 
other district or division where it might have been 
brought.'Thus the relevant factors for the Court to 
consider in determining whether to exercise its 
power to transfer a civil action are the convenience 
of  parties. the convenience of witnesses, and the in- 
terests of justice. 

In trying to show that the convenience of parties 
and witnesses would be served by the transfer of 
this action to the District Court for the District of 
Massachusetts defendant affirms that all of the 
plaintiffs present and former employees who are 
familiar with the relevant facts, and all of its own 
employees who are familiar with the relevant facts 
reside within 40 miles of Boston, Massachusetts, 
where the case would be tried if the action were 
transferred. The defendant also states that all of its 
relevant records are in Lawrence. Massachusetts, 
that many of plaintiffs records relative to this ac- 
tion are 'undoubtedly located at the plaintiffs fact- 
ory in Lawrence,' and that plaintiff 'undoubtedly 
visits his factory in Lawrence, Massachusetts, regu- 
larly and fiequently.'Defendant also states that the 
interests of justice would be served by the transfer 
of this action because it could then implead certain 

mold manufacturers which it cannot sue outside of 
Massachusetts and because the 'Median time in 
months from joinder of issue to disposition: as of 
end of the Fiscal Year 1954 for: all civil cases' was 
45.0 in this Ilistrict and only 14.5 in the District of 
Massachusetts. 

Plaintiff denies that its convenience or that of the 
defendant will be served by transfer of the case to 
the District "54 Court for the District of Massachu- 
setts. Plaintiff emphasizes that his business is es- 
sentially a 'one man' operation and that it would be 
seriously disrupted if he were required to travel to 
Boston for the taking of depositions or for the trial. 
Moreover. he points out that since none of the wit- 
nesses reside in Boston they would have to travel 
whether the trial is held in Boston or New York. As 
for defendant's statement that it cannot implead the 
mold manufacturers unless the case is tried in Mas- 
sachusetts, plaintiff states that defendant had pen- 
alty arrangements with the mold manufacturers and 
that the arrangements 'presumably measure the li- 
ability of the tool makers and the damages collect- 
ible fiom ihem.' 

Defendant cites Norwood v. Kirkpatrick, 1955, 349 
U.S. 29, 75 S.Ct. 544, in which the Supreme Court 
said, 'When Congress adopted $ 1404(a), it inten- 
ded to do more than just codify the existing law on 
forum non conveniens. * " * (W)e believe that Con- 
gress, by the term 'for the convenience of parties 
and witnesses, in the interest of justice,' intended to 
permit courts to grant transfers upon a lesser show- 
ing of inconvenience. This is not to say that the rel- 
evant factors have changed or that the plaintiffs 
choice of thrum is not to be considered, but only 
that the discretion to be exercised is broader.'349 
U.S. at page 32. 75 S.Ct  at page 546. 

[21 1 understand these words to mean that I have the 
power to order a transfer under section 1404(a) 
upon a lesser showing of inconvenience to parties 
and witnesses than has been required heretofore. 
But. as the Supreme Court indicated, the factors 
which must be considered in determining whether I 
should exercise that power have not changed. 
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j3] Onc of the factors is the plaintiffs choice of for- 
um. By instituting suit in this district plaintiff 
shows that he believes that his own convenience 
and those of his witnesses are best served by a trial 
in this district. Certainly, when plaintiff cannot be 
accused of 'shopping for a forum' because he is a 
resident of this district, the Court should give little, 
if any, weight to defendant's assenions that some 
other district would be more convenient for the 
plaintiff and his witnesses. In such a case defendant 
should show that his own convenience and that of 
his witnesses, and the interests of justice outweigh 
the convenience of plaintiff and his witnesses and 
call for transfer of the case to another district. 

343 Defendant has failed to make such a showing, 
While it would be more convenient for defendant to 
have the trial held in Boston rather than New York, 
I do not believe that the inconvenience is of such a 
nature as to justify overruling the plaintiffs choice 
of forum. Since most of defendant's witnesses are 
employed by it, they will travel to New York when 
and if defendant directs them to do so. And if de- 
fendant wishes to use the testimony of witnesses 
who are not its employees and they refuse to travel 
to New York, it can do so by deposition under Rule 
26(d)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. It 
is also extremely unlikely that the documents which 
defendant may wish to use at the trial are volumin- 
ous, and it is therefore unlikely that defendant will 
incur any appreciable expense in bringing those 
documents to New York from Lawrence, Mas- 
sachusetts. 

Furthermore, I do not believe that the interests of 
justice would be served by transferring this case. 
Plaintiff should not be compelled to bring suit in a 
district other than that in which he does business 
because defendant may have a right to recover 
against third parties. And defendant need not fear 
that it will be deprived of a speedy trial if the case 
remains in this district because the calendar on 
which this case would appear for trial is up to date. 

Defendant's motion to transfer this case to the Dis- 
trict Court for the Districts55 of Massachusetts is 

therefore denied. 

Defendant has also moved to vacate plaintiffs no- 
tice to take its deposition in this district by three of 
its employees, F. J. Blum, Carl E. Holch. and C. J. 
McCarthy. Defendant contends that none of the 
three named men is its officer or managing agent. 
Plaintiff contends that the three are managing 
agents of the defendant because they exercised gen- 
eral supervisory authority over the making of the 
contracts between the parties and the performance 
of those contracts. 

Rule 26(a) provides, 'Any party may take the testi- 
mony of any person, including a party. by depos- 
ition upon oral examination or written interrogator- 
ies for the purpose of discovery or for use as evid- 
ence in the action or for both purposes. * * 
*'Fed.R.Civ.P., Rule 26(a). The Rules do not con- 
tain any special procedure for taking the deposition 
of a corporation that is a party upon oral examina- 
tion, although they provide that 'any party may 
serve upon any adverse party written interrogatories 
to he answered by the party served or, if the party 
served is a public or private corporation or a part- 
nership or association, by any officer or agent. who 
shall furnish such information as is available to the 
party. * "*'Fed.R.Civ.P., Rule 33. But the Courts 
have inferred from Rule 37(d) that the deposition of 
a corporation that is a party may be taken through 
its officers or managing agents. See Krauss v. Erie 
R. Co., D.C.S.D.N.Y.1954, 16 F.R.D. l26:Camp- 
bell v. General Motors Corp., D.C.S.D.N.Y.1952, 
13 F.R.D. 331. 

[5j There can be little dispute over whether a per- 
son is or is not an officer of a corporation. but the 
question of which persons are 'managing agents' of 
a corporation has been the cause of many disputes. 
'fie practical effects of a determination that an em- 
ployee of the corporation is a 'managing agent' are 
(1) that the corporation must produce the employee 
for oral examination at its own expense, (2) that the 
employee's deposition may be used for any purpose 
at the trial. and (3) that the corporation's pleadings 
may be stricken if the employee wilfully fails to ap- 
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pear before the officer who is to take his deposition. 
See Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(d)(2) and 37(d); C u i q  v. 
States Marine Corp. of Delaware. 
D.C.S.D.N.Y.1954. 16F.R.D. 376. 

As one would expect corporate parties have argued 
for a restrictive definition of 'managing agent.' See; 
e. g., Krauss v. Erie R. Co.. supra;Garshol v. At- 
lantic Refining Corp., D.C.S.D.N.Y. 195 1. 12 
F.R.D. 204;Wilson v. Trinidad Corp., 
D.C.S.D.N.Y.1951, 1 1  F.R.D. 191. In this case. too, 
defendant contends that the named employee who 
hold the positions of Export Manager of one of de- 
fendant's divisions, and Manager and Assistant 
Manager of the Custom Molding Department of the 
same division, are not 'managing agents,' even 
though the affidavit submitted in its behalf in sup- 
port of its motion to transfer this case to the District 
Court for the District of Massachusetts is executed 
by one of these employees. Defendant states that 
only one John Bolten, Sr.. General Manager of the 
division involved in this case. is its managing agent 
for the purposes of this case and that 'no purpose 
would be served by an examination of John Bolten, 
St.. because he is not familiar with the facts relev- 
anl to this aclion.' 

Defendant's argument offers a graphic reason for 
holding against the restrictive meaning for which it 
contends. A party's right to use the deposition of a 
managing agent of a corporation that is a party for 
any purpose at the trial would in many cases be an 
empty right indeed if only those persons came with- 
in the category of 'managing agent' whose rank in 
the corporate hierarchy was so exalted that they 
would he extremely unlikely to have any know- 
ledge of the day to day dealings of the corporation 
with its customers and suppliers. Similarly, a 
party's right to take the deposition a56 of a corpora- 
tion litigant would in many cases be singularly 
empty if no person whose rank was lower than 
General Manager of a division of the corporation 
could be considered a 'managing agent' of the cor- 
poration. 

[6][71 Since the restrictive view urged by defendant 

is not to prevail, what criteria can be used in de- 
termining whether a given employee of a corpora- 
tion is its 'managing agent?' The criteria are set out 
in the cases or can he inferred from the Rules. First, 
the employee should be 'a person invested by the 
corporation with general powers to exercise his 
judgment and discretion in dealing with corporate 
matters.'Krauss v. Erie R. Co., D.C.S.D.N.Y.1954. 
16 F.R.D. 126, 127. Second, the employee should 
be a person who 'could he depended upon to carry 
out his employer's direction to give testimony at the 
demand of a party engaged in litigation with the 
emp1oyer:Bernstein v. N.V. Nederlandsche- 
Amerikaansche Stoomvaarl-Maatschappij. 
D.C.S.D.N.Y.1953. I5 F.R.D. 35. 38. Third. the 
employee should be a person who can be expected 
to identify himself with the interests of the corpora- 
tion rather than with those of the other parties. This 
requirement is necessary because the testimony of a 
managing agent can be used by the other parties for 
any purpose at the trial, and the corporation should 
not be bound by the testimony of persons who may 
not be loyal to its interests. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 
26(d)12). But this requirement should be liberally 
interpreted because the determination that the cor- 
poration is or is not hound by the testimony of a 
person who was examined as its managing agent is 
to be made by the trial court. See Curry v. States 
Marine Corporation of Delaware. 
D.C.S.D.N.Y. 1954, 16 F.R.D. 376; 4 Moore's Fed- 
eral Practice 1191 (2d Ed.1950). If the corporation 
wishes to limit the admissibility of the testimony at 
the trial, it can present its reasons to the trial judge 
and he will decide whether the admissibility of the 
testimony should be limited. 

IS1 In this case it is clear that two of the persons 
whom the plaintiff wishes to examine are managing 
agents under the criteria set forth above. Messrs. 
Blum and Holch negotiated the contracts and sup- 
plementary agreements between the parties. They 
were responsible for the production and delivery of 
the goods ordered by plaintiff and for the returns of 
allegedly defective merchandise. They participated 
in conferences concerning claims under the contract 
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and made decisions regarding the details connected 
with the performance of the contracts. Moreover, 
defendant has not denied that they are its supervis- 
ory officials who are most familiar with the transac- 
tion inbrolved in this dispute. Under these circum- 
stances defendant should produce them for examin- 
ation as its managing agents. See Fruit Growers Co- 
Op v. California Pie & Baking Co., Inc., 
D.C.E.D.N.Y.1942,3 F.R.D. 206.208. 

[9] But plaintiff has not at this time shown that Mr. 
McCarthy should be produced by the defendant. 
Since it appears Wat Mr. McCarthy is Mr. Holch's 
assistant in the custom molding department, Mr. 
Holch should be able to answer any questions that 
the plaintiff might put to him about the activities of 
that deparrment. If, after examining Mr. Holch, 
plaintiff believes that there is information that only 
Mr. McCarthy can supply, he can renew his notice 
to examine Mr. McCarthy at that time. 

1101 Finally, certain safeguards seem desirable. The 
examination of Messrs. Blum and Holch should not 
be noticed for the sanie time unless defendant has 
no objection to both of these men being called from 
their work to New York at the same time. And the 
expense of bringing these men to New Yol-k for the 
examination shall be taxable against the plaintiff, if 
he does not prevail. 

*57 The parties should arrange the time and place 
for the oral examination of the defendant by 
Messrs. Blum and Holch. 

Settle order on notice by July 25, 1955. 

S.D.N.Y., 1955 
Rubin v. General Tire & Rubber Co 
18 F.R.D. 5 1 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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